
 
 

 

City of Keene Planning Board  
 

AGENDA 
 

Monday, February 24, 2025 6:30 PM City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers 
 

A. AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1) Call to Order – Roll Call 
 
2) Minutes of Previous Meeting – January 27, 2024 
 
3) Final Vote on Conditional Approvals 
 
4) Advice & Comment  
 

a) Cedarcrest/Monadnock View Cemetery Solar Array – 91 Maple Ave & 521 Park Ave 
– Prospective applicant Revision Energy seeks Planning Board advice and comment 
regarding the need for a visual buffer for the installation of a medium-scale solar 
energy system on approximately 1.6 acres of undeveloped land. The parcel is in the 
Conservation District. 

 
5) Public Hearings 
 

a) SPR-593, Mod. 2 – Major Site Plan – Bank of America, 20 Central Square – Applicant 
Bank of America, on behalf of owner 20 Central Keene LLC, proposes to modify exterior 
lighting at the property located at 20 Central Square (TMP #568-063-000). Waivers are 
requested from Section 21.7.3.C, Section 21.7.3.F.1.a, Section 21.7.3.F.1.c, and 
Section 21.7.4.A.2 of the LDC regarding light trespass levels and lighting hours of 
operation. The site is 0.68-ac in size and is located in the Downtown Core District.  

 
b) PB-2025-01 – 2-lot Subdivision – Keene State College, 238-260 Main Street – 

Applicant Huntley Survey & Design, PLLC, on behalf of owner the University System of 
New Hampshire, proposes a 2-lot subdivision of the ~0.96-ac parcel at 238-260 Main 
Street (TMP #590-101-000) into two lots ~0.48-ac and ~0.46-ac in size. The property 
is located in the Downtown Transition District. 

 
c) PB-2025-02 – Cottage Court Conditional Use Permit – 36 Elliot Street – Applicant 

Sampson Architects, on behalf of owner the Scott Richards Revocable Trust of 2023, 
proposes the conversion of an existing single-family home into a duplex on the 
property at 36 Elliot Street (TMP #214-021-000). The parcel is ~0.10-ac in size and is 
located in the Residential Preservation District.  

 

1 of 176



 
 

d) PB-2025-03 – Major Site Plan – Douglas Company Facility, 0 Black Brook Road – 
Applicant Fieldstone Land Consultants PLLC, on behalf of owner Douglas Company 
Inc., proposes the construction of a ~98,323-sf office and warehouse building on two 
parcels at 0 Black Brook Rd (TMP#s 221-023-000 & 221-024-00). Waivers are 
requested from Section 20.14.1, Section 20.14.2, Section 20.14.3.D, and Section 
23.5.4.9 of the LDC related to architectural and visual appearance, parking in front of 
the building, and driveway width. The parcel is ~5.33-ac in size and is located in the 
Corporate Park District. 

 
6) Earth Excavation Permit – Determination of Application Completeness: 
 

a) PB-2024-20 – Earth Excavation Permit Major Amendment & Hillside Protection 
Conditional Use Permit – 21 & 57 Route 9 – Applicant Granite Engineering LLC, on 
behalf of owner G2 Holdings LLC, proposes to expand the existing gravel pit located 
at 21 & 57 Route 9 (TMP#s 215-007-000 & 215-008-000). A Hillside Protection CUP is 
requested for impacts to steep slopes. Waivers are requested from Section 25.3.1.D & 
Section 25.3.13 of the LDC related to the required 250’ surface water resource setback 
and the 5-ac excavation area maximum. The parcels are a combined ~109.1-ac in size 
and are located in the Rural District. 

 
7) Master Plan Update (https://keenemasterplan.com/)  

 
8) Staff Updates 

 
9) New Business 
 
10) Upcoming Dates of Interest 

 Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – March 10th, 6:30 PM 
 Planning Board Steering Committee – March 11th, 12:00 PM 
 Planning Board Site Visit – March 19th, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed 
 Planning Board Meeting – March 24th, 6:30 PM 

 
11) MORE TIME ITEMS  

 
a) Training on Site Development Standards – Snow Storage, Landscaping, & Screening 

 
12) ADJOURNMENT 

2 of 176



City of Keene 1 
New Hampshire 2 

 3 
 4 

PLANNING BOARD 5 
MEETING MINUTES 6 

 7 
Monday, January 27, 2025 6:30 PM Council Chambers, 
            City Hall  8 
Members Present: 
Harold Farrington 
Mayor Jay V. Kahn 
Councilor Michael Remy 
Sarah Vezzani 
Armando Rangel 
Ryan Clancy 
Kenneth Kost 
Randyn Markelon, Alternate 
Michael Hoefer, Alternate 
Stephon Mehu, Alternate 
 
Members Not Present: 
Roberta Mastrogiovanni 
Tammy Adams, Alternate 
 

Staff Present: 
Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 
Evan Clements, Planner 
Megan Fortson, Planner 
 

 9 
 10 

I) Call to Order 11 
 12 
Chair Farrington called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM and a roll call was taken. The  13 
Chair invited Stephon Mehu to join the session as a voting member. 14 
 15 
II) Election of Chair, Vice Chair, & Steering Committee 16 
 17 
A motion was made by Kenneth Kost to nominate Harold Farrington as Chair of the Board. The 18 
motion was seconded by Councilor Remy. The motion carried on a unanimous vote.  19 
 20 
A motion was made by Councilor Remy to nominate Roberta Mastrogiovanni as Vice-Chair of 21 
the Board. The motion was seconded by Armando Rangel. The motion carried on a unanimous 22 
vote. 23 

A motion made by Chair Harold Farrington to nominate Armando Rangel as the third member of 24 
the Steering Committee. The motion was seconded by Councilor Remy. The motion carried on a 25 
unanimous vote. 26 

 27 

3 of 176



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 2 of 23 
 

 28 
 29 
 30 
 31 
III) Minutes of Previous Meeting – December 16, 2024 32 
 33 

Chair Farrington noted Upcoming Dates of Interest were not included in the minutes.  34 

A motion was made by Mayor Kahn to approve the December 16, 2024, meeting minutes as 35 
amended. The motion was seconded by Councilor Remy and was unanimously approved.  36 

 37 

IV) Final Vote on Conditional Approvals 38 
 39 
Chair Farrington stated this is a new, standing agenda item in response to the recent “City of 40 
Dover” decision issued by the NH Supreme Court.  As a matter of practice, the Board will now 41 
issue a final vote on all conditionally approved plans after all of the “conditions precedent” have 42 
been met. This final vote will be the final approval and will start the 30-day appeal clock. 43 

 44 

Mari Brunner, Senior Planner, stated there are two applications ready for final vote this evening. 45 
Project PB-2024-07 – Dinkbee’s Gas Station Redevelopment Major Site Plan – 510 Washington 46 
Street is one of the applications ready for a final vote. 47 
This is a major site plan that was conditionally approved on August 26, 2024. 48 
There are three conditions of approval that were precedent to final approval: Owner's signature 49 
shall appear on the plan; Submittal of security for landscaping, sedimentation and erosion 50 
control, and as built plans; Submittal of five full size paper copies and one digital copy of the 51 
final plan. 52 
All those conditions have been met. 53 
 54 
A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board issue final site plan approval for 55 
PB-2024-07. The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn and carried on a unanimous vote.                 56 
The Mayor felt this was a great improvement for the east side. Chair Farrington answered in 57 
agreement and noted that this would be a benefit for the new dwelling units next door.  58 

 59 

Ms. Brunner stated the second item is PB-2024-15 for the Monadnock Conservancy 60 
Headquarters, located at 0 Ashuelot Street. This is a major site plan application. This plan was 61 
conditionally approved on November 25th, 2024. There were three conditions of approval 62 
precedent to final approval: Owner’s signature appears on the plan; Submittal five paper copies 63 
and one digital copy of the final plan; Submittal of a security to cover the cost of sediment and 64 
erosion control, landscaping and as built plans. All of those conditions have been met.  65 

 66 

A motion was made by Mayor Kahn that the Planning Board issue final site plan approval for 67 
PB-2024-15. The motion was seconded by Councilor Remy and carried on a unanimous vote. 68 

4 of 176



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 3 of 23 
 

 69 

 70 

 71 

 72 

V) Public Hearings 73 
            a) PB-2024-21 – 2-lot Subdivision – 141 Old Walpole Road – Applicant and owner, 74 
James A. Craig, proposes to subdivide the ~32.17-ac parcel at 141 Old Walpole Rd (TMP #503-75 
006-000) into two lots ~24.61-ac and 7.56-ac in size. The parcel is located in the Rural District. 76 

A. Board Determination of Completeness 77 

Planner Evan Clements stated the applicant has requested an exemption from submitting a traffic 78 
analysis, drainage report, soil analysis, and other technical reports and analyses. After reviewing 79 
each exemption request, staff have made the preliminary determination that granting the request 80 
would have no bearing on the merits of the application and recommend that the Board accept the 81 
application as complete. 82 

A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Board move to find the application PB-2024-21 83 
complete. The motion seconded by Stephon Mehu and was unanimously approved. 84 

B. Public Hearing 85 

Mr. John Bushbaum, surveyor, addressed the Board and introduced Mr. Jim Craig, the property 86 
owner.  87 

Mr. Jim Craig, owner of the property at 141 Old Walpole Road, stated that he and his wife 88 
purchased this property 48 years ago. He stated that prior to him purchasing this land, it was 89 
subdivided into four lots in 1971. He stated that the previous owners had planned to sell a portion 90 
of the land to be developed for a Baptist Church. Mr. Craig stated the previous owners had gone 91 
through a foreclosure process, during which he purchased some of the property.  He noted to the 92 
entire area of the property he purchased and explained he did not purchase the farmhouse. David 93 
and Kim Bergeron eventually purchased the farmhouse.  94 

Mr. Craig stated they have decided to subdivide their property, as it is getting difficult to 95 
maintain the property. The proposal is to subdivide the portion of land on the eastern corner of 96 
the property. 97 

He indicated he did have the property surveyed recently, and he learned that he only owned 33 98 
acres—not 38 acres, as he originally thought he did. He stated this subdividing would allow them 99 
to continue to live here for several more years. 100 

Mr. Bushbaum addressed the Board next and stated the property has been surveyed and has been 101 
subdivided according to the applicants’ objectives. He noted to a small wetland area on the 102 
property, which is within the 50-foot setback. He noted this does restrict the location of a 103 
driveway, and there is still plenty of opportunity for a driveway to be located. This concluded the 104 
applicant’s comments.  105 

Staff comments were next 106 

5 of 176



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 4 of 23 
 

Mr. Clements addressed the Board. He stated the parent parcel is an existing roughly 32-acre 107 
parcel on old Walpole Road. It is located on the north side of the road, directly adjacent to a low-108 
density residential zoning district and the Hilltop Drive Intersection. It is approximately 2800 109 
feet northwest of the roundabout where 12A intersects. Municipal water and sewer are located 110 
roughly 500 feet down Old Walpole Road away from the property. Mr. Clements indicated there 111 
are some notable existing features on the site, including an old private road, Aaron Reed Road, 112 
and sloping fields. 113 

The proposed new lot is very suitable for development, especially at the proposed 7 1/2-acre 114 
size. The parcel is relatively flat. Staff do not believe that this proposed development is scattered 115 
or premature.  116 

In regard to the preservation of existing features, there are multiple areas within the lot for a 117 
small-scale residential development, which is appropriate for the rural zoning and not overly 118 
impacting the other rural aspects of the lot itself. 119 

Regarding monumentation, monumentation is proposed and will be reviewed by the City 120 
Engineer. This review is recommended as a condition of approval. 121 

Regarding flooding, the property is not located within any special flood hazard areas.  122 

The applicant states in their narrative that, in regard to Fire Protection and water supply, there are 123 
municipal fire hydrants approximately 50 feet from the parent parcel and the fire department had 124 
no issues with this proposal. 125 

Regarding utilities, the lot has the capacity for a private well and septic or a future owner can 126 
choose at their expense to extend those utilities and hook up to municipal services. 127 

Mr. Clements reviewed the conditions of approval next. 128 

Mayor Kahn asked whether there was adequate soil for a septic system on the property. Mr. 129 
Clements stated the applicant was asked to complete a percolation test and test pits as well as a 130 
4K septic area, which this seems to be in order. He added, considering the size of the lot, there is 131 
no subdivision approval required, and Staff are confident that sanitary facilities would function 132 
on this site. 133 

Mr. Kost referred to the Land Development Code 20.2.4 - Preservation of Existing Features. He 134 
noted to the stone walls, rock out cropping, etc. On the site.  It says The applicant has not 135 
proposed any permanent restrictions or other legal instruments to protect these notable features. 136 
He asked to clarify if someone wanted to develop this property, they could remove these existing 137 
features.  138 

Mr. Clements agreed they could and added there are no proposed restrictive covenants related to 139 
these assets. The property owner has control over who they sell the property to. He added based 140 
on the conversations staff had with Mr. Craig, Mr. Craig seems motivated to find somebody that 141 
would appreciate the land as much as he does. 142 

Mr. Kost stated there is language that states that proposed development be designed to fit the 143 
landscape and to minimize significant landscape alteration. He asked whether this statement 144 
would go towards the concern he has raised. Mr. Clements stated perhaps an additional condition 145 
of approval could be included to encourage something like that. Mr. Clements wasn’t sure how 146 

6 of 176



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 5 of 23 
 

that could be enforced if a single-family development was constructed. Ultimately, that would be 147 
up to the Board to decide. Mr. Kost stated he understands private owners can do what they want 148 
with their land. However, in this region, walls and such features are part of our environment, and 149 
it would be nice if it could be protected. 150 

The Chair asked whether a new buyer could, perhaps, locate three homes on this piece of land or 151 
whether there were other frontage and restrictions in Staff review that would limit that. Mr. 152 
Clements stated the lot could be further subdivided if they could connect to city water and sewer. 153 
They would also be eligible for a Cottage Court development, which would definitely increase 154 
the quantity of development on the lot. 155 

 156 

Chair Farrington asked about the driveway access. Mr. Clements stated the intent is to have the 157 
end user come in for a street access permit for a new driveway. A shared driveway is not 158 
currently proposed with this application.  159 

The Mayor asked whether the abandoned street runs in the middle of the Bergeron property. Mr. 160 
Clements stated his understanding is that the Craig residence uses it as their driveway and it 161 
continues north, beyond where their driveway turns off to access the residence. Ms. Brunner 162 
noted it runs in the middle and is outlined by stone walls. She added that the driveway is about 163 
24 to 25 feet wide. 164 

The Chair asked for public comment next. 165 

Mr. Jason Frost of 61 Hilltop Drive addressed the Board and stated he is an abutter and could 166 
probably speak for most of the people present today. He stated he always admired the Craigs and 167 
the effort that they have put into preserving that area. He talked about walking his dog and ice 168 
skating on the vernal pools. He stated he fully supports the Craigs and what they are trying to do. 169 

With no further comment, the Chairman closed the public hearing. 170 

C. Board Discussion and Action 171 

A motion was made by Councilor Michael Remy that the Planning Board approve PB-2024-21 172 
as shown on the plan set identified as “Minor Subdivision Plan” prepared by Envirespect Land 173 
Services, LLC at a scale of 1 inch = 100 feet, dated December 18, with the following conditions:  174 

1. Prior to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following conditions 175 
precedent shall be met:  176 

A. Owner’s signature appears on the plan.  177 

B. Inspection of lot monuments by the Public Works Director or their designee following 178 
their installation or the submittal of a security in an amount deemed satisfactory to the Public 179 
Works Director to ensure that the monuments will be set.  180 

C. Submittal of four (4) full sized paper copies, two (2) mylar copies, and a digital copy 181 
of the final plan set. D. Submittal of a check in the amount of $51.00 made out to the City of 182 
Keene to cover recording fees. 183 

The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn. 184 

7 of 176



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 6 of 23 
 

Councilor Remy stated it is nice to see an opportunity for increased housing. He stated there is 185 
no regional impact from this application. 186 

Ms. Vezzani stated it is nice to see neighbors present to support the development and the 187 
applicant, and she was comfortable moving forward with the request.  188 

Mr. Kost stated he likes the idea of the opportunity for increased housing. He stated he also likes 189 
the idea of cottage court. He stated he would like to discuss LDC 20.2.4, which states Proposed 190 
development be designed and located to fit into the landscape in order to minimize significant 191 
landscape alterations. Mr. Kost asked whether this is something that could be added as part of 192 
the conditions of approval. Ms. Brunner stated the Board could add a condition but, as Mr. 193 
Clements had stated, enforcement of the condition would be difficult; once the parcel is 194 
subdivided and someone were to construct a single-family home, they wouldn’t have to go 195 
through any sort of approval before a Board. Hence, it would really be up to the building permit 196 
staff who are reviewing the building permit application to notice that there was a condition from 197 
the Planning Board. She added, for a condition, it would be difficult for staff to decipher exactly 198 
what that means. 199 

Councilor Remy stated what is being suggested seems aspirational and hoped the person who 200 
purchases the land fits in with the neighborhood. He also added building single-family homes 201 
affordably is difficult and did not want to add any more restrictions. 202 

Ms. Vezzani stated she agrees with Councilor Remy and stated she is uncomfortable placing 203 
restrictions on something the city can’t commit to following up on. 204 

Mr. Mehu stated, in the event this application is approved, as it is a new lot and a new deed must 205 
be written, perhaps the Board could ask if the Craigs are interested in adding this language into 206 
their deed. 207 

Ms. Markelon stated her concern would be the Board has not done this before and questioned 208 
why the Board is choosing this one parcel to put that note on. 209 

Mr. Clancy stated he looked up the RSA 472-6, which states stone walls that are boundary 210 
markers are protected, unless both property owners agree to dismantle them. It is only the 211 
internal stone walls that would be at risk from changing. He felt it was the Board’s purview to 212 
hold the applicant accountable for this. 213 

Chair Farrington clarified cottage court development is permitted in the rural district. Mr. 214 
Clements stated it was, as long as there is water and sewer.  215 

This concluded Board comments. 216 

The motion carried on a unanimous vote.  217 

 218 

         b) PB-2024-22 – 2-lot Subdivision – Monadnock Conservancy, 0 Ashuelot St – 219 
Applicant BCM Environmental & Land Law PLLC, on behalf of owner JRR Properties LLC, 220 
proposes to subdivide the ~3.53-ac parcel at 0 Ashuelot St (TMP #567-001-000) into two lots 221 
~2.45-ac and ~1.09-ac in size. The parcel is located in the Commerce District. 222 

A. Board Determination of Completeness 223 

8 of 176



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 7 of 23 
 

Planner Evan Clements stated the applicant has requested exemptions from submitting a traffic 224 
study, drainage report, soil analysis, and other technical reports. After reviewing each exemption 225 
request, Staff have made the preliminary determination that granting the request would have no 226 
bearing on the merits of the application and recommend that the Board accept the application as 227 
complete. 228 

A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Board accept PB-2024-22 as complete. The 229 
motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn and was unanimously approved. 230 

 231 

B. Public Hearing 232 

Ms. Tara Kessler, Planner Paralegal with BCM Environmental Land Law, addressed the Board 233 
and introduced Liza Sergeant of SVE Associates. Ms. Kessler stated they are before the Board 234 
representing JRR Properties LLC, who is seeking a two-lot subdivision of its 3.5-acre parcel at 0 235 
Ashuelot Street.  236 

Ms. Kessler noted that in November, the Board approved a site plan for Monadnock 237 
Conservancy to build its regional headquarters on the northeast portion of the parcel. The item 238 
before the Board today is for a subdivision, which would allow JRR properties to donate about 239 
an acre of land to the Monadnock Conservancy at the northeast corner of the parcel and the 240 
remaining 2.44 acres to the city for use as a city park.  241 

Next, Ms. Kessler addressed the subdivision standards and outlined how this application meets 242 
those standards. 243 

With respect to Lots — Standard 20.2.1 — This parcel is in the commerce district and is 3.5 244 
acres in size. The proposal is to subdivide and create a 1.08-acre lot and a 2.44-acre lot, each 245 
with well over 50 feet of road frontage, which is the minimum required in the commerce district. 246 
The minimum lot size required in the commerce district is 15,000 square feet. It appears this 247 
standard has been met 248 

Character of Land — The parcel is a flat piece of land, currently undeveloped and was used as 249 
overflow parking for the Colony Mill. In 2022, it was converted to turf and grass. The site does 250 
not have any surface water or wetland. The majority of the property is in the 100-year floodplain. 251 

Ms. Kessler noted a floodplain development permit would be required to develop on this site. 252 
The applicant has submitted a floodplain development permit, and the permit hasn't been issued 253 
as it is waiting for a few items to be submitted. An Alteration of Terrain Permit has been issued 254 
for the development. 255 

Floodplain compensation is required for any development in the floodplain. Monadnock 256 
Conservancy has proposed a compensation area, which is going to span some of the 257 
Conservancy's parcel and some of the city parcel. There would be easements required for the 258 
Conservancy to maintain their flood storage on the city land, which is outlined as a condition of 259 
approval. 260 

Scattered or Premature Development —  The lot is located on Ashuelot Street, which is a fairly 261 
well-travelled road. There is access to sewer and water on Ashuelot Street. The property is in 262 

9 of 176



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 8 of 23 
 

proximity to the existing fire hydrants and is about 1/2 mile away from the fire station. This 263 
standard appears to be met. 264 

Ms. Kessler stated that there is a city storm drain that runs through what will be primarily the 265 
city-owned parcel. The city is working with the Conservancy to remove that existing storm drain 266 
and replace it with a riparian swale. The riparian swale will be part of the compensation area for 267 
floodplain that is required for the development. 268 

Preservation of Existing Features — Aside from the storm drain, there are no significant existing 269 
features on the parcel that would warrant preservation.  270 

With respect to the site development standards — Ms. Kessler stated the Board did a thorough 271 
review of the proposed development on the site in November. With respect to the subdivision 272 
aspect of this project, there is City sewer and water available. There are no wetlands or surface 273 
waters that would be impacted. There are no known hazardous materials. This concluded Ms. 274 
Kessler’s presentation. 275 

The Mayor asked what the process would be to accept this gift of land. In this application, there 276 
isn’t any assumption that the acceptance is presumed to be approved as a result of this 277 
subdivision. Ms. Kessler stated that if the city approved the subdivision tonight, the two lots 278 
would remain under the ownership of JRR Properties. There is an agreement between the city 279 
and JRR Properties for the donation of the 2.44-acre parcel and a contingency of that agreement 280 
is this subdivision tonight. 281 

Councilor Remy noted if the city, for some reason, rejects the donation of land, the 2.44 acres 282 
would still be owned by JRR Properties, and it would be a commercial lot with the easements on 283 
it. 284 

Ms. Kessler stated her client’s primary interest, with respect to the 2.44-acre parcel, is that it be 285 
used as a city park. If, for some reason, the city were to reject the donation, JRR Properties does 286 
not have anything else intended for that lot. 287 

Staff comments were next 288 

Mr. Clements began by stating that the Planning Board doesn’t have statutory authority to accept 289 
land on behalf of the city, only City Council can do that. 290 

Mr. Clements went on to say that the purpose of this application is to subdivide the existing 3.5-291 
acre parcel located at 0 Ashuelot Street, which is zoned in the commerce district into two lots. 292 
Lot 1 will be  just under 1.1-acres in size with 185 feet of frontage along Ashuelot Street. Lot 2 293 
will be a 2.44-acre parcel with 191 feet of frontage along Ashuelot Street. 294 

Mr. Clements reviewed the proposed conditions of approval. This concluded staff comments.  295 

Mr. Peter Hansel, Board member of Monadnock Conservancy, stated he hoped the Board would 296 
approve this request. It has been in their plan for a long time. 297 

With no further comment, the Chair closed the public hearing. 298 

C. Board Discussion and Action 299 

10 of 176



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 9 of 23 
 

A motion was made by Mayor Kahn that the Planning Board approve PB-2024-22 as shown on 300 
the plan set identified as “Two Lot Subdivision Land of JRR Properties LLC” prepared by 301 
Huntley Survey & Design, PLLC at a scale of 1 inch = 30 feet, dated October 31, 2024 and last 302 
revised January, 8 2025 with the following conditions:  303 

1. Prior to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following conditions 304 
precedent shall be met:  305 

A. Owner’s signature appears on the plan.  306 

B. Inspection of lot monuments by the Public Works Director or their designee following 307 
their installation or the submittal of a security in an amount deemed satisfactory to the Public 308 
Works Director to ensure that the monuments will be set.  309 

C. Submittal of a revised subdivision plat with the proposed flood storage compensation 310 
easement shown on the plan. 311 

 D. Submittal of draft easement documents for review by the City Attorney.  312 

E. Submittal of four (4) full sized paper copies, two (2) mylar copies, and a digital copy 313 
of the final plan set. F. Submittal of a check in the amount of $51.00 made out to the City of 314 
Keene to cover recording fees.  315 

F.  A check in the amount of $51.00 made out to the City of Keene to cover recording 316 
fees. 317 

2. Subsequent to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following 318 
conditions shall be met:  319 

A. Prior to the issuance of a building permit for new construction, a copy of the executed 320 
and recorded easement documents shall be submitted to the Community Development 321 
Department. 322 

The motion was seconded by Councilor Remy. 323 

Councilor Remy stated there was no regional impact from this application. Overall, it was a good 324 
proposal. He added that he hoped the cost pertaining to the easement could be kept net neutral 325 
for the city, specifically for the maintenance of that easement. The Councilor felt this is a much 326 
better use of the land. 327 

Chair Farrington felt this was going to be a good show case for one of the connections Keene has 328 
for outdoor living. 329 

Mayor Kahn complimented the Monadnock Conservancy. He stated he wanted to advocate for 330 
this subdivision and felt this was an asset to the city. 331 

The motion was unanimously approved. 332 

 333 

      c) PB-2024-23 – Major Site Plan & Surface Water Protection Conditional Use Permit – 334 
Shooting Range, 19 Ferry Brook Rd – Applicant SVE Associates, on behalf of owner Cheshire 335 
County Shooting Sports Education Foundation Inc., proposes to modify the approved site plan 336 

11 of 176



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 10 of 23 
 

for the shooting range at 19 Ferry Brook Rd (TMP #214-021-000) to include a gravel shooting 337 
berm and an area of constructed wetlands on the southern portion of the site. A Surface Water 338 
Protection Conditional Use Permit is requested to allow the berm and other existing site features 339 
to be located within the 75’ surface water buffer. The parcel is 55-ac in size and is located in the 340 
Rural District. 341 

The Chairman recused himself from this application as he is a member of the shooting range. 342 

A motion was made by Mayor Kahn to nominate Armando Rangel as Chair Pro Tem for this 343 
item. The motion was seconded by Kenneth Kost and was unanimously approved.  344 

A. Board Determination of Completeness 345 

Planner Megan Fortson stated the applicant has requested exemptions from submitting a 346 
landscaping plan, lighting plan, elevations, traffic analysis, historic evaluation, screening 347 
analysis, and architectural and visual appearance analysis. After reviewing each request, staff 348 
have made the preliminary determination that granting the requested exemptions would have no 349 
bearing on the merits of the application and recommend that the Board accepts the application as 350 
complete. 351 

A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Board accept PB-2024-23 as complete. The 352 
motion was seconded by Stephan Mehu and was unanimously approved. 353 

B. Public Hearing 354 

Liza Sargent of SVE Associates addressed the Board. Ms. Sargent stated that as part of the site 355 
plan approval in 2020, the applicant located their indoor range in the southern portion of the site. 356 
When Staff inspected the site, they found a number of items that needed to be addressed. The 357 
first was a berm, which was not shown on the approved plan. The berm was constructed a 358 
number of years ago. As part of this approval, the berm was located on the plan, which is used as 359 
a shooting range. A certified wetland scientist was hired to delineate wetlands, and, during that 360 
review, it was realized that the 75-foot wetland buffer includes part of that existing shooting 361 
range.  362 

This application is being made in an effort to get the project into compliance. In order to do that, 363 
the applicant initially wanted to apply for a CUP for the 30-foot buffer reduction. The area of 364 
impact within what would have been the 30-foot buffer is approximately 1,227 square feet. The 365 
applicant would propose a constructed wetland in that location, which would be double in size at 366 
2,785 square feet. However, after discussion with Staff, the applicant was advised that the berm 367 
structure would not need to be reduced to the 30-foot buffer, but they could maintain the 75-feet 368 
and request that the berm be maintained within that area. 369 

Ms. Sargent stated the other item the applicant is requesting is an outlet for the drainage structure 370 
to treat the runoff from the indoor shooting range. It was initially approved on the east side but  371 
the applicant would like to locate it on the west corner.  372 

The applicant met with the Conservation Commission last week and they had several 373 
recommendations on pollinator mix for vegetating the berm, as well as some conditions 374 
regarding the plantings in the constructed wetland. This concluded Ms. Sargent’s comments. 375 

Councilor Remy asked what the changes are from the current state of this site. 376 

12 of 176



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 11 of 23 
 

Ms. Sargent stated they are proposing to construct the wetland to offset the impacts of the berm, 377 
which has been on the site for several years. She added they are also requesting to relocate the 378 
drainage outlet. There is also some topsoil and boulders, which would be removed from the 75-379 
foot buffer. 380 

Mayor Kahn asked to clarify what is being requested to be moved from one side to the other side 381 
of the site. Ms. Sargent clarified that as part of the approval in 2020 for the indoor shooting 382 
range, there was a level-spreader stormwater structure proposed. The emergency overflow for 383 
that structure is being proposed to be moved to the other side of the site. Ms. Sargent stated that 384 
the emergency stormwater overflow would flow through the rip-rap apron and eventually into 385 
the wetland buffer on the lower part of the property. Mayor Kahn asked to clarify that the berm 386 
would remain in place as it is today. Ms. Sargent clarified that it would remain in place, while 387 
the applicant needs to ensure that there is sufficient vegetation on the berm. 388 

Mayor Kahn asked whether neighbors have experienced any shooting range targets in the berm. 389 
Ms. Sargent referred that question to a member of the Cheshire County Shooting Sports 390 
Education Foundation (CCSSEF). 391 

Otto Busher of 20 Bradley Court in Jaffery, Chairman of CCSSEF Board, stated the range has 392 
been at this location for a hundred years and CCSSEF is sensitive to their neighbors. There 393 
would be no changes to the shooting. They only used the berm twice a week in the summer as an 394 
overflow of facility 395 

 396 

Mr. Clancy asked how close the road is to the berm. Mr. Busher noted Ferry Brook Road is not 397 
shown on the map before the Board, indicating it is quite a distance away with a buffer between 398 
the site and the public road. They are proposing to add a wetland and more of a buffer with this 399 
application. 400 

Mr. Rangel asked what other options were considered in deciding how to deal with the portions 401 
of berm within the surface water buffer. Ms. Sargent stated the amount of earth disturbance, if 402 
the berm was removed, would be a lot and would have more negative impacts to wetlands. The 403 
wetlands scientist decided this would be the best location for the constructed wetland. 404 

Mr. Kost clarified the idea of the constructed wetlands is to mitigate the amount of the berm that 405 
is going into the buffer. Ms. Sargent answered in the affirmative. Mr. Kost asked when the berm 406 
was built, and Ms. Sargent stated it was prior to 2020. Mr. Kost asked whether the 75-foot buffer 407 
was in place at that time. Ms. Sargent referred this question to staff.  408 

Ms. Brunner stated the berm was not present in the 2015 aerial imagery and the surface water 409 
buffer was already in place at that point. Staff believes the berm was built after the Surface 410 
Water Protection Ordinance was in place. However, Ms. Brunner noted the applicants did not 411 
knowingly construct something in the buffer without going through the approval process. She 412 
indicated the applicant has worked with staff readily to try to come into compliance. 413 

Staff comments were next. 414 

Ms. Brunner stated Ms. Fortson will be reviewing the staff report but Ms. Brunner wanted to 415 
report on the Conservation Commission’s review of this application. She stated the Conservation 416 
Commission conducted a site last week and held a meeting to discuss this project. One of the 417 

13 of 176



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 12 of 23 
 

items that staff asked them to weigh in on was given the fact that this berm has been at this 418 
location for nearly 10 years, did the Commission feel keeping the berm at this location and 419 
building constructed wetlands would be a better outcome than requiring the applicant to remove 420 
the berm. The Commission seemed to be fully in support of this plan and did state that they felt 421 
that the mitigation was a better approach than asking the applicant to remove the berm. 422 
Removing the berm would have more of a negative impact on the wetland system than keeping it 423 
there. 424 

Ms. Brunner stated the Commission did have some comments regarding pollinator-friendly 425 
plantings. One of the conditions Staff is recommending is to inspect the landscaping after 426 
installation in one year to ensure that it survives. This was another concern raised by the 427 
Commission. Ensuring the area stays clear of invasive plant species and ensuring sufficient 428 
longevity of the plants was a concern for the Commission. 429 

Ms. Fortson addressed the Board next. This is a 55-acre parcel. The southernmost portion of the 430 
parcel is located at the intersection of Ferry Brook Road and Sullivan Road. The northernmost 431 
property boundary is right along the Sullivan town line. There are several outdoor features on the 432 
site related to its use as an outdoor shooting range. There is a clubhouse, indoor shooting range, a 433 
trailer used as classroom space, and the southwestern portion of the parcel is where the shooting 434 
range is located.  435 

Ms. Fortson stated that this property is surrounded by single family uses and undeveloped 436 
parcels. The property first came before the Planning Board for site plan review in 2013, when the 437 
applicant was initially looking to construct a 26,000 square foot indoor shooting range. This 438 
approval was followed up with a modification to that approved site plan. The modification was 439 
for the removal of some parking spaces to reduce the total amount of impervious surface on the 440 
site. This modified approval–Modification 1–was never acted on, and an updated application was 441 
submitted in July 2020, including the large level spreader on the site plan. The applicant met all 442 
conditions of approval, and the plans were signed by the Chair.  443 

During site inspections after the indoor shooting range was constructed, Staff noticed quite a few 444 
deviations from the approved site plan. Engineering Staff visited the site and believed the 445 
stormwater level spreader could not function as it was installed. There is also a trailer that has 446 
been added to the rear of the site, which Staff were not aware of. Because of the discrepancies 447 
between the plan that was approved in 2020 and Staff viewing existing conditions of the site, the 448 
applicant came back to the Board and received approval for those site modifications 449 

In December last year, the applicant attended a monthly pre-submission meeting to see what the 450 
process would be to allow for portions of the berm within the 75-foot surface water buffer to 451 
remain there.  452 

Ms. Fortson noted Article 11 of the Land Development Code, which is the Board’s Surface 453 
Water Protection Ordinance, the berm is considered a structure that is within the buffer. Thus, 454 
the applicant is requesting that the structure continue to be allowed to be maintained within the 455 
buffer and other small site modifications.  456 

There is about 9,500 square feet of berm that is proposed to remain as a permanent site feature 457 
within the surface water buffer. The applicant is proposing to extend the area of existing 458 

14 of 176



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 13 of 23 
 

wetlands that are to the west of the berm to offset the impact that the presence of the berm within 459 
the surface water buffer may have. 460 

Ms. Fortson explained that as part of the surface water protection process, there are a few options 461 
for the applicant. The applicant can obtain a Conditional Use Permit to allow for a structure to be 462 
within the buffer, or they can request a buffer reduction. In this case, Staff did not feel a buffer 463 
reduction was appropriate. This would have reduced the buffer from 75 feet to 30 feet. Ms. 464 
Fortson noted this is only an appropriate process when an applicant wants to have something of a 465 
prohibited use within the surface water buffer. In this case, the berm is considered a structure, 466 
which is an allowed use. The applicant is going through the approval process, because the berm 467 
was constructed without their knowledge. The applicant is also providing mitigation in the form 468 
of a constructed wetland, which is not required for a surface water CUP under the City’s Land 469 
Development Standards.  470 

Staff does not feel there is going to be any regional impact from the application, even though it 471 
shares a municipal boundary. 472 

In terms of Staff comments, engineering staff had concerns regarding grading and exemption 473 
requests for a drainage analysis and soil analysis. The applicant responded to questions from City 474 
Engineering Staff and did submit both of those items. These issues have been resolved. 475 

The zoning Staff had asked the applicant to clarify whether this was a buffer reduction request or 476 
CUP. The applicant has indicated it is a CUP. 477 

Ms. Fortson next reviewed the Surface Water CUP Standards and Site Development Standards. 478 
The actual uses being reviewed under the CUP Standards are the berm being located within the 479 
buffer and the installation of the emergency spillway within the buffer.  480 

Ms. Fortson noted to the aerial imagery where there is reference to trails. These are old, wooded 481 
trails that used to access a dam that is shown in black in one of the areas. This dam no longer 482 
exists, but the trails are still used by the shooting range, which is an allowed use within the 483 
surface water buffer. 484 

Ms. Fortson clarified that almost 3,000 square feet of artificial wetlands are proposed to be 485 
added. Ms. Fortson added the wetlands are going to be created by having a wetland scientist 486 
perform about 103 cubic square feet of excavation in the area. They will create a series of 487 
mounds and pools and install a variety of plantings. 488 

In terms of the recommended conditions of approval, planning Staff are recommending submittal 489 
of security to cover the cost of that landscaping as well as the completion of initial landscaping 490 
inspection after the wetlands have been constructed and an inspection after the first year to 491 
ensure the wetlands are going to thrive. This is something the Conservation Commission had 492 
requested as part of their review of the project. 493 

Ms. Brunner stated she wanted to clarify that at the Conservation Commission meeting it was 494 
noted that the wetland was going to be manually constructed by volunteers from the shooting 495 
range – there is some sweat equity being put into this. 496 

Ms. Fortson reviewed the outlined conditions of approval: 497 

15 of 176



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 14 of 23 
 

1. Prior to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair, the following 498 
conditions precedent shall be met: 499 

a. Owner’s signature appears on the CUP/site plan and constructed wetlands exhibit. 500 

b. Submittal of five full-sized paper copies of the proposed conditions plan, constructed 501 
wetlands exhibit, and wetlands setback exhibit to the Community Development 502 
Department. 503 

c. Submittal of a security in a form and amount acceptable to the Community Development 504 
Director and City Engineer to cover the cost of landscaping and sediment/erosion control 505 
measures. 506 

d. Submittal of an approved Alteration of Terrain Permit application, if deemed necessary by 507 
NH DES. The approved permit number shall be included on the final plans. 508 

2. Subsequent to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair, the 509 
following conditions shall be met: 510 

a.  Prior to the commencement of site work, a pre-construction site visit shall be scheduled 511 
with Community Development Staff. In addition, the Community Development 512 
Department shall be notified when all erosion control measures are installed and the 513 
Community Development Director, or their designee, shall inspect the erosion control 514 
measures for compliance with this application and all City of Keene regulations. 515 

b. With six months of the date of final approval for this application, the topsoil and boulder 516 
piles within the 75’ surface water buffer shall be removed. The buffer shall be flagged by 517 
a wetlands scientist licensed in the State of NH and subject to an inspection by the 518 
Community Development Director, or their designee, to confirm that the materials have 519 
been sufficiently removed to ensure compliance with the Surface Water Protection 520 
Ordinance. 521 

c. Following the completion of the construction of the artificial wetlands, the applicant shall 522 
contact the Community Development Department to schedule initial and final landscaping 523 
inspections of the wetlands and stabilized berm. 524 

d. After all conditions subsequent for the previous site plan application, SPR-01-13 525 
Modification #3, have been completed and all site work has been inspected for compliance 526 
with the approved plan and all City of Keene regulations, the security on file for the project 527 
shall be released. 528 

 529 

This concluded Staff comments. 530 

Mr. Kost stated there was a reference to pollinator plants to stabilize the berm. He asked whether 531 
this is also something that gets inspected by staff. Ms. Fortson stated if the applicant was to 532 
install pollinator-friendly species on the berm to stabilize it, this would be something that they 533 
would need to be included as part of their landscape security that the applicant would need to be 534 
submit. Staff at that point would look at the berm during the initial landscaping inspection and 535 
follow up to make sure it is thriving to stabilize the berm. She noted the Conservation 536 
Commission had their meeting and came up with their recommendations after the staff report had 537 
already been sent out.  Hence, the staff report did not include recommendations about pollinator-538 
friendly species, but indicated the Board could include this as a condition of approval related to 539 
security. 540 

16 of 176



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 15 of 23 
 

Councilor Remy pointed out that in the recommended motion, there is a comment about final 541 
inspection of the wetlands and stabilized berm.   542 

Mr. Clancy asked what an acceptable amount of security was. Ms. Fortson stated the land 543 
development code allows for the submittal of a security reviewed by Planning Staff and the City 544 
Engineer's office. For the City, this would be a check to cover the cost of sedimentation, erosion 545 
control, landscaping and as built plans (if all three are necessary). The amount depends on what 546 
type of landscaping is going to be installed, the extent of the project, and the extent of the erosion 547 
control measures. 548 

The Mayor clarified there is a 9,500 square-foot portion of the berm that is currently in the 549 
buffer. To compensate, the applicant will be constructing a 2,785 square-foot area to be 550 
developed as a wetland. 551 

Liza Sargent clarified that the discrepancy is that the berm created 1,227 square-feet of impact on 552 
the 30-foot buffer, and the applicant is proposing to construct a wetland at twice that amount of 553 
impact. Ms. Sargent continued by stating that they realized it would be better to keep the 75-foot 554 
buffer, and the applicant is not proposing to increase the size of the constructed wetland because 555 
it would have been cost prohibitive. If this were a DES wetland application, the cost to construct 556 
something big enough to compensate for the square-footage of the berm in the 75-foot buffer, 557 
9,500 feet, would have been cost prohibitive. 558 

Ms. Fortson stated that there is over 9,000 square-feet of impact on the 75-foot surface water 559 
buffer. The applicant is not requesting a buffer-reduction to 30 feet, so to offset those areas of the 560 
berm, they are proposing to construct the artificial wetlands.  561 

The Mayor stated that the decision that is in front of the Board is to accept a smaller amount of 562 
square footage, but it is also a deeper with 103 cubic yards of earth being moved, which is the 563 
compensation for the buffer reduction. Ms. Brunner stated this is something that the Planning 564 
Board doesn’t normally see because typically mitigation isn’t something the Board requires. 565 
When a structure is proposed within the surface water buffer, an applicant will propose the 566 
structure and then they are required to address the different criteria. In this case, the applicant on 567 
their own has proposed to go above and beyond and address mitigation because the berm has 568 
been in the buffer for quite some time. The constructed wetland is not something that is required.  569 

She added wetland mitigation is something New Hampshire DES would require if an applicant 570 
was impacting the wetland itself directly. In this case, the constructed wetland is for the impacts 571 
to the wetland buffer. This is something the Board hasn’t necessarily seen before. 572 

The Mayor stated the intent is to not be equal, but to be equivalent and this is what the Staff has 573 
evaluated; that the value of the creation of the wetland is sufficiently compensating for the 574 
smaller buffer. Ms. Brunner agreed but added Staff relies pretty heavily on the expertise of the 575 
Conservation Commission and they are very comfortable with this proposal. 576 

Mr. Busher stated that they are increasing the wetlands on their property to offset the mitigation 577 
for the 75-foot setback. The desired end state here is that they get more wetlands.  578 

 579 

Ms. Fortson added that Staff knew of an area of wetlands to the west of the berm, and Ms. 580 
Sargent discovered more wetlands to the north of the berm. The Conservation Commission felt 581 

17 of 176



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 16 of 23 
 

that it is better to leave the berm in its current state, within the 75-feet buffer, and add almost 582 
3,000 square-feet of artificial wetlands, than trying to remove the berm from the buffer.   583 

This concluded Staff comments. 584 

The Chair asked for public comment next. With no comments from the public, the Chair closed 585 
the public hearing. 586 

C. Board Discussion and Action 587 

A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board approve PB-2024-23 as shown 588 
on the plan identified as “CUP/Site Plan; Cheshire County Shooting Sports Education 589 
Foundation, Inc; 19 Ferry Brook Road; Keene, New Hampshire” prepared by SVE Associates at 590 
a scale of 1 inch = 20 feet on January 5, 2024 and last revised on January 7, 2025 with the 591 
following conditions:  592 

1. Prior to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair, the following 593 
conditions precedent shall be met:  594 

a. Owner’s signature appears on the CUP/site plan and constructed wetlands exhibit.  595 

b. Submittal of five full-sized paper copies of the proposed conditions plan, constructed 596 
wetlands exhibit, and wetlands setback exhibit to the Community Development Department.  597 

c. Submittal of a security in a form and amount acceptable to the Community Development 598 
Director and City Engineer to cover the cost of landscaping and sediment/erosion control 599 
measures.  600 

d. Submittal of an approved Alteration of Terrain Permit application, if deemed necessary by 601 
NH DES. The approved permit number shall be included on the final plans.  602 

2. Subsequent to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair, the 603 
following conditions shall be met:  604 

a. Prior to the commencement of site work, a pre-construction site visit shall be scheduled with 605 
Community Development Staff. In addition, the Community Development Department shall be 606 
notified when all erosion control measures are installed and the Community Development 607 
Director, or their designee, shall inspect the erosion control measures for compliance with this 608 
application and all City of Keene regulations.  609 

b. Within six months of the date of final approval for this application, the topsoil and boulder 610 
piles within the 75’ surface water buffer shall be removed. The buffer shall be flagged by a soil 611 
scientist licensed in the State of NH and subject to an inspection by the Community 612 
Development Director, or their designee, to confirm that the materials have been sufficiently 613 
removed to ensure compliance with the Surface Water Protection Ordinance.  614 

c. Following the completion of the construction of the artificial wetlands, the applicant shall 615 
contact the Community Development Department to schedule initial and final landscaping 616 
inspections of the wetlands and stabilized berm.  617 

d. After all conditions subsequent for the previous site plan application, SPR-01-13 618 
Modification #3, have been completed and all site work has been inspected for compliance with 619 

18 of 176



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 17 of 23 
 

the approved plan and all City of Keene regulations, the security on file for the project shall be 620 
released. 621 

The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn. 622 

Councilor Remy stated there is no regional impact from this application. He stated he is glad to 623 
see the applicant trying to come into compliance and going above and beyond by adding 624 
additional wetlands, even though the applicant is not actually impacting wetlands. 625 

Mr. Kost stated if the Conservation Commission recommended some kind of pollinator plants, 626 
he would request that language be added, rather than language that indicates a generic stabilized 627 
berm. 628 

Mr. Kost proposed an amendment to indicate final landscape inspection of the wetlands with 629 
vegetated stabilization for the berm with pollinated plants.  630 

Mr. Clements stated there are pollinator seed mixes that are available, as opposed to mature 631 
plantings. He added it is common practice as part of lot stabilization and erosion control to seed 632 
large piles with grass seed, which he felt was more of what the applicant was thinking as far as 633 
stabilizing the berm.   634 

Ms. Brunner stated the Conservation Commission has recommended a specific mix to the 635 
applicant, which would be NE pollinator mix. 636 

Mr. Chris Stanforth, Certified Wetland Scientist, stated in his plan he has recommended a 637 
location in Northampton, Massachusetts that specializes in wetland seed mixes. They also have a 638 
conservation mix with a pollinator added into that mix. This is what the applicant is planning to 639 
use.  640 

Mr. Kost asked whether the Board wanted to add this to the motion language. He stated he would 641 
like to see this language added. 642 

Councilor Remy stated he was fine with language that just said stabilized berm, but proposed this 643 
amended language: final landscaping inspections of the wetlands and berm stabilized with a 644 
suitable mix of pollinator friendly seeds. 645 

Ms. Fortson proposed the following language: submittal of security in a form and amount 646 
acceptable to the Community Development Director and City Engineer to cover the cost of 647 
landscaping, sediment erosion control measures and a pollinator friendly plant mix to stabilize 648 
the berm. 649 

Councilor Remy withdrew his original motion. The Mayor withdrew his second. 650 

Councilor Remy amended the original motion to add item e. to the conditions precedent stating 651 
the following: The inclusion on the plan set of the pollinator friendly seed mix used to stabilize 652 
the berm. 653 

The amendment was seconded by Mayor Kahn. 654 

Mr. Clancy stated he was concerned about that amendment because the applicant is working with 655 
the Board to come up with a solution and adding to the plan. The applicant’s consultant already 656 
has a plan that is going to work. He noted the priority is to stabilize this berm, so it doesn’t affect 657 

19 of 176



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 18 of 23 
 

the wetlands. Their experts have concerns about adding in those type of plantings when they 658 
have a plan that will stabilize the berm. 659 

Mr. Hoefer noted the Conservation Commission has already weighed in on this and there is a 660 
plan in place to stabilize berm. 661 

Ms. Fortson stated as part of the Surface Water Protection CUP review process, projects go 662 
before the Conservation Commission for review. It is then the Planning Board’s duty to take 663 
those recommendations into consideration as they deliberate the application. If the Board wanted 664 
to see a pollinator friendly seed mix used to stabilize the berm, the Board would have to include 665 
that in the motion. 666 

Mr. Clements added the Conservation Commission’s role is to advise the Planning Board and it 667 
doesn’t have the authority to require items, rather the Board does.  668 

Mr. Hoefer asked where the pollinators come into this conversation. Mr. Busher stated it is from 669 
the Conservation Commission last week. 670 

Mr. Kost stated what he was getting at is because the Conservation Commission made a generic 671 
recommendation, and his suggestion is to add their recommendation into the motion language.  672 

Ms. Vezani asked whether the Commission’s recommendation is included in the Board’s packet. 673 
Ms. Brunner clarified that when applications get referred by the Planning Board to the 674 
Conservation Commission for review, because the Conservation Commission's meeting is the 675 
week prior to the Planning Board meeting, Staff do not have time to include the Conservation 676 
Commission’s feedback into the Board’s motion. This is why it wasn’t included in the Board’s 677 
draft motion this evening. It is up to the Board to determine if they want to include it or not. If 678 
they want to include it, it will need to be a condition. 679 

Ms. Vezzani stated in that event, it makes sense to include it.  680 

Councilor Remy noted that, as the person who made the amendment, his motion did not specify 681 
“northeast mix” as was recommended by the Conservation Commission. He just said “pollinator 682 
friendly mix.” 683 

The amendment was unanimously approved. 684 

The overall motion was unanimously approved. 685 

Chair Farrington rejoined the session. 686 

 687 

VI) Keene State Colege Master Plan Presentation – Nathalie Houder & Colin Burdick 688 
Master Plan Update (https://keenemasterplan.com/) 689 
 690 
Colin Burdick, Assistant Director of Facility Services, addressed the Board and indicated that 691 
Keene State College just finished their campus master plan, which provides them with a fourth 692 
tool to their Physical Facility Planning Strategy. He noted they have a Master Plan, a Space 693 
Utilization Study, Strategic Portfolio–with one of the pillars being building and infrastructure–694 
and the Gordian Sight Lines Facilities Conditions Report. 695 
 696 

20 of 176

https://keenemasterplan.com/


PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 19 of 23 
 

He indicated members of the campus community, faculty, staff, students, and community 697 
members weighed in on the master plan process. The architecture firm hired to complete the 698 
master plan is DuMont and Jenks and to accomplish their work, they took all the feedback and 699 
came back with a final analysis. 700 
 701 
Mr. Burdick stated the hi-listed projects were placed into a “three bucket approach” that the 702 
architects used: Priority Projects, Desirable Projects, and Aspirational Projects. 703 
 704 
Priority Projects are ones that if the college had funding it should be looked at with serious 705 
consideration in the near term. 706 
 707 
Desirable Projects are projects that if funding were to become available through donation, 708 
fundraising, or other initiatives, could be planned on a three to seven-year time frame.  709 
 710 
Aspirational Projects are creative projects from the architects for finding unique opportunities on 711 
campus. These project won’t happen unless significant funding comes through. 712 
 713 
Priority Projects property de-assession. About 10 years ago, in the last master plan, the campus 714 
was growing. A lot has happened in Higher Ed since then. The campus is now looking to scale 715 
back. They are looking to sell, demo, rent or lease certain properties that are underutilized. 716 
 717 
Key Renovations include certain buildings that were highlighted, such as Morrison Hall and 718 
Parker Hall. These two buildings are on the FY 27 plan to be renovated. The Student Center also 719 
needs major renovation. The Student Center was constructed in 1994. Buildings from the mid 720 
90’s are starting to catch up and are coming up for deferred maintenance. 721 
 722 
Desirable Projects include the following: 723 
Parking – While there are less students on campus, there is currently a different subset of 724 
students. 725 
Parking has become a major focus at Keene State. Some of the de-escalation properties could 726 
offer parking opportunities.  727 
 728 
Open Space System – A pedestrian walkway from north to South. Mr. Burdick noted they have 729 
great east to west pedestrian access along Appian Way. However, the north to south Corridor 730 
needs some improvement from the pond up to Appian Way. Another highlight the architect 731 
suggested was to create some sort of public square, like central square in the student center 732 
dining commons area. There are not many places to hold events other than at the student center.  733 
 734 
Residential Life Improvements – Some of the Owl's Nests would be planned to be razed to build 735 
a residence hall. 736 
It was determined that the west end of Appian Way could provide a good endpoint to Appian 737 
Way with the arches on the Main Street, the east side of campus, that provides a nice entrance. 738 
This way, there would be a nice entrance and end point.  739 
 740 
Aspirational Projects – A new Media Arts Center or student support service. The current Media 741 
Art Center is the central part of campus and is a prime real estate spot. 742 

21 of 176



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 20 of 23 
 

A new academic building where the Thorn Art Gallery is located could help create that north-743 
south corridor  744 
 745 
Pond Improvements – Brickyard Pond is not maintained well; however, architects suggested 746 
investing in docks, wrap around trails, and other features. These features could provide a great 747 
outdoor experience.  748 
 749 
Overall View – Elliot and Jocelyn Halls share utilities and you can’t have one without the other. 750 
Should it be renovated? Should there be a proposed addition? Should $30 million deferred 751 
maintenance from the old hospital wing and have it demolished? 752 
Mr. Burdick noted the Elliott Mansion is on the Federal Registry Historic Registry, which cannot 753 
be touched. There is however, some deferred maintenance, which would need to be address to 754 
retain that significant investment. 755 
 756 
The only new buildings presented in this master plan were the residential halls at the end of 757 
Appian Way and a proposed addition to the Rec Center to support the varsity weight room. This 758 
is a huge recruiting tool for athletics throughout Higher Ed. 759 
 760 
Redfern Arts Center is also highlighted for some proposed renovations. 761 
This concluded Mr. Burdick’s comments. 762 
 763 
Councilor Remy stated he is glad to see Keene State looking to get rid of some of their 764 
underutilized buildings as the city is short on its housing needs. He encouraged that conversation. 765 
 766 
Mr. Kost asked whether the consultant working on the city’s master plan has reached out to 767 
Keene State regarding the item of housing. Ms. Brunner noted to the six pillars–housing being 768 
one of those–and encouraged Mr. Burdick’s participation on the online message boards. 769 
 770 
Mayor Kahn asked about the property on Winchester Street where the lot has been cleared. Mr. 771 
Burdick stated the college is still actively looking for “suitors.” He indicated the discussion with 772 
Antioch University did not come to fruition but are still working with Antioch to find space 773 
elsewhere on campus for their use. The Mayor stated what he is trying to draw attention to is the 774 
interface between the city’s master plan and that portion of Winchester Street. Looking at 775 
appropriate zoning for that area, in the event this property was sold. 776 
 777 
Ms. Natalie Hoder, Vice President for Finance and Administration, stated that, unfortunately, the 778 
anticipated transaction with Antioch fell through due to funding issues.  She stated this site is a 779 
temporary parking lot at the present time but they are certainly working towards making sure that 780 
the right party comes along for Keene State to work with. They do plan on bringing the city in on 781 
those plans.  782 
 783 
Chair Farrington asked how this property is currently zoned. Ms. Brunner stated, in addition to 784 
this property being located in the Downtown Historic District, which is an overlay zoning 785 
district, it is also in the Downtown Core District. Antioch University, which is a private nonprofit 786 
university, would have been subject to zoning. Keene State is a public university and is not 787 

22 of 176



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 21 of 23 
 

subject to site plan or zoning. However, if they were to lease the land to a user who is not a 788 
governmental entity, they would be subject to those zoning rules. 789 
 790 
Mr. Clancy referred to the housing issue and the proposed construction of buildings on campus 791 
and asked if there was any emphasis on keeping juniors and seniors on campus as well. Ms. 792 
Hoder stated they have no plans to require upper classmen to live on campus. The college has 793 
tried to make living on campus more attractive. Mr. Burdick stated this year was their lowest first 794 
year for the student population, but the residence halls are more heavily occupied than they were 795 
last year. He stated they are seeing a lot of off-campus students coming back to campus as they 796 
are finding out that off-campus housing is not as big a financial saving as it used to be.  797 
 798 
This concluded the presentation. 799 
 800 
 801 

VII) Master Plan Update (https://keenemasterplan.com/) 802 
 803 

Ms. Brunner stated, since the Memo included in the staff report was sent to the Board, there have 804 
been a couple of the initial task force meetings. The first Task Force meeting was for the Livable 805 
Housing pillar, which was held last week. Today was the second meeting to talk about 806 
Connected Mobility and both sessions went well. Tomorrow is Adaptable Workforce. 807 
Ms. Brunner stated people who attend these sessions are members of the community who are 808 
passionate about a topic and have volunteered their time. She stated she is always impressed 809 
by how engaged this community is. There are 90 volunteers participating on these task forces.   810 
 811 
In terms of next steps, Staff and the consultants will be working on synthesizing the feedback 812 
and ideas generated by these focus groups and bringing ideas and recommendations back to the 813 
Master Plan Steering Committee, which will eventually come back to the Board. 814 
 815 
The next Future Summit is scheduled for Tuesday, June 3rd at Herberton Hall from 5:00 pm to 816 
7:00 PM. Ms. Brunner encouraged participation. 817 
 818 
Discussion Boards are still up and running and still looking for engagement. 819 

 820 
VIII) Planning Board Meeting Schedule - Request to reschedule the September meeting date 821 

 822 

Chair Farrington noted that Monday, September 22nd is a religious holiday and suggested moving 823 
the Planning Board meeting  to the 29th. He asked staff for recommendations for changing that 824 
date. Ms. Brunner stated, from Staff’s perspective, it would be easier if it could be moved to 825 
Tuesday, September 23rd. After a discussion between staff and the Board, it was agreed the 826 
meeting would be changed to September 29th. 827 

A motion was made by Chair Farrington to change the September 22nd meeting to September 828 
29th. The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn and was unanimously approved. 829 

 830 

 831 

23 of 176



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 22 of 23 
 

IX) Staff Updates  832 
a) Overview of Administrative and Minor Project approvals issued in 2024. 833 

 834 
Ms. Brunner stated the only update is that the overview of administrative and minor project 835 
approvals that were issued in 2024  are included in Board’s packet. 836 
 837 
She reminded the Board of the site plan review thresholds. There is a major site plan review, 838 
which comes before the Board, and minor site plan review, which goes to a committee made up 839 
of Staff. The Board has delegated its site plan review authority to that committee for projects that 840 
are below a certain threshold. There is another level below that in which the project does not 841 
require any formal site plan review but requires an administrative review of the application to 842 
insure compliance with the City’s site development standards. This is what the administrative 843 
planning approvals are. This list is given to the Board on an annual basis. All these project 844 
folders are located on the 4th floor of City Hall for review by the Board. 845 
 846 
The agendas for the Minor Project Review Committee are publicly posted but the administrative 847 
approvals are not. There is no agenda ahead of time because there is no meeting, but they are 848 
posted on the city website as well as the administrative approvals. 849 
 850 
Councilor Remy noted to the number of housing projects that have been created without having 851 
to come before the Board, which he indicated was impressive. 852 
 853 
Chair Farrington encouraged the Board to bring comments to the next meeting or email questions 854 
to staff. 855 
 856 
Ms. Fortson noted the administrative approvals are only available on the website for about four 857 
months.  858 
 859 

X) New Business 860 
 861 
None 862 
 863 
XI) Upcoming Dates of Interest  864 

• Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – February 10, 6:30 PM  865 
• Planning Board Steering Committee – February 11, 11:00 AM  866 
• Planning Board Site Visit –February 19 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed  867 
• Planning Board Meeting – February 24, 6:30 PM 868 

 869 
 870 
There being no further business, Chair Farrington adjourned the meeting at 9:06 PM. 871 
 872 
Respectfully submitted by, 873 
Krishni Pahl, Minute Taker 874 
 875 
Reviewed and edited by, 876 
Emily Duseau, Planning Technician 877 

24 of 176



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
January 27, 2025 

Page 23 of 23 
 

 878 
 879 

25 of 176



 

 

3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH 03431 

 

(603) 352-5440 
KeeneNH.gov 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:   Planning Board    
 
FROM:   Community Development Staff 
 
DATE:   February 14th, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: Agenda Item III - Final Vote on Conditional Approvals  

 

Recommendation:  

To grant final approval for any projects that have met all their “conditions precedent to final 
approval.” 

Background: 

This is a standing agenda item in response to the “George Stergiou v. City of Dover” opinion issued 
by the NH Supreme Court on July 21, 2022. As a matter of practice, the Planning Board issues a 
final vote on all conditionally approved projects after the “conditions precedent to final approval” 
have been met. This final vote will be the final approval and will start the 30-day appeal clock. 

As of the date of this packet, the following applications are ready for final approval: 

1. PB-2024-21 – 2-lot Subdivision – 141 Old Walpole Road 

If any projects meet their conditions precedent between date of this packet and the meeting, they 
will be identified and discussed during this agenda item.   

All Planning Board actions, including final approvals, are posted on the City of Keene website the 
day after the meeting at KeeneNH.gov/planning-board.  

 

  

26 of 176



 
 

 
 

 1

 

 

 

City of Keene
Planning Board
3 Washington Street
Keene, NH 03431

RE: Request for Review & Comment for Cedarcrest Solar CUP, Parcel 227-018-000

Dear Chair Farrington,

We are requesting review and comment for our site plan for the installation of a medium-scale 
ground mounted solar array, which will be submitted for a boundary line adjustment, major site 
plan review and a solar CUP.

We are seeking advice related to Section 16.2.5 Visual Buffer of the Land Development Code. 
The project has come together through a unique partnership with the City of Keene, 
andCedarcrest, and will be installed on lands to be transferred from the City to Cedarcrest via a 
boundary line adjustment.

Due to the location on the lot, and the existing conditions of the surrounding lots, the project is 
well hidden from view of the primary abutting uses (Cemetery, First Baptist Church) and we feel
the proposal meets the intent of the Land Development Code to reasonably minimize the view of
the system from surrounding properties and public rights of way without the addition of 
additional screening measures (inverters and other AC equipment on the Cedarcrest facility will 
be screened via a vinyl privacy fence). The City, as the primary abutter, has expressed their 
agreement with this view and submitted a letter of support. Installing and maintaining an 
vegetative buffer to further screen the solar array would create outsized costs to Cedarcrest, for 
limited or no benefits to abutting parcels. For example, the Cemetery already maintains its own 
screening from this portion of the property which also houses the maintenance building and 
operations, and, the First Baptist Church lands are enrolled in current use, which indicates the 
likelihood that they’ll remain wooded for the long term. Screening entire lengths of medium 
scale solar arrays is costly both for installation and long-term maintenance. Given the support 
for the site plan as proposed, the passive use and unintrusive fencing of the array, the screening 
of the AC equipment, and the natural limited visibility to existing features, our opinion is that 
the proposal does satisfy the intent of the code and we would appreciate your advice on this 
matter. A copy of the site plan and photos are attached.

Thank you for your consideration.

Sincerely,

Megan Ulin
ReVision Energy
603-583-4361
mulin@revisionenergy.com

27 of 176



28 of 176



  Photo Sheets  
91 Maple Avenue (Parcel ID: 227-018-000) 

 

 
Photo 1: Taken from the West lower corner the proposed array, and looking Northeast at the 

array location. View of existing vegetative buffer towards the North. 

 

Photo 2: Taken from the West upper corner of the proposed array, looking East towards the 
existing tree-line and Cemetery Maintenance Shed.  

29 of 176



  Photo Sheets 
91 Maple Avenue (Parcel ID: 227-018-000) 

 

 

Photo 3: Taken from East corner of the array, looking Southwest to Cedarcrest and 91 Maple Ave. 

 

Photo 4: Center of array location, looking South to buffer along Parkwood Apartments and 
carports.  

30 of 176



  Photo Sheets 
91 Maple Avenue (Parcel ID: 227-018-000) 

 

 
Aerial image with solar overlay 

31 of 176



[227-017]
1ST BAPTIST CHURCH

OF KEENE
13.91 AC±

605,777 Sq.Ft. ±
366.5' Frontage

[227-018]
CEDARCREST INC.

14.32 AC±
623,706 Sq.Ft. ±

319' Frontage

[227-027]
CITY OF KEENE

46 AC. ±
From plan references and tax
map, not surveyed in entirety

ZONE: CONSERVATION

"Monadnock View Cemetery"

LO
W D

EN
SIT

Y

CO
NS

ER
VA

TI
ON

[227[227-018018]]]
CEDARCREST INC.ST

14.32 AC±32 A
623,706 Sq.Ft. ±23,7

319' Frontage

[227-017]
1ST BAPTIST CHURCH

OF KEENE
13.91 AC±

605,777 Sq.Ft. ±
366.5' Frontage

[227-018]
CEDARCREST INC.

14.32 AC±
623,706 Sq.Ft. ±

319' Frontage

[227-027]
CITY OF KEENE

46 AC. ±
From plan references and tax
map, not surveyed in entirety

ZONE: CONSERVATION

"Monadnock View Cemetery"

LO
W D

EN
SIT

Y

CO
NS

ER
VA

TI
ON

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF
SF

SF
SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

E

E

50
.00

15.00

12.00

15.00

E

E

E

ELECTRICAL ROOM

EXISTING 800A MPD,
APPROXIMATE LOCATION

EXISTING PAD MOUNTED
UTILITY TRANSFORMER, 300KVA
PCC (42.952208 -72.317406)

SOLAR ARRAY
(TYP.)

6' AGRICULTURAL
SECURITY FENCE

SITE ACCESS
FROM MAPLE AVE.

EX. FENCLINE

PV SYSTEM DISCONNECT
UTILITY ACCESSIBLE 24/7 AND
LOCKABLE WITH VISIBLE BREAK

PV AC COMBINER AND DAS
INVERTERS 1-4 AND TROUGH

STEP-DOWN AUTO TRANSFORMER

PROPOSED 12' WIDE DOUBLE
SWING GATE LOCATIONS

APPROXIMATE AC CONDUIT PATH

APPROXIMATE DC
CONDUIT PATH

REVEGETATE AREA
WITHIN ARRAY AND

DISTURBED AREA WITH
CONSERVATION SEED MIX

TOTAL AREA WITHIN
PANELS & EQUIPMENT
= 32,292 S.F.

15
.0

0

20
.0

0

APPROX. CONSTRUCTION
ACCESS FROM CITY

OWNED LAND

516

51
6

51
7

51
8

515

51
4

51
4

516

51
6

51
6

51
7

51
7

EROSION CONTROL
BERM, SEE DETAIL

0

SCALE IN FEET

1608020 40

ISSUED FOR:

REVIEW

Al
l r

ig
ht

s 
re

se
rv

ed

C
20

25

DA
TE

 O
F 

PR
IN

T

HO
RI

ZO
NS

 E
NG

IN
EE

RI
NG

SO
LA

R 
SI

TE
 D

EV
EL

OP
M

EN
T

DW
G

EN
G

RE
VI

SI
ON

 D
ES

CR
IP

TI
ON

DA
TE

NO
.

PROJECT #:

SURVEYED BY:

DRAWN BY:

DATE:

ENGINEERED BY:

CHECKED BY:

KE
EN

E,
 N

EW
 H

AM
PS

HI
RE

RE
VI

SI
ON

 E
NE

RG
Y

HEI

RJH

DMW

RJH/WTD

240705

FEBRUARY 2025

SI
TE

 P
LA

N

SHEET C2.0

OWNER SIGNATURES:

                                                         DATE:

WE CERTIFY THAT THE KEENE PLANNING BOARD GAVE THIS SITE
PLAN FINAL APPROVAL ON  ______________

 AND THAT THE BOARD FOUND THAT ALL CONDITIONS
PRECEDENT TO FINAL APPROVAL HAD BEEN SATISFIED.

SYMBOL LEGEND

CATCH BASIN
HYDRANT
UTILITY POLE
LIGHT POLE
TELECOM MANHOLE
SIGN
SIGN WITH END POSTS
POST/BOLLARD
UNDETERMINED UTILITY BOX
MAIL BOX

STONE WALL
EXISTING CHAIN LINK FENCE
PROPOSED SECURITY FENCE

EDGE OF PAVEMENT
CONCRETE

STONE/CONCRETE BOUND
CONIFEROUS TREEIRON PIN/PIPE

STONE/CONCRETE BOUND

DEED VOLUME & PAGE
TAX MAP PARCEL NUMBER

CCRD

123/456
[1-2-3]

CHESHIRE REGISTRY OF DEEDS

NH HIGHWAY BOUNDNHHB

TREE LINE
PROPOSED ELECTRICAL LINEE

SITE PLAN NOTES 
1.  ALL WORK SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THESE PLANS.

2.  NO EXISTING MONUMENTS, BOUNDS, OR BENCHMARKS SHALL BE DISTURBED WITHOUT
FIRST MAKING PROVISIONS FOR RELOCATION.

3.  ALL WORK SHALL BE PERFORMED WITHIN THE PROPERTY OF, AND EASEMENTS SECURED
BY, THE OWNER.

4.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE DATA COLLECTION AND
PREPARATION OF RECORD DRAWINGS.

5.  THE CONTRACTOR IS SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR CONTROLLING EROSION IN ALL AREAS
DISTURBED BY HIS ACTIONS. COSTS FOR REQUIRED EROSION CONTROL, REGARDLESS OF
WHETHER OR NOT SUCH MEASURES ARE SHOWN ON THE ENGINEERING DRAWINGS,
SHALL BE BORNE BY HIM.

6.  THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR LOCATION AND PROTECTION OF EXISTING
UTILITIES AND SHALL REPAIR ANY DAMAGE AS QUICKLY AS POSSIBLE AT HIS OWN
EXPENSE.  ALL UTILITIES ENCOUNTERED SHALL BE LOCATED BY DEPTH AND TIES AND
SHOWN BY THE CONTRACTOR ON HIS "AS BUILT" DRAWINGS.  HAND EXCAVATION SHALL
BE DONE WHEREVER UNDERGROUND UTILITIES ARE ANTICIPATED.  THE CONTRACTOR
SHALL CONTACT DIG SAFE AND THE APPROPRIATE AUTHORITIES PRIOR TO ANY
CONSTRUCTION IN ORDER TO VERIFY EXISTING CONDITIONS AND UTILITY LOCATIONS.

7.  BASE MAP INFORMATION INCLUDING BOUNDARY AND TOPOGRAPHY ON THIS PLAN IS
FROM PLANS PREPARED BY HUNTLEY SURVEY & DESIGN, TITLED " EXISTING
CONDITIONS" AND "BOUNDARY LINE ADJUSTMENT", BOTH DATED FEBRUARY 2, 2025.

EXISTING GRAVEL

PROPOSED GRAVEL ACCESS

 CONSTRUCTION SEQUENCE 

1.  INSTALL CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE, SEE DETAIL.

2.  INSTALL PERIMETER EROSION CONTROL MEASURES AT LOCATIONS SHOWN ON THE 
PLANS AND AS NEEDED.

3.  PROCEED WITH WORK, INSTALLING ARRAY, ELECTRIC EQUIPMENT, AND FENCING,
LIMITING THE DURATION OF DISTURBANCE.  ANY MINOR POTENTIAL GROUND
DISTURBANCES ARE ANTICIPATED TO BE CAUSED BY VEHICLE ACCESS MOVEMENTS
PERFORMING THE INSTALLATION OF THE PANELS AND FENCING.  THE MAXIMUM
LENGTH OF TIME THAT DISTURBED EARTH MAY BE LEFT UNSTABILIZED IS 45 DAYS.

4.  REMOVE CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE MATERIALS.  BEGIN SEEDING AND MULCHING
AREAS DISTURBED BY INSTALLATION EQUIPMENT.  ALL DISTURBED AREAS SHALL BE
STABILIZED WITH APPROVED METHODS WITHIN 72 HOURS.

5.  INSPECT ALL EROSION CONTROL MEASURES ON A DAILY BASIS AND AFTER EVERY 0.5
INCHES OF PRECIPITATION.  MAINTAIN AND REPAIR ALL MEASURES NO LONGER
INSTALLED CORRECTLY.

6.  PLACE TOPSOIL, SEED AND MULCH.

7.  MONITOR THE SITE AND MAINTAIN STRUCTURES AS NEEDED UNTIL FULL VEGETATION
IS ESTABLISHED.

Z:
\p

ro
j_

20
24

\2
40

70
5 

- R
eV

is
io

n,
 M

on
ad

no
ck

 V
ie

w
 - 

Ke
en

e,
 N

H
\In

te
rn

al
\C

iv
il\

C
on

ce
pt

s\
24

07
05

 C
O

N
C

EP
T 

01
.d

w
g,

 S
IT

E,
 2

/1
2/

20
25

 1
0:

06
:3

3 
AM

, A
nd

re
w

G
od

fre
y

32 of 176



STAFF REPORT 
 

SPR-593, MODIFICATION #2 – MAJOR SITE PLAN – BANK OF AMERICA EXTERIOR LIGHTING, 
20 CENTRAL SQUARE 

 
Request: 

Applicant Bank of America, on behalf of owner 20 Central Keene LLC, proposes to modify exterior 
lighting on the property at 20 Central Square (TMP #568-063-000). Waivers are requested from Section 
21.7.3.C, Section 21.7.3.F.1.a, Section 21.7.3.F.1.c, and Section 21.7.4.A.2 of the LDC regarding light 
trespass levels and lighting hours of operation. The site is 0.68-ac in size and is located in the 
Downtown Core District.  
 
Background:  

The subject parcel is located at the 
northeastern corner of Central Square and is 
currently used by Bank of America. The 
parcel has frontage and access from 
Washington St to the east while its primary 
frontage is located along Central Square to 
the south. Commercial uses abut this 
property on all sides, including mixed-use 
apartment buildings to the north and 
northeast, City Hall to the southeast, the 
United Church of Christ to the west, and the 
former Fire Station and Monadnock Peer 
Support buildings to the north. Central 
Square is located directly to the south. The 
parcel is located in the Downtown Core 
District. 
 
The applicant proposes to remove the 
existing exterior light fixtures in the parking 
and drive-through area and replace them with 
12 new fixtures, as shown in Figure 1. The 
applicant requests waivers from Section 21.7.3.C, Section 21.7.3.F.1.a, Section 21.7.3.F.1.c, and 
Section 21.7.4.A.2 of the Land Development Code (LDC) related to light trespass, lighting hours 
of operation, and parking lot lighting levels.  
 
Determination of Regional Impact: 

After reviewing the application, staff have made a preliminary evaluation that the proposed site 
plan does not appear to have the potential for “regional impact” as defined in RSA 36:55. The 
Board will need to make a final determination as to whether the proposal, if approved, could have 
the potential for regional impact. 
 
Completeness: 

The applicant has requested exemptions from submitting a grading plan, landscaping plan, 
elevations, and all technical reports. After reviewing each request, staff have made the preliminary 
determination that the requested exemptions would have no bearing on the merits of the 
application and recommend that the Board accept the application as “complete.” 
 

33 of 176



STAFF REPORT 
 

Departmental Comments: 

 Code Enforcement Staff: Please be aware that a building permit application will need to 
be submitted and approved prior to the commencement of any work. 
 

APPLICATION ANALYSIS: The following is an analysis of the lighting standards outlined under 
Section 21.7 of the LDC. This is the only Site Development Standard relevant to the review of this 

application. 
 
Section 21.7.1 – Applicability: 
This section of the code states 
that, “When 50% or more of the 
light fixtures or poles of an 
existing outdoor lighting 
installation are being modified, 
extended, expanded, or added to, 
the entire outdoor lighting 
installation shall be subject to the 
requirements of this Development 
Standard.”  
 
The applicant is proposing to 
remove 9 existing light fixtures 
on the northern portion of the site 
and install 12 new light fixtures, 
including 2 pole lights, 4 wall-
mounted fixtures, and 6 fixtures 
near the drive-through ATMs as 
shown in Figure 2. The applicant 
has requested waivers from 
standards with which they cannot 
comply given the context of the 
site in the downtown. Each of 
these waivers is addressed under 
the corresponding section of the 
lighting standards in the 
following staff report. 
 
Section 21.7.2 – Prohibited: The applicant is not proposing any floodlighting or uplighting. This 
standard is not applicable.  
 
Section 21.7.3 – General Standards: 

A. Shielding: The submitted product specification sheets show that all proposed light fixtures 
are full cut-off with no portion of the bulb visible. This standard appears to be met. 

 
B. Glare: The project narrative states that none of the light fixtures are proposed to installed or 

directed in a manner that will create glare on or off the property and that lights located near 
property lines will be equipped with backlight shields. This standard appears to be met. 

 

34 of 176



STAFF REPORT 
 

C. Light Trespass: This section of the code allows for 0.1-footcandles (fc) of light trespass at 
property lines and 1-fc of light trespass at right-of-way lines. The submitted photometric plan 
shows light trespass levels above 0.1-fc at the northwestern corner of the property adjacent 
to the United Church of Christ. The project narrative states that a waiver is requested from 
this standard due to the close proximity of the Bank of America parking lot proposed to be 
illuminated in relation to the adjacent parcels and buildings. The waiver request goes on to 
state that these existing site conditions make it difficult to comply with the lighting standards, 
so the proposal has, “been designed to meet the bank’s lighting needs to the extent practical 
while still meeting the intent and spirit of the Keene Land Development Code.”  

 
The full waiver request is included in the project narrative, which is an attachment to this staff 
report. In making a determination as to whether or not to grant the waiver, the Board will need 
to consider the waiver criteria outlined under Section 26.12.14.A of the LDC, which are 
included below. 

 
“Section 26.12.14.A – Waivers: Unless otherwise set forth in this LDC, the Planning Board 
may grant a waiver from strict compliance with provisions of the Site Development 
Standards in Article 21 or site plan review standards in Section 26.12, on a case by case 
basis, so long as the Board finds, by majority vote, that:  

1. Strict conformity would pose an unnecessary hardship to the applicant and the 
waiver would not be contrary to the spirit and intent of the regulations; or,  

2. Specific circumstances relative to the site plan, or conditions of the land in such site 
plan, indicate that the waiver will properly carry out the spirit and intent of the 
regulations.  

3. In granting a waiver, the Planning Board may require any mitigation that is 
reasonable and necessary to ensure that the spirit and intent of the standard being 
waived will be preserved, and to ensure that no increase in adverse impacts 
associated with granting the waiver will occur” 

 
D. Illumination: The project narrative and light fixture specification sheets show that all light 

fixtures will have a color rendering index (CRI) greater than 70 and a color temperature of 
3,000K. This standard appears to be met.  

 
E. Height: The luminaire schedule on the first page of the photometric plan shows that all light 

fixtures will have a maximum mounting height of 20’, which is the maximum height allowed 
in the Downtown Core District. This standard appears to be met. 

 
F. Hours of Operation: This standard states that outdoor lighting shall not be illuminated 

between the hours of 10:00 pm and 6:00 am with a few exceptions, including security lighting; 
for the operation of normal business uses during these hours; and for 24-hour businesses. 
The project narrative states that the bank’s ATMs are operated 24 hours per day, 7 days per 
week. It goes on to state that the purpose of the proposed lighting upgrades is to upgrade 
existing outdated fixtures with LED fixtures and to bring the lighting levels on the property in 
line with the security requirements mandated by Bank of America.  
 
The applicant has requested a waiver from Section 21.7.3.F.1.a of the LDC to allow for 
average security lighting levels of 1.62-fc instead of the maximum average of 1-fc allowed 
under this section of the LDC. Additionally, the applicant has also requested a waiver from 

35 of 176



STAFF REPORT 
 

Section 21.7.3.F.1.c of the LDC to allow for normal lighting levels during these hours instead 
of the 50% reduction in lighting levels required for 24-hour businesses. In deciding whether or 
not to grant these waivers, the Board will need to evaluate each of these requests in relation 
to the waiver criteria included earlier in this staff report. 

 
G. Wiring: The Board may wish to ask the applicant to confirm that all wiring for outdoor lighting 

will be placed underground.  
 
Section 21.7.4 – Use Specific Standards:  

A. Parking Lots: This section of the code states that parking lots must have an average 
illumination level of 3.5-fc or less. Additionally, the uniformity ratio (the ratio of the average to 
the minimum lighting levels) cannot exceed 5:1 in footcandles. The lighting specification table  
on the second page of the plan set shows that the parking lot will have an average lighting 
level of 2.24-fc and a uniformity ratio of 22.40-fc.  

 
In their request for a waiver from Section 21.7.4.A.2 of the LDC, the applicant stated that the 
uniformity ratio is above 5:1 footcandles due to the fact that the existing parking area extends 
to and through the abutting properties. The waiver request goes on to state that the uniformity 
of lighting within the proposed area of lighting improvements is generally consistent with the 
uniformity ratio guidelines of the LDC. The Board may wish to ask the applicant to clarify how 
existing light fixtures on adjacent buildings/sites, such as the United Church of Christ, may 
impact the uniformity ratio of the lighting on the site. 
 

B. Canopies & Vehicle Fueling Stations Islands: This proposal does not involve the installation 
of lighting on a canopy or vehicle fueling station. This standard is not applicable. 
 

C. Walkways: This application does not propose any lighting specifically designed for walkways, 
alleyways, or pedestrian paths. This standard is not applicable. 

 
Recommended Motion:  
 
If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following motion is recommended:  
 

“Approve SPR-593, Modification #2 as shown on the plan set identified as “Bank of 
America, Exterior Lighting Program” prepared by GMR Facility Analysis & Engineering at 
varying scales with the following conditions prior to final approval and signature by the 
Planning Board Chair: 

1. Owner’s signature appears on the plan. 

2. Submittal of five full-sized paper copies of the final plan set.” 

36 of 176



City of Keene, NH

Site Plan Application
lf you have questions about how to complete this form, p lease cal!: (603) j52-5440 ar email : communitydevelopment@keenenh.gov

PRoTECTNAME: 
Bank of America - Exterior Lighting r MAJOR PROJECT APPLICATION

r MINOR PROJECT APPLICATION

TYPE OF APPLICATIO BEING SUBMITTED:

PRorECr ADDRESS(ES): 
20 central Square

PRoPoSED USE: No Change - Exterior Lighting
lmprovements

EXISTING oR PREVIOUS USE: Bank Of AmeriCa

GROSS FLOOR AREA OF EXISTING 18,206+ SF
BUItDINGS/STRUCTURES (in square feet) 

11O Change)
GROSS FTOOR AREA OF N/A
NEW CONSTRUCTION (in square feet)

TOTAT AREA OF tAND DISTURBANCE (in square feet)

N/A

APPUCANT

AREA OF PROPOSEp NEW N/A
IMPERVIOUS SURFACES (in square feet)

PROPERTYOWNER

Bank of America clo CBRE
NAME/COMPANY:

20 Central Keene LLC
NAME/COMPANY:

101 East River Drive, East Hartford, CT 06108
MAILING ADDRESS:

PO Box 760, Norwalk, CT 06852
MAILING ADDRESS:

860-244-4062
PHONE:

(203) 8ss-948s
PHONE:

EMA'L: 

M arisa. Caval i ere@cbre. comThomas@sbmainc.com
EMAIL:

SIGNATURE::zr=rs-!-:'rr-:: 
T/au;a. C"*t/r-r-- -/r?pna.a- /uruztzna.

SIGNATURE:

Marisa Cavaliere

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY:

PRINTED NAME:

AUTHORIZEDAGENT
(if different than Owner/Applicant)

Thomas Tucciarone
PRINTED NAME:

NAME/GoMPANY: BOhlef
TAX MAP PARCEL f(s):

MAI[lNG ADDRESS:352 
Turnpike Road, southborough, MA

PARCEI SIZE:PH'NE: 
508-480-ggoo

EMA'L: 
mbombaci@boh lereng.com

ZONING DISTRICT:

SIGNATURE: t A r-r--4^!l**,\9.'b-;, g.l+t€tt

DATE STAMP:

PROJECT #:PRTNTED NAME:Matthew 
Bombaci

SECTION 1: PROJECT INFORMATION

SECTION 2: CONTACT INFORMATION

X

37 of 176



 

www.BohlerEngineering.com 

 

352 Turnpike Road 
Southborough, MA 01772 

 508.480.9900 
 
 
 
February 7, 2025 
 
City of Keene  
Planning Board 
3 Washingston Street 
Keene, NH 03431 
 
Attention: Megan Fortson, Planner 
 
 
Re: Project Narrative to Accompany Major Site Plan Application 

Exterior Lighting Improvement – Bank of America 
20 Central Square, Keene, NH 03431 

   
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
On behalf of the Applicant, CBRE, agent for Bank of America, we respectfully submit the enclosed 
materias in support of a Major Site Plan Application for exterior lighting improvements at the subject 
site.  The following materials are enclosed in support of this request: 
 

 Two (2) copies of the Minor Site Plan Application, dated October 31, 2024 (previously 
propovided under separate cover); 
 

 Two (2) full size copies of the Bank of America Exterior Lighting Program Plans (v9 250121), 
prepared by GMR; 

 
 Two (2) copies of the Light Fixture Specification Sheets: 

 
o CREE THE EDGE Series LED Area/Flood Luminaire Specification Sheet; 

o CREE ZR Series LED Troffers Specification Sheet; 

o Lithonia WDGE2 LED Wall Sconce Specification Sheet. 
 

 Two (2) Sets of Mailing Labels (previously provided under separate cover);  
 
 $439.42 Application Fee Check (previously provided under separate cover). 

 
  
The subject site is located on the northwest side of Central Square and on the west side of 
Washington Street, located opposite of Keene City Hall.  The site currently contains an existing Bank 
of America building with drive-thru on the first floor and office space on the second floor of the 
building.  The site also contains associated paved parking areas with a shared access connecting 
through the adjacent property, United Church of Christ, to Vernon Street. The existing bank is 
bordered to the south by Central Square, to the east by City Hall, to the north by a deli, and to the 
west by the United Church of Christ. The existing bank ATM facilities are open 24-hours a day, 7-
days a week. 
 
The proposed exterior lighting improvements are being proposed by Bank of America (BOA) and 
BOA’s lighting consultant, GMR, in an effort to replace existing light fixtures with energy efficient 
LED fixtures, and to bring lighting levels at the facility to meet BOA’s minimum security standards to 
the extent practicable.  In general, BOA’s minimum security standards require, but are not limited to, 
a minimum of ten (10) foot candle power at the face of an ATM or after-hour depository extending 
outward five (5) feet outward from same, a minimum of two (2) foot candle power in defined parking 

38 of 176



 
 

www.BohlerEngineering.com 
 
 
 

 

areas extending outward sixty (60) feet from the face of an ATM or after-hour depository.  BOA’s 
minimum lighting standards are generally consistent with the Illuminating Engineering Society Guide 
for Security Lighting for People, Property, and Critical Infrastructure (IES G-1-16), which 
recommends similar light candle power for ATMs and after-hour depositories. 
 
The following exterior lighting improvements are proposed at the subject location, as shown on the 
enclosed Bank of America Exterior Lighting Program Plans: 
 

- Removal of two (2) existing light poles north of the existing parking area which each consist 
of two (2) floodlight fixtures.  The project proposes to replace same with new single LED 
luminaires with backlight shields (denoted as fixtures UAY2 on the Exterior Lighing Program 
Plans). The light pole fixtures are proposed to have a mounting height of twenty (20) feet. 
 

- Removal of five (5) canopy light fixtures within the existing drive-thru canopy north of the 
existing building and the replacement of same with six (6) downcase LED troffer lights 
(denoted as fixtures UEK1 & UEK2 on the Exterior Lighting Program Plans).  

 
- Installation of one (1) LED wall mount luminaire adjacent to the buildings main entrance 

facing Washington Street (denoted as fixtures UAX1 on the Exterior Lighting Program 
Plans).  The fixture is proposed to have a mounting height of twenty (20) feet. 

 
- Installation of two (2) LED wall mount luminaires above the drive-through entrance and exit 

(denoted as fixtures UAY1 on the Exterior Lighting Program Plans).  The fixture is proposed 
to have a mounting height of twenty (20) feet. 
 

The proposed Exterior lighting improvements have been designed to meet the Site Development 
Standards in Article 21 of the Land Development Code to the extent practiciable, including but not 
limited to the below design considerations: 
 

- The project proposes to remove existing floodlight fixtures and all light fixtures proposed are 
fully downcast / dark-sky compliant. 
 

- Where light pole fixtures are proposed to be replaced proximate to property lines, they are 
proposed to be equipped with backlight shields and to be directed away from abutting 
properties. 
 

- Existing low efficiency lighting is proposed to be replaced by high energy efficient LED 
lighting.  All light fixtures are proposed with a color temperature of 3000K and have a color 
rendering index greater than 70.  
 

- All light fixtures are proposed to have a mounting height of twenty (20) feet or less. 
 

- All lighting is proposed to result in a calculated light level of less than one (1) footcandle 
measured at the right-of-way line of a street. 

 
Although the proposed lighting improvements have been designed to meet the requirements to the 
extent practical, the following waivers are respectfully requested from the Site Development 
Standards in Article 21 of the Land Development Code: 
 

§21.7.3.C - Light Trespass: 
Required: The maximum light level of any light fixture cannot exceed 0.1-footcandle 

measured at the property line. 
Requested: Light levels at perimeter property lines exceeding 0.1-footcandle where the 

property line coincides with the perimeter of the parking area or concides with 
commercial buildings on abutting properties. 

Support: Proposed light fixtures have been designed and located such that they are not 
anticipated to glare or otherwise represent a nuisance to abutting properties and 
streets.  Where light fixtures are proposed to be replaced proximate to property 

39 of 176



 
 

www.BohlerEngineering.com 
 
 
 

 

lines, they have been designed to be forward throw fixtures with backlight shields 
to reduce light impacts on abutting properties.  Lighting improvements have been 
designed to meet the bank’s lighting needs to the extent practical while still 
meeting the intent and spirit of the Keene Land Development Code. 

 
§21.7.3.F.1.a – Hours of Operation: 
Required: Security lighting shall have an average illumination on the ground not to exceed 

1-footcandle. 
Requested: Average on-site illuminance of approximately 1.62 footcandles, including areas 

under the proposed drive-through canopy. 
Support: The proposed light levels throughout the site have been designed such that the 

meet the bank’s security standards to the extent practical, with a proposed 
lighting program that is not anticipated to glare or otherwise represent a nuisance 
to abutting properties and streets.  Lighting improvements have been designed to 
meet the bank’s lighting needs to the extent practical while still meeting the intent 
and spirit of the Keene Land Development Code. 

 
§21.7.3.F.1.c – Hours of Operation: 
Required: For 24-hour businesses, lighting levels shall be reduced by a minimum of 50% 

between the hours of 10:00pm and 6:00am. 
Requested: Normal light levels 24-hours a day to serve the existing bank / ATM use. 
Support: The proposed light levels throughout the site have been designed such that the 

meet the bank’s security standards to the extent practical, with a proposed 
lighting program that is not anticipated to glare or otherwise represent a nuisance 
to abutting properties and streets.  Lighting improvements have been designed to 
meet the bank’s lighting needs to the extent practical while still meeting the intent 
and spirit of the Keene Land Development Code. 

 
§21.7.4.A.2 – Hours of Operation: 
Required: The ratio of the average to the minimum illumination level (i.e. uniformity ratio) 

shall not exceed 5:1 in foot-candles. 
Requested: A uniformity ratio exceeding 5:1 foot-candles as a result of the existing parking 

area extending to/through abutting property boundaries. 
Support: The proposed uniformity ratio exceeds 5:1 foot-candles as a result of the existing 

parking area extending to/through abutting property boundaries.  The uniformity 
of lighting within the proposed area of lighting improvements is generally 
consistent with the uniformity ratio guidelines of the Land Development Code. 

 
 
We trust that this information is sufficient for your needs at this time.  We look forward to discussing 
the proposed site improvements with the Board at an upcoming meeting.  Please do not hesitate to 
contact us at (508) 480-9900 should you have any questions or wish to discuss further.   
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
BOHLER ENGINEERING  

 
Matthew Bombaci    

40 of 176



THIS PLAN SET IS PROPRIETARY AND CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION OF THE BANK AND THE USE OF THIS DESIGN IS PROHIBITED WITHOUT THE EXPRESS PERMISSION OF THE BANK

COVER

SITE PLAN

VICINITY MAP

Keene Main
NH2-120

20 Central Sq
Keene, NH

v9 250121

Bank of America

N

www.gmr1.com

Office: (972) 771-6038

1629 Smirl Drive, Suite 200, Heath, Texas 75032

EXTERIOR LIGHTING PROGRAM

Bank of America N

SCALE: 1/24" = 1'-0"

41 of 176



LU-1

SITE DETAILS

N.T.S.

Keene Main
NH2-120

20 Central Sq
Keene, NH

v9 250121

Bank of America

N

SCALE: 1/32" = 1'-0"

SCALE: 1/32" = 1'-0"

SCALE: 1/32" = 1'-0"

SCALE: 1/32" = 1'-0"

LANDSCAPE

FULL SITE CALCS DIMENSIONS

COMPLIANCE AREA

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.1 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.3 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.5 0.6 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.6 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.6 0.8 1.1 1.4 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.3 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.9 1.3 1.3 1.6 2.4 2.2 2.2 2.1 2.3 2.1 1.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

1.8 2.5 2.6 1.8 2.0 3.5 4.1 4.1 3.7 4.2 2.7 1.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

2.5 3.4 3.3 1.9 2.4 3.7 4.2 5.0 5.6 3.9 1.1 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

3.7 3.4 2.2 1.2 1.1 19.8 19.3 10.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

2.0 3.7 2.5 1.5 1.2 13.4 9.5 12.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.1 3.3 3.6 2.4 1.7 5.6 21.1 7.0 5.2 6.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.1 2.5 1.6 1.4 3.5 18.5 7.3 7.0 18.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.1 1.2 1.2 1.9 3.8 3.2 4.0 3.7 7.5 9.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.8 1.1 2.1 4.2 4.8 4.6 5.1 6.8 7.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.9 1.6 2.7 4.2 3.9 3.0 3.2 4.5 2.7 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

1.9 3.2 4.2 3.7 2.5 2.1 1.9 2.1 3.9 2.7 2.1 2.2 2.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

2.7 4.2 3.0 2.1 1.8 1.4 1.1 3.4 3.7 3.4 3.5 3.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

2.3 3.7 3.3 2.1 1.5 1.3 1.5 2.7 3.0 2.3 2.3 3.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

3.2 3.5 2.5 1.7 1.2 1.3 1.7 1.4 1.4 1.2 1.4 1.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

2.2 3.2 2.8 1.8 1.1 1.0 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.8 0.7 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

2.1 2.3 1.4 0.9 0.7 0.6 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.4 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.8 0.6 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.3 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

23'±

24'±

3'-6"±

2'-
6"

±

1'±

42 of 176



† See https://www.creelighting.com/resources/warranties/ for warranty terms

Website: creelighting.com
US: (800) 236-6800  Canada: (800) 473-1234

Rev. Date: V14  06/24/2024

THE EDGE® Series
LED Area/Flood Luminaire

Ordering Information
Example: ARE-EDG-2M-AA-12-E-UL-SV-350 

E

Family Optic Mounting*
LED 
Count 
(x10)

Series Voltage Finish
Drive  
Current

Options

ARE-EDG 2M
Type II 
Medium
2MB
Type II 
Medium 
w/BLS
2MP
Type II 
Me-
dium w/
Partial 
BLS
3M
Type III 
Medium 

3MB
Type III 
Medium
w/BLS
3MP
Type III 
Medium  
w/Partial 
BLS
4M
Type IV 
Medium
4MB
Type IV 
Medium  
w/BLS

4MP
Type IV 
Medium  
w/Partial 
BLS
5M
Type V 
Medium
5S
Type V 
Short

AA
Adjustable 
Arm
DA
Direct Arm
DL
Direct Long 
Arm

02
04
06
08
10
12
14
16

E UL
Universal
120-277V
UH
Universal
347-480V

BK
Black
BZ
Bronze
SV
Silver
WH
White

350
350mA 
525
525mA
700
700mA
- Available 
   with 20- 
   60 LEDs

DIM 0-10V Dimming
 - Control by others
 - Refer to Dimming spec sheet for details
 - Can't exceed specified drive current
 - Not available with PML options

F Fuse
 - Compatible only with 120V, 277V or 347V (phase 
to neutral)

 - Consult factory if fusing is required for 208V,
 - 240V or 480V (phase to phase)
 - Refer to PML spec sheet for availability with
 - PML options
 - When code dictates fusing, use time delay fuse

HL Hi/Low (Dual Circuit Input)
 - Refer to HL spec sheet for details
 - Sensor not included

P Button Photocell
 - Refer to PML spec sheet for availability with 
PML options

 - Available with UL voltage only
PML Programmable Multi-Level,
           20-40' Mounting Height

 - Refer to PML spec sheet for details
 - Intended for downlight applications at 0˚ tilt

PML2  Programmable Multi-Level, 
           10-30' Mounting Height

 - Refer to PML spec sheet for details
 - Intended for downlight applications 
at 0˚ tilt

R NEMA® 3-Pin Photocell
           Receptacle

 - 3-pin receptacle per ANSI C136.10
 - Not available with SA mount
 - Intended for downlight applications 
with maximum 45˚ tilt

 - Requires photocell or shorting cap 
by others

 - Refer to PML spec sheet for 
availability with PML options

30K 3000K Color Temperature
 - Minimum 80 CRI
 - Color temperature per luminaire

40K 4000K Color Temperature
 - Minimum 70 CRI
 - Color temperature per luminaire

50K 5000K Color Temperature
 - Minimum 90 CRI
 - Color temperature per luminaire

TRL   Amber Turtle Friendly LEDs
 - Available only with 350mA 
 - 600nm dominant wavelength
 - Additional shielding (by others) may 
be required for Florida Fish and 
Wildlife Conservation Commission 
compliance

Product Description
THE EDGE® Series has a slim, low profile design. Its rugged cast aluminum housing minimizes 
wind load requirements and features an integral, weathertight LED driver compartment and high 
performance aluminum heat sinks. Various mounting choices: Adjustable Arm, Direct Arm, Direct Arm 
Long, or Side Arm (details on page 2). Includes a leaf/debris guard. 
Applications: Parking lots, walkways, campuses, car dealerships, office complexes, and internal 
roadways

Accessories 

Field-Installed

Bird Spikes
XA-BRDSPK
Hand-Held Remote
XA-SENSREM
- For successful implementation of the programmable multi-level 
   option, a minimum of one hand-held remote is required

Backlight Control Shields
XA-20BLS-4
- Four-pack
- Unpainted stainless steel
Shorting Cap
XA-XSLSHRT
NEMA® 3-Pin Photocell
C-ACC-A-PCELL-NEMA3-LV
- On/off functionality only 
- Available with UL voltage only

Patented NanoOptic® Product Technology

Assembled in the USA by Cree Lighting from US and imported parts

Initial Delivered Lumens: Up to 33,946 lumens

Input Power: 19 - 263 Watts

CRI: Minimum 70 CRI (4000K & 5700K); 80 CRI (3000K); 90 CRI (5000K)

CCT: Turtle Friendly Amber, 3000K (+/- 300K), 4000K (+/- 300K), 5000K (+/- 500K), 5700K (+/- 500K) 
standard

Limited Warranty†: 10 years for luminaire/10 years for Colorfast DeltaGuard® finish/5 years for PML 
sensors/1 year on accessories

Performance Summary

FLD-
EDG

25
25˚ 
Flood
40
40˚ 
Flood

70
70˚ 
Flood
SN
Sign

N6
NEMA® 
6

AA
Adjustable 
Arm
SA
Side Arm
- Available 
   with 20-60 
   LEDs

“A”3.9"
(99mm)

27.1"
(688mm)

2.1"
 (53mm)

18.1"
(460mm) NEMA® 3-Pin Photocell 

Receptacle location 
(ordered as an option)

9.0"
(229mm)

Convenient, 
Interlocking 
Mounting 
Method

LED Count 
(x10)

Dim. "A" Weight

02 12.1" (306mm) 21 lbs. (10kg)

04 12.1" (306mm) 24 lbs. (11kg)

06 14.1" (357mm) 27 lbs. (12kg)

08 16.1" (408mm) 28 lbs. (13kg)

10 18.1" (459mm) 32 lbs. (15kg)

12 20.1" (510mm) 34 lbs. (15kg)

14 22.1" (560mm) 37 lbs. (17kg)

16 24.1" (611mm) 41 lbs. (19kg)

DA Mount

* Reference EPA and pole configuration suitability data beginning on page 19

AA/DL/SA Mount - see page 22 for weight & dimensions

FIXTURES DENOTED AS 'UAX1', 'UAY1', & 'UAY2'

43 of 176

https://www.creelighting.com/resources/warranties/
https://www.creelighting.com
https://cree.widen.net/s/sfcfcbmlc8/led-dimming-options-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/sfcfcbmlc8/led-dimming-options-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/sgvlpmghqc/programmable-multi-level-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/x9kx69rvwg/led-high-low-option-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/x9kx69rvwg/led-high-low-option-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/sgvlpmghqc/programmable-multi-level-spec-sheet
https://www.creelink.com/exLink.asp?11771499OY74R53I27481479
https://cree.widen.net/s/sgvlpmghqc/programmable-multi-level-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/sgvlpmghqc/programmable-multi-level-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/sgvlpmghqc/programmable-multi-level-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/sgvlpmghqc/programmable-multi-level-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/sgvlpmghqc/programmable-multi-level-spec-sheet


Introduction
The WDGE LED family is designed to meet 
specifier’s every wall-mounted lighting need in 
a widely accepted shape that blends with any 
architecture. The clean rectilinear design comes in 
four sizes with lumen packages ranging from 1,200 
to 25,000 lumens, providing a true site-wide solution. 
Embedded with nLight® AIR wireless controls, the 
WDGE family provides additional energy savings 
and code compliance. 

WDGE2 delivers up to 6,000 lumens with a soft, 
non-pixelated light source, creating a visually 
comfortable environment. When combined with 
multiple integrated emergency battery backup 
options, including an 18W cold temperature option, 
the WDGE2 becomes the ideal wall-mounted 
lighting solution for pedestrian scale applications in 
any environment.

One Lithonia Way  •  Conyers, Georgia 30012  •  Phone: 1-800-705-SERV (7378)  •   www.lithonia.com
© 2019-2022 Acuity Brands Lighting, Inc.  All rights reserved.

WDGE2 LED

Rev. 11/21/22
COMMERCIAL OUTDOOR

WDGE2 LED
Architectural Wall Sconce 
Visual Comfort Optic

Catalog 
Number

Notes

Type

Depth (D1): 7"

Depth (D2): 1.5"

Height: 9"

Width: 11.5"

Weight:  
(without options) 13.5 lbs

Hit the Tab key or mouse over the page to see all interactive elements.

Specifications

Series Package Color Temperature CRI Distribution Voltage Mounting

WDGE2 LED P1 1

P2 1

P3 1

P4 1

P5 1

P1SW
P2SW
P3SW
Door with small window (SW) is 
required to accommodate sensors. 
See page 2 for more details.

27K 2700K 
30K 3000K 
35K 3500K 
40K 4000K 
50K 2 5000K 

80CRI
90CRI

VF Visual comfort 
forward throw

VW Visual comfort 
wide

MVOLT
347 3

480 3

Shipped included
SRM Surface mounting bracket
ICW Indirect Canopy/Ceiling 

Washer bracket (dry/damp 
locations only)7

Shipped separately
AWS 3/8inch Architectural wall spacer
PBBW S urface-mounted back box (top, left, 

right conduit entry). Use when there 
is no junction box available.

Options Finish

E4WH Emergency battery backup, Certified in CA Title 20 MAEDBS 
(4W, 0°C min)

E10WH Emergency battery backup, Certified in CA Title 20 MAEDBS 
(10W, 5°C min)

E20WC Emergency battery backup, Certified in CA Title 20 MAEDBS 
(18W, -20°C min)

PE 4 Photocell, Button Type
DS 5 Dual switching (comes with 2 drivers and 2 light engines; see 

page 3 for details)
DMG 6 0-10V dimming wires pulled outside fixture (for use with an 

external control, ordered separately)
BCE Bottom conduit entry for back box (PBBW). Total of 4 entry points.

BAA Buy America(n) Act Compliant

Standalone Sensors/Controls  (only available with P1SW, P2SW & P3SW)

PIR Bi-level (100/35%) motion sensor for 8-15’ mounting heights. Intended for use on 
switched circuits with external dusk to dawn switching.

PIRH Bi-level (100/35%) motion sensor for 15-30’ mounting heights. Intended for use on 
switched circuits with external dusk to dawn switching

PIR1FC3V Bi-level (100/35%) motion sensor for 8-15’ mounting heights with photocell pre-
programmed for dusk to dawn operation. 

PIRH1FC3V Bi-level (100/35%) motion sensor for 15-30’ mounting heights with photocell pre-
programmed for dusk to dawn operation. 

Networked Sensors/Controls  (only available with P1SW, P2SW & P3SW)

NLTAIR2 PIR nLightAIR Wireless enabled bi-level motion/ambient sensor for 8-15’ mounting heights. 
NLTAIR2 PIRH nLightAIR Wireless enabled bi-level motion/ambient sensor for 15-30’ mounting heights. 
See page 4 for out of box functionality

DDBXD Dark bronze
DBLXD Black
DNAXD Natural aluminum
DWHXD White
DSSXD Sandstone
DDBTXD Textured dark bronze
DBLBXD Textured black
DNATXD Textured natural aluminum
DWHGXD Textured white
DSSTXD Textured sandstone

Ordering Information EXAMPLE: WDGE2 LED P3 40K 80CRI VF MVOLT SRM DDBXD

WDGE LED Family Overview

D1W

D2

H

Luminaire Optics Standard EM, 0°C Cold EM, -20°C Sensor
Approximate Lumens (4000K, 80CRI)

P0 P1 P2 P3 P4 P5 P6

WDGE1 LED Visual Comfort 4W -- 750 1,200 2,000 -- -- -- --

WDGE2 LED Visual Comfort 10W 18W Standalone / nLight -- 1,200 2,000 3,000 4,500 6,000 --

WDGE2 LED Precision Refractive 10W 18W Standalone / nLight 700 1,200 2,000 3,200 4,200 -- --

WDGE3 LED Precision Refractive 15W 18W Standalone / nLight -- 7,500 8,500 10,000 12,000 -- --

WDGE4 LED Precision Refractive Standalone / nLight -- 12,000 16,000 18,000 20,000 22,000 25,000

FIXTURES DONOTED AS 'UU1'

44 of 176

http://www.lithonia.com
http://www.lithonia.com
http://www.lithonia.com/Micro_Webs/ArchitecturalColors/


ZR D

Family Size Series Lumen Package CRI/CCT Lens* Voltage Controls Factory Installed Options**

ZR 14 D 30L
3,000 Lumens
40L
4,000 Lumens

50L
5,000 Lumens
60L
6,000 Lumens

830
80 CRI, 
3000K
835
80 CRI, 
3500K
840
80 CRI, 
4000K
850
80 CRI, 
5000K

AR
FLX Arc 
CV
ZR Curve
SQ
Square 

UNV 
 - Universal 120-277V

UC
 - 120-347V
 - Not available with 26L or 30L 
lumen packages

 - Available only with10V5 control
34

 - 347V
 - Not available with 10V5 control

10V1
 - 0-10V 1% Dimming

10V5 
 - 0-10V 5% Dimming

SC1
 - SmartCast Wireless Technology with 1% 
Dimming, Integral motion and ambient 
sensors

 - Utilizes a multifunction sensor
AWNR+

 - Lutron Athena Wireless Integral Fixture Control 
(RF only) with 1% Dimming

 - Utilizes a DALI2 driver
AWNS+ 

 - Lutron Athena Wireless Integral Fixture 
Control with 1% Dimming, Occupancy and 
Daylight Sensing 

 - Utilizes a DALI2 driver
 - Utilizes a multifunction sensor

EB Emergency Backup
 - Available with UNV voltage only
 - Provides 10W & 90 minutes of 

emergency operation
 - GT and EB cannot be used 

together
GT Generator Transfer Device

 - Available with UNV voltage only
 - GT and EB cannot be used 

together

22 26L
2,600 Lumens
30L
3,000 Lumens

40L
4,000 Lumens
50L
5,000 Lumens

24 30L
3,000 Lumens
40L
4,000 Lumens
50L
5,000 Lumens
60L
6,000 Lumens

70L
7,000 Lumens
80L
8,000 Lumens
100L
10,000 Lumens

Rev. Date: V7 10/18/2024

Product Description
The ZR LED troffer provides energy productivity and code compliance – all with installation that's so intuitive and 
simple. The ZR Series delivers from 2,600 to 10,000 lumens and 80 CRI quality light and is perfect for both new 
construction and renovation. Multiple control options (0-10V, SmartCast® Technology, Lutron Athena) some of 
which incorporate integrated ambient and occupancy sensing and wireless communication which results in lower 
electricity bills, reduced maintenance and an improved total cost of ownership over traditional lighting control 
systems. The ZR LED troffer embodies a breakthrough in balancing energy savings, visual comfort and project 
budgets.

Efficacy: Up to 159 LPW

Initial Delivered Lumens: 2,600 - 10,000

Input Power: 18-70W 

CRI: 80+ 

CCT: 3000K, 3500K, 4000K, 5000K

Input Voltage: 120-277 VAC, 120-347 VAC, 347VAC

Limited Warranty†: 5 years standard for luminaire, SmartCast controls, and Lutron AWNR and AWNS controls; up 
to 5 years for SmartCast® accessories; 1 year for luminaire accessories

Limited Warranty Emergency Back Up (EB) Battery: 1 year for Battery Back Up. Test regularly in accordance with 
local code

Controls: 0-10V, SmartCast Wireless, Lutron Athena

Mounting: Recessed (Designed for use in most ceiling grids including standard 1 ½", 9/16", 15/16", hard ceiling, 
and surface mounting)

Room-side accessible removable lens

Assembled in the USA by Cree Lighting from US and imported parts

Performance Summary

Accessories 

† See https://www.creelighting.com/resources/warranties/ for warranty terms. For SmartCast accessories, consult SmartCast spec sheets for details on 
warranty terms.

Field-Installed

Drywall Grid Adapter
DGA14-WHT 1x4, Single Pack
DGA14-WHT-10PK 1x4, 10-Pack
DGA22-WHT 2x2, Single Pack
DGA22-WHT-10PK 2x2, 10-Pack
DGA24-WHT 2x4, Single Pack
DGA24-WHT-10PK 2x4, 10-Pack
Surface Mount Kit
SMK-FLX14 (1x4)
SMK-FLX22 (2x2)
SMK-FLX24 (2x4)
- Not for use with AWNR control

SmartCast® Technology  Configura-
tion Tool
CCT-CWC-1
- One required per project when SC1 
control is selected
SmartCast® Technology Face Plates
CFP-1-WH
- Matching face plate, 1-gang, white
CFP-2-WH
- Matching face plate, 2-gang, white
SmartCast® Technology Wireless 
Dimmer
CSC-CWD-UNVN-WH (neutral wire 
required)
CSC-CWD-UNV-WH (no neutral required)

SmartCast® Technology Wireless Switch
CSC-CWS-UNVN-WH (neutral wire 
required)
CSC-CWS-UNV-WH (no neutral required)
SmartCast® 5-Button Wireless Scene 
Controller
CSC-SC-A-5B-UNVN-WH (w/o text)
CSC-SC-A-5S-UNVN-WH (w/scene text)
CSC-SC-A-5X-UNVN-WH (w/custom text) 
SmartCast® Technology Wireless Plug 
Load Controller
CPLC-JB-CWC
SmartCast® 10V Zone Controller
CSC-ZC-10V-CWC
- Intelligent sensing and control of
   0-10V luminaires

Ordering Information
Example: ZR24-D-60L-835-CV-UNV-10V5

* Refer to page 6 for lens images.
**Consult factory for other options.
†More information on Lutron controls can be found at lutron.com.

10V1/10V5 CONTROL

Shown with CRV Lens

Shown with ARC Lens

Refer to page 6 for lens assembly images and dimensions as well as dimensional 
information for SC1, AWNR, and AWNS controls. 

10V1/10V5 Dimensions

DIM "A" DIM "A" w/EB DIM "B" DIM "C" Weight Weight w/EB

1x4 4.1" (104mm) 4.0" (101mm) 11.7" (298mm) 47.7" (1213mm) 11.0 lbs. (5.0kg) 16.0 lbs. (7.3kg)

2x2 4.1" (104mm) 3.3" (84mm) 23.7" (603mm) 23.8" (604mm) 9.0 lbs. (4.1kg) 14.0 lbs. (6.4kg)

2x4 4.1" (104mm) 3.3" (84mm) 23.7" (603mm) 47.7" (1213mm) 15.0 lbs. (6.8kg) 20.0 lbs. (9.1kg)

C

B

A

Website: creelighting.com
US: (800) 236-6800  Canada: (800) 473-1234

ZR Series 
ZR14™, ZR22™, and ZR24™ LED Troffers - Version D

FIXTURES DENOTED AS 'UEK1' & 'UEK2'

45 of 176

https://www.creelighting.com/resources/warranties/
https://cree.widen.net/s/wnp2wbl6v6/dga-drywall-grid-adaptor-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/wnp2wbl6v6/dga-drywall-grid-adaptor-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/wnp2wbl6v6/dga-drywall-grid-adaptor-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/wnp2wbl6v6/dga-drywall-grid-adaptor-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/wnp2wbl6v6/dga-drywall-grid-adaptor-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/wnp2wbl6v6/dga-drywall-grid-adaptor-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/spczmdqvxx/flx14-troffer-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/spczmdqvxx/flx14-troffer-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/spczmdqvxx/flx14-troffer-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/xvk5fxcwxd/smartcastr-wireless-switch-and-dimmers-spec-sheet-version-b
https://cree.widen.net/s/xvk5fxcwxd/smartcastr-wireless-switch-and-dimmers-spec-sheet-version-b
https://cree.widen.net/s/xvk5fxcwxd/smartcastr-wireless-switch-and-dimmers-spec-sheet-version-b
https://cree.widen.net/s/xvk5fxcwxd/smartcastr-wireless-switch-and-dimmers-spec-sheet-version-b
https://cree.widen.net/s/zdhm6tjbdw/smartcastr-wireless-scene-controller-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/zdhm6tjbdw/smartcastr-wireless-scene-controller-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/zdhm6tjbdw/smartcastr-wireless-scene-controller-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/zgvpkg9l5m/smartcastr-wireless-plug-load-controller-spec-sheet
https://cree.widen.net/s/cb92jr9grl/smartcast-0-10v-zone-controller-spec-sheet
https://www.lutron.com
https://www.creelighting.com


STAFF REPORT 
 

PB-2025-01 – SUBDIVISION – TWO LOT SUBDIVISION – 238-260 MAIN ST 
 
Request: 
Applicant Huntley Survey & Design, PLLC, on behalf of owner the University System of New 
Hampshire, proposes a 2-lot subdivision of the ~0.96-ac parcel at 238-260 Main Street (TMP 
#590-101-000) into two lots ~0.48-ac and ~0.46-ac in size. The property is located in the 
Downtown Transition District. 
 
Background: 
The subject parcel is an existing, 0.942 ac parcel located on the east side of Main St at 238-260 
Main St, directly south of the Main St, Winchester St, and Marlboro St roundabout. The parcel is a 
“U” shape that straddles the Historical Society of Cheshire County (HSCC) at 246 Main St. The 
parcel contains two buildings, a parking area, and associated drive aisles. The parking area is 
located between the two buildings and directly behind the HCSS building and parking area.  
 
The purpose of this application is to 
subdivide the existing developed parcel 
into two lots. Lot 1 will be 0.480 ac in 
size with 70’ of frontage on Main St and 
street access from Main St. Lot 2 will be 
0.463 ac in size with 63’ of frontage on 
Main St and 172’ ft on Proctor Ct and 
street access from Proctor Ct. 
 
The proposed subdivision creates a 
unique situation in that the proposed lot 
line will make the parking area non-
conforming in regard to the pavement 
setback requirement in Section 9.4.2, 
table 9-2 of the Land Development Code 
(LDC). The subdivision will also make 
Lot 1 non-conforming in regard to the 
impervious surface requirement in 
Section 4.6.2 of the LDC.  
 
If the subject parcel were private property, this subdivision would not be allowed to proceed 
without first addressing these non-conformities by either obtaining variances for them or altering 
the site to remove them. Since the property is currently owned and used by Keene State College, 
the application is protected from these non-conformities by RSA 674:54 “Governmental Land 
Use” and can proceed to the Planning Board. However, it is important to note that any future non-
governmental users of either parcel will have to remedy these non-conformities, and any other 
non-conformities created by this application, before a change of use can be permitted. The 
approval of this plan by the Planning Board will not cure the non-conformities created by this 
application. A note regarding this issue has been added to the plan to make any future owner 
and/or user of these properties aware of the situation. The note reads as follows: 
 
“This subdivision is of governmentally owned land and was therefore made pursuant to RSA 674:54, 
Governmental Land Uses. The subdivision creates potential nonconformities with section 4.6.2 

Fig.1. Subject parcel outlined in yellow. 

46 of 176



STAFF REPORT 
 

Buildout of the Land Development Code in regard to the impervious surface maximum on Lot 1 and 
section 9.4.2 Dimensions & Siting, Table 9-2 of the Land Development Code in regard to the parking 
area pavement setback on Lots 1 & 2. Planning Board approval of this plat shall not be deemed to 
cure any non-conformity with existing local land use ordinances. Any future use of either lot that is 
not governmental use will be subject to these provisions and may necessitate correction of the 
nonconformities or variances from the Zoning Board of Adjustment.” 
   
Determination of Regional Impact: 
After reviewing the application, staff have made a preliminary evaluation that the proposed 
subdivision does not appear to have the potential for “regional impact” as defined in RSA 36:55. 
The Board will need to make a final determination as to whether the proposal, if approved, could 
have the potential for regional impact. 
 
Completeness: 
The applicant has requested an exemption from submitting a traffic analysis, drainage report, soil 
analysis, and other technical reports and analyses. After reviewing each exemption request, staff 
have made the preliminary determination that granting the request would have no bearing on the 
merits of the application and recommend that the Board accept the application as complete. 
 
Application Analysis: The following is a review of the Planning Board development standards 
relevant to this application.  
 
20.2.1 Lots: The proposed lots are greater than the minimum required area of 8,000 SF and both 

have greater than 50’ of frontage on a class V roadway. As noted previously in this staff 
report, this subdivision would create new nonconformities with respect to maximum 
impervious surface coverage for Lot 1 and the parking area and pavement setback for 
both Lot 1 and Lot 2. This standard has not been met; however, State Statute pre-empts 
the Planning Board’s authority to enforce this standard on lots that are used by a 
governmental entity. 

20.2.2 Character of Land for Subdivision: The applicant states in their narrative that the land for 
the proposed subdivision is already completely developed in the urban compact area. The 
proposed subdivision is intended to separate an existing building into its own lot for future 
sale. This standard does not apply. 

20.2.3 Scattered or Premature Development: The applicant states in their narrative that the 
subject parcel is already developed and located within the urban compact. No additional 
development is proposed at this time. Due to the built-up nature of the downtown area, 
this proposal is not scattered or premature as municipal facilities and services are readily 
available in the area. It appears that this standard has been met. 

20.2.4 Preservation of Existing Features: The applicant states in their narrative that the subject 
parcel is already developed, and no additional development is proposed with this 
application. This standard is not applicable. 

20.2.5 Monumentation: The applicant states in their narrative that proposed monumentation will 
be either 5/8” rebar with aluminum caps, railroad spikes, or brass disks. The 

47 of 176



STAFF REPORT 
 

monumentation will meet the requirements of Article 23 of the Land Development Code. 
It appears that this standard has been met. 

20.2.6 Special Flood Hazard Areas: The subject parcel is not located within any special flood 
hazard zone. This standard is not applicable. 

20.2.7 Fire Protection & Water Supply: The applicant states in their narrative that the subject 
parcel is located within the downtown area where there are fire protection facilities such 
as fire hydrants and the fire station nearby. There is adequate water supply in the area for 
fire protection. It appears that this standard has been met. 

20.2.8 Utilities: The subject parcel is located within the downtown area where municipal water 
and sewer is available. The existing buildings are served by these utilities. No new 
development is proposed with this application. It appears that this standard has been met. 

Recommended Motion:  
If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following language is recommended for a 
motion:  

“Approve PB-2025-01 as shown on the plan set identified as “Two Lot Subdivision” prepared by 
Huntley Survey & Design, PLLC at a scale of 1 inch = 20 feet, dated August 20, 2024 and last 
revised February 11, 2025 with the following conditions: 

1. Prior to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following conditions 
precedent shall be met: 

A. Owner’s signature appears on the plan. 
B. Inspection of lot monuments by the Public Works Director or their designee 

following their installation or the submittal of a security in an amount deemed 
satisfactory to the Public Works Director to ensure that the monuments will be 
set. 

C. Submittal of four (4) full sized paper copies, two (2) mylar copies, and a digital 
copy of the final plan set. 

D. Submittal of a check in the amount of $51.00 made out to the City of Keene to 
cover recording fees.” 

 

48 of 176



49 of 176



Huntley Survey & Design, PLLC 
New Hampshire & Vermont - Land Surveying * Wetlands Delineation & Permitting * Septic System Design 

659 West Road, Temple, New Hampshire 03084 * (603) 924-1669 Office * (603) 381-3227 Cell 
Email: Russ@huntleysurvey.com 

C:\Users\mfortson\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\EFENPAO2\2025-02-06 H24-
044 KSC Sub Project Narrrative.docx 

 
 

Two Lot Subdivision 
Land of The University System of NH 

238-260 Main Street Keene, NH 
 

February 6, 2025 
 

Project Narrative 

The University System of NH currently owns a .942-acre parcel of land, tax map parcel 590-101-
000, located at 238 and 260 Main Street in Keene. They wish to subdivide the parcel into two 
lots. The proposed lots are as follows: The first proposed lot contains the existing building at 238 
Main Street along with the parking lot directly behind said building. The second proposed lot 
contains the existing building at 260 Main Street, at the intersection of Main Street and Proctor 
Court, along with the section of the parking lot which falls within the original parcel that is 
located directly behind the Cheshire Historical Society (tax map parcel 590-100-000).  
 
The parcel lies within the Downtown Transition Zone, which requires a minimum of 8,000 
square feet per lot and 50’ of road frontage on a Class V or better highway. The proposed lots are 
in keeping with the current development in the area.  
 
Colin Burdick, Assistant Director of Facilities Services at Keene State College, retained Huntley 
Survey & Design to perform the necessary boundary & topographic surveys for the project. 
Huntley survey has prepared the subdivision plat and application. If approved, the proposed 
subdivision will be monumented with 5/8” rebar with aluminum caps, railroad spikes, or brass 
disks at each new corner and all existing, unmarked corners. 
 
Lot 1, with the existing building, driveway, and parking lot, will have 70’ feet of frontage on 
Main Street, and .480 acres (20,903 Sq.Ft.). Access will be the driveway off Main Street. 
 
Lot 2, with the existing building, parking lot, and driveway, will have 63’ feet of frontage on 
Main Street and 172’ feet on Proctor Court, and will contain .463 acres (20,148 Sq.Ft.). Access 
will be the driveway off Proctor Court.  
 
Both lots are currently serviced by town water and sewer.  
 
No development beyond the division of the lots is proposed at this time. 
  

50 of 176



2025-02-06 H24-044 KSC Sub Project Narrrative 
2/6/2025 

Page 2 of 2 

 

Huntley Survey & Design, PLLC 
New Hampshire & Vermont ~ Land Surveying * Wetlands Delineation & Permitting * Septic System Design 

659 West Road, Temple, New Hampshire 03084 * (603) 924-1669 Office * (603) 381-3227 Cell 
Email: Russ@huntleysurvey.com 

 

Subdivision Review Standards 19.2  
The City of Keene Subdivision review standards will be met, or waivers will be requested as 
follows: 

19.2.1 Lots 
There are no minimum lot size, depth or frontage requirements. The standard is met. 

19.2.2 Character of Land 
This standard does not apply. The land is already developed in a downtown setting. The proposal 
is only to divide the parcel into two lots. 

19.2.3 Scattered or Premature Development 
The same as Standard 19.2.2 

19.2.4 Preservation of Existing Features 
There are no currently proposed changes to the site.  

19.2.5 Monumentation 
If approved, the proposed adjustment will be monumented with 5/8” rebar with aluminum caps, 
railroad spikes, or brass disks 

19.2.6 Special Flood Hazard Areas 
The subject parcels do not lie within a special flood hazard area. 

19.2.7 Fire Protection and Water Supply 
The subject parcels lie within the Downtown area and are served by municipal water supply. 
There are a number of fire hydrants within the vicinity and no new development is proposed, so 
the project meets this standard. 

 

51 of 176

mailto:Russ@huntleysurvey.com


S

S

S

S

W

W

W

W

W

BENCHMARK

ELEV=476.77'

B
U

ILD
IN

G
 S

E
TB

A
C

K
 LIN

E

T

T

478

477

477

477

47
7

477

478

477

47
7

47
7

477

478

47
8

478

478

478

477

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

E

E

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

W

W

W

W

W

S

W

W

W

[590-101]
UNIVERSITY

SYSTEM OF NH
238-260 Main Street

Keene, NH 03431
551/241, 529/581, 430/236

0.942 Acres±
41,050 Sq,Ft.±

134' Frontage Main St.
172' Frontage Proctor Ct.

[590-092]
JARED GOODELL

3 Aliber Pl.
Keene, NH 03431

3267/468

[590-103]
DONNA J. FORTE

28 Proctor Ct
Keene, NH 03431

2924/1125

[590-093]
JARED GOODELL

57 Marlboro St.
Keene, NH 03431

3267/485

[590-095]
LEANAI LLC
53 Marlboro St.

Keene, NH 03431
2979/413

[590-096]
WOODCOCK HOLDINGS

LLC
47 Marlboro St.

Keene, NH 03431
3035/271

[590-099]
UNIVERSITY

SYSTEM OF NH
232 Main Street

Keene, NH 03431
2115/650

[590-100]
HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF

CHESHIRE COUNTY
246 Main Street

Keene, NH 03431
1461/378

[590-102]
LYNN M. KEMPF

26 Proctor Ct.
Keene, NH 03431

3240/288

14' R
O

W
 FO

R
 IN

G
R

ESS & EG
R

ESS BEFITTIN
G

TH
E H

ISTO
R

IC
AL SO

C
IETY 2591/943

Existing Conditions
Two Lot Subdivision

LAND OF

University System of NH
located at

Tax Map 590 Lot 101
238-260 Main Street, Keene, Cheshire County, New Hampshire

551/241, 529/581, 430/236

Surveyed 08/2024         Plan prepared 08/20/2024
Project No. H24-044          Cad File No. H24-044 Sub.dwg

Huntley Survey & Design, PLLC

NH & VT Land Surveying, Wetlands & NH Septic System Design
659 West Road, Temple, NH 03084          (603) 924-1669          www.huntleysurvey.com

33.

Keene
New Hampshire

PROJECT
LOCATION

HD

Surveyor's Certification
PURSUANT TO RSA 676: 18 III AND RSA 672: 14, I CERTIFY THAT THIS SURVEY AND PLAT WERE PRODUCED BY ME OR
THOSE UNDER MY DIRECT SUPERVISION FROM A TOTAL STATION AND DATA COLLECTOR TRAVERSE WITH A POSITION
TOLERANCE THAT MEETS OR EXCEEDS NH LAN 500 AND THE ALLOWABLE RELATIVE POSITIONAL ACCURACY REQUIRED
BY THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE IN TABLE 500.1, "ACCURACY MEASUREMENTS, LOCAL ACCURACY OF CONTROL
SUPPORTING THE SURVEY," AND IS BASED ON INFORMATION RECORDED AT THE CHESHIRE COUNTY REGISTRY OF
DEEDS AS REFERENCED HEREON, INFORMATION PROVIDED BY THE CLIENT AND PHYSICAL EVIDENCE FOUND.

Zoning
THE ZONING FOR THIS PARCEL IS [ DT-T ] - DOWNTOWN TRANSITION

MAX HEIGHT 40'
LOT SIZE 8,000sf
FRONTAGE 50'
LOT WIDTH AT BUILDING 60'

SETBACKS
FRONT SETBACK 15'
SIDE SETBACK 10'
SIDE CORNER SETBACK 10'
REAR  SETBACK 15'

COVERAGE
MAX BUILDING COVERAGE 50%
MAX IMPERVIOUS SURFACE 70%
MIN GREEN/OPEN SPACE 30%

20 0 10 20 40 80

1" = 20'

Graphic Scale

BYREVISIONDATENO.

Locus Map

Plan References
REFERENCES INCLUDE ALL INFORMATION REFERRED TO ON ANY OF THE FOLLOWING PLANS

1. KEENE STATE COLLEGE, EXISTING CONDITION PLAN, ALONG MAIN STREET, MARLBORO STREET & PROCTOR
COURT, KEENE, NH, DATED AUGUST 9, 2007; BY RUSSELL J. HUNTLEY, SVE ASSOCIATES. (Obtained From SVE & used
with Permission.)

2. ALUMNI-ADVANCEMENT BUILDING UTILITY PLAN C-100, DATED NOVEMBER 19, 2007, BY SVE ASSOCIATES.(Obtained
From SVE & used with Permission.)

Notes

1. NORTH SHOWN ON THIS PLAN IS REFERENCED TO NAD83 NH STATE PLANE GRID, BASED ON A STATIC GPS
SURVEY PERFORMED IN CONJUNCTION WITH PLAN REFERENCE No.1.

2. THE BOUNDARY LINES SHOWN ON THIS PLAN WERE CALCULATED FROM DEEDS, RECORD PLANS & PHYSICAL
EVIDENCE FOUND DURING THE FIELD SURVEY. THE SURVEYED PARCEL IS SUBJECT TO ANY RIGHTS AND
EASEMENTS OF RECORD AND ANY STATEMENT OF FACTS THAT AN UP TO DATE TITLE REPORT MAY REVEAL.

3. TOPOGRAPHY SHOWN ON THIS PLAN WAS DEVELOPED FROM AN ACTUAL FIELD SURVEY BY HUNTLEY SURVEY &
DESIGN, PLLC PERFORMED DURING THE MONTH OF AUGUST, 2024. THE VERTICAL DATUM IS NAVD88 BASED ON
N.H.D.O.T. DISK #237-0030, LOCATED ON THE EASTERLY SIDE OF MAIN STREET, ON THE WESTERLY END OF A
CONCRETE HEADER ON THE BRIDGE OVER BEAVER BROOK WITH AN ELEVATION OF 471.71'. CONTOUR INTERVAL
IS ONE (1) FOOT.

4. TOTAL LOT AREA: 0.942 ACRES± (41,050 Sq.Ft.±)
FRONTAGE: MAIN STREET 134' PROCTOR COURT 172'

5. UNDERGROUND UTILITIES, STRUCTURES AND FACILITIES HAVE BEEN PLOTTED FROM FIELD SURVEY OF SURFACE
LOCATIONS AND DATA OBTAINED FROM PREVIOUS MAPS AND RECORDS. THEIR EXISTENCE AND LOCATIONS
MUST BE CONSIDERED APPROXIMATE. THERE MAY BE OTHER UNDERGROUND UTILITIES THE EXISTENCE OF
WHICH WERE NOT KNOWN OR INVESTIGATED AT THE TIME OF SURVEY. THE SIZE AND LOCATION OF ALL UTILITIES
AND STRUCTURES MUST BE VERIFIED PRIOR TO ANY AND ALL CONSTRUCTION. CALL DIG-SAFE PRIOR TO ANY
CONSTRUCTION.

6. THERE WERE NO JURISDICTIONAL WETLANDS OBSERVED BY HUNTLEY SURVEY & DESIGN ON THIS SITE.

6. THE PARCEL(S) SHOWN ARE LOCATED IN ZONE X AND ARE NOT WITHIN A SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA. SEE
FEMA PANEL 3305C0267E EFFECTIVELY DATED MAY 23, 2006.

7. THE PARCELS SURVEYED ARE SERVICED BY MUNICIPAL UTILITIES AND HAVE EXISTING DRIVEWAYS.

Symbol Legend

DRAIN MANHOLE
CATCH BASIN

WATER VALVE
HYDRANT

SEWER MANHOLE
UTILITY POLE
ELECTRIC MANHOLE
ELECTRICAL BOX/PEDESTAL
LIGHT POLE
SIGN
POST/BOLLARD

WOOD RAIL/STOCKADE FENCE
CHAIN LINK FENCE

HANDRAIL
EDGE OF PAVEMENT
CONCRETE

STONE/CONCRETE BOUND
NAIL

IRON PIN/PIPE

DEED VOLUME & PAGE
TAX MAP PARCEL NUMBER

CCRD

123/456
[1-2-3]

CHESHIRE REGISTRY OF DEEDS

DECIDUOUS TREE

EDGE OF GRAVEL

EMERGENCY PHONE/LIGHT

DECIDUOUS TREE

52 of 176



S

S

S

S

W

W

W

W

W

BENCHMARK

ELEV=476.77'

B
U

ILD
IN

G
 S

E
TB

A
C

K
 LIN

E

T

T

478

477

477

477

47
7

477

478

477

47
7

47
7

477

478

47
8

478

478

478

477

[Lot 1]
0.480 Acres±

20,903 Sq,Ft.±
70' Frontage±

238 Main Street

[Lot 2]
0.463 Acres±

20,148 Sq,Ft.±
63' Frontage±  Main St

172' Frontage±  Proctor Ct

260 Main Street

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

E

E

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

W

W

W

W

W

S

W

W

W

[590-092]
JARED GOODELL

3 Aliber Pl.
Keene, NH 03431

3267/468

[590-103]
DONNA J. FORTE

28 Proctor Ct
Keene, NH 03431

2924/1125

[590-093]
JARED GOODELL

57 Marlboro St.
Keene, NH 03431

3267/485

[590-095]
LEANAI LLC
53 Marlboro St.

Keene, NH 03431
2979/413

[590-096]
WOODCOCK HOLDINGS

LLC
47 Marlboro St.

Keene, NH 03431
3035/271

[590-099]
UNIVERSITY

SYSTEM OF NH
232 Main Street

Keene, NH 03431
2115/650

[590-100]
HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF

CHESHIRE COUNTY
246 Main Street

Keene, NH 03431
1461/378

[590-102]
LYNN M. KEMPF

26 Proctor Ct.
Keene, NH 03431

3240/288

14' R
O

W
 FO

R
 IN

G
R

ESS & EG
R

ESS BEFITTIN
G

TH
E H

ISTO
R

IC
AL SO

C
IETY 2591/943

Keene
New Hampshire

PROJECT
LOCATION

HD

Surveyor's Certification
PURSUANT TO RSA 676: 18 III AND RSA 672: 14, I CERTIFY THAT THIS SURVEY AND PLAT WERE PRODUCED BY ME OR
THOSE UNDER MY DIRECT SUPERVISION FROM A TOTAL STATION AND DATA COLLECTOR TRAVERSE WITH A POSITION
TOLERANCE THAT MEETS OR EXCEEDS NH LAN 500 AND THE ALLOWABLE RELATIVE POSITIONAL ACCURACY REQUIRED
BY THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE IN TABLE 500.1, "ACCURACY MEASUREMENTS, LOCAL ACCURACY OF CONTROL
SUPPORTING THE SURVEY," AND IS BASED ON INFORMATION RECORDED AT THE CHESHIRE COUNTY REGISTRY OF
DEEDS AS REFERENCED HEREON, INFORMATION PROVIDED BY THE CLIENT AND PHYSICAL EVIDENCE FOUND.

Zoning
THE ZONING FOR THIS PARCEL IS [ DT-T ] -

DOWNTOWN TRANSITIONAL

MAX HEIGHT 40
LOT SIZE 8,000sf
FRONTAGE 50'
LOT WIDTH AT BUILDING 60'

SETBACKS
FRONT SETBACK 15'
SIDE SETBACK 10'
SIDE CORNER SETBACK 10'
REAR  SETBACK 15'

COVERAGE
MAX BUILDING COVERAGE 50%
MAX IMPERVIOUS SURFACE 70%
MIN GREEN/OPEN SPACE 30%

20 0 10 20 40 80

1" = 20'

Graphic Scale

BYREVISIONDATENO.
RJHGovernmental uses note1 2/11/25

APPROVED BY THE
KEENE PLANNING BOARD

BY:_________________________________CHAIRMAN

ON:____________________________________________

_______________________________________________

_______________________________________________

_______________________________________________

_______________________________________________

_______________________________________________

________________________________________________

Locus Map

Two Lot Subdivision

LAND OF

University System of NH
located at

Tax Map 590 Lot 101
238-260 Main Street, Keene, Cheshire County, New Hampshire

551/241, 529/581, 430/236

Surveyed 08/2024         Plan prepared 08/20/2024
Project No. H24-044          Cad File No. H24-044 Sub.dwg

Huntley Survey & Design, PLLC

NH & VT Land Surveying, Wetlands & NH Septic System Design
659 West Road, Temple, NH 03084          (603) 924-1669          www.huntleysurvey.com

33.

Plan References
REFERENCES INCLUDE ALL INFORMATION REFERRED TO ON ANY OF THE FOLLOWING PLANS

1. KEENE STATE COLLEGE, EXISTING CONDITION PLAN, ALONG MAIN STREET, MARLBORO STREET & PROCTOR
COURT, KEENE, NH, DATED AUGUST 9, 2007; BY RUSSELL J. HUNTLEY, SVE ASSOCIATES. (Obtained From SVE & used
with Permission.)

2. ALUMNI-ADVANCEMENT BUILDING UTILITY PLAN C-100, DATED NOVEMBER 19, 2007, BY SVE ASSOCIATES.(Obtained
From SVE & used with Permission.)

Notes

1. NORTH SHOWN ON THIS PLAN IS REFERENCED TO NAD83 NH STATE PLANE GRID, BASED ON A STATIC GPS
SURVEY PERFORMED IN CONJUNCTION WITH PLAN REFERENCE No.1.

2. THE BOUNDARY LINES SHOWN ON THIS PLAN WERE CALCULATED FROM DEEDS, RECORD PLANS & PHYSICAL
EVIDENCE FOUND DURING THE FIELD SURVEY. THE SURVEYED PARCEL IS SUBJECT TO ANY RIGHTS AND
EASEMENTS OF RECORD AND ANY STATEMENT OF FACTS THAT AN UP TO DATE TITLE REPORT MAY REVEAL.

3. TOPOGRAPHY SHOWN ON THIS PLAN WAS DEVELOPED FROM AN ACTUAL FIELD SURVEY BY HUNTLEY SURVEY &
DESIGN, PLLC PERFORMED DURING THE MONTH OF AUGUST, 2024. THE VERTICAL DATUM IS NAVD88 BASED ON
N.H.D.O.T. DISK #237-0030, LOCATED ON THE EASTERLY SIDE OF MAIN STREET, ON THE WESTERLY END OF A
CONCRETE HEADER ON THE BRIDGE OVER BEAVER BROOK WITH AN ELEVATION OF 471.71'. CONTOUR INTERVAL
IS ONE (1) FOOT.

4. LOT TOTALS:

[LOT 1]
TOTAL AREA: .480  ACRES± (20,903 Sq.Ft.±)
FRONTAGE: MAIN STREET 70'

[LOT 2]
TOTAL AREA: .463  ACRES± (20,148 Sq.Ft.±)
FRONTAGE: MAIN STREET 63'

PROCTOR COURT 172'

5. UNDERGROUND UTILITIES, STRUCTURES AND FACILITIES HAVE BEEN PLOTTED FROM FIELD SURVEY OF SURFACE
LOCATIONS AND DATA OBTAINED FROM PREVIOUS MAPS AND RECORDS. THEIR EXISTENCE AND LOCATIONS
MUST BE CONSIDERED APPROXIMATE. THERE MAY BE OTHER UNDERGROUND UTILITIES THE EXISTENCE OF
WHICH WERE NOT KNOWN OR INVESTIGATED AT THE TIME OF SURVEY. THE SIZE AND LOCATION OF ALL UTILITIES
AND STRUCTURES MUST BE VERIFIED PRIOR TO ANY AND ALL CONSTRUCTION. CALL DIG-SAFE PRIOR TO ANY
CONSTRUCTION.

6. THERE WERE NO JURISDICTIONAL WETLANDS OBSERVED BY HUNTLEY SURVEY & DESIGN ON THIS SITE.

6. THE PARCEL(S) SHOWN ARE LOCATED IN ZONE X AND ARE NOT WITHIN A SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA. SEE
FEMA PANEL 3305C0267E EFFECTIVELY DATED MAY 23, 2006.

7. THE PARCELS SURVEYED ARE SERVICED BY MUNICIPAL UTILITIES AND HAVE EXISTING DRIVEWAYS.

Symbol Legend

DRAIN MANHOLE
CATCH BASIN

WATER VALVE
HYDRANT

SEWER MANHOLE
UTILITY POLE
ELECTRIC MANHOLE
ELECTRICAL BOX/PEDESTAL
LIGHT POLE
SIGN
POST/BOLLARD

WOOD RAIL/STOCKADE FENCE
CHAIN LINK FENCE

HANDRAIL

EDGE OF PAVEMENT
CONCRETE

STONE/CONCRETE BOUND
NAIL
IRON PIN/PIPE

DEED VOLUME & PAGE
TAX MAP PARCEL NUMBER

CCRD

123/456
[1-2-3]

CHESHIRE REGISTRY OF DEEDS

EDGE OF GRAVEL

EMERGENCY PHONE/LIGHT

DECIDUOUS TREE

5/8" REBAR WITH #877 CAP SET
RAILROAD SPIKE SET

BRASS #877 DISK SET
CAPPED 5/8" REBARCRB

Owner Certification
I CERTIFY THAT I/WE AM/ARE THE CURRENT OWNER(S) OF THE
TRACTS SHOWN HEREON AND THAT I APPROVE OF THE
SUBDIVISION.

___________________________________
OWNER'S SIGNATURE            DATE

Owners of Record

[590-101] ~ 238-260 MAIN STREET
UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF NH

5 CHENELL DRIVE #301
CONCORD, NH 03301

551/241, 529/581, 430/236

Governmental Uses
THIS SUBDIVISION IS OF GOVERNMENTALLY OWNED LAND AND WAS THEREFORE MADE
PURSUANT TO RSA 674:54, GOVERNMENTAL LAND USES. THE SUBDIVISION CREATES
POTENTIAL NONCONFORMITIES WITH SECTION 4.6.2 BUILDOUT OF THE LAND
DEVELOPMENT CODE IN REGARD TO THE IMPERVIOUS SURFACE MAXIMUM ON LOT 1
AND SECTION 9.4.2 DIMENSIONS & SITING, TABLE 9-2 OF THE LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE
IN REGARD TO THE PARKING AREA PAVEMENT SETBACK ON LOTS 1 & 2. PLANNING
BOARD APPROVAL OF THIS PLAT SHALL NOT BE DEEMED TO CURE ANY
NON-CONFORMITY WITH EXISTING LOCAL LAND USE ORDINANCES. ANY FUTURE USE OF
EITHER LOT THAT IS NOT GOVERNMENTAL USE WILL BE SUBJECT TO THESE
PROVISIONS AND MAY NECESSITATE CORRECTION OF THE NONCONFORMITIES OR
VARIANCES FROM THE ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT

53 of 176



STAFF REPORT 
 

PB-2025-02 – COTTAGE COURT CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT – DUPLEX, 36 ELLIOT ST 
 
Request: 

Applicant Sampson Architects, on behalf of owner the Scott Richards Revocable Trust of 2023, 
proposes to convert an existing single-family home into a duplex on the property at 36 Elliot St 
(TMP #214-021-000). The parcel is ~0.10-ac in size and is located in the Residential Preservation 
District. 
 
Background: 

The subject parcel is the site of an 
existing single-family home and is 
~4,356-sf in size. It is located on the north 
side of Elliot Street about 335 feet east of 
Main St and ~200 feet west of Wheelock 
Elementary School. Single-family homes 
directly abut the subject parcel to the 
east, north, west, and southwest. Two 
duplexes are located directly across Elliot 
St to the south and southeast of the 
subject parcel, as shown in Figure 1. The 
larger neighborhood is surrounded by a 
mix of commercial and residential uses 
including the Keene State College 
campus to the west and northwest, a 
nursing home to the south, and Wheelock 
School to the east. The parcel is in the 
Residential Preservation District. 
 
The applicant proposes to convert the 
existing single-family home into a duplex 
by turning the workshop/studio space at 
the northeastern corner of the building 
into a second dwelling unit. There are no 
changes proposed to the building exterior 
or site as part of this proposal. The 
Residential Preservation District allows 
for two-family dwellings through the 
Cottage Court Conditional Use Permit 
(CUP) process. Site plan review is not required for this application because it involves fewer than 
five dwelling units. 
 
Determination of Regional Impact: 

After reviewing the application, staff have made a preliminary evaluation that the proposed 
Cottage Court CUP does not appear to have the potential for “regional impact” as defined in RSA 
36:55. The Board will need to make a final determination as to whether the proposal, if approved, 
could have the potential for regional impact. 
 
 

54 of 176



STAFF REPORT 
 

Completeness: 

The applicant has requested exemptions from submitting a grading plan, landscaping plan, 
lighting plan, elevations, and all technical reports. After reviewing each request, staff have made 
the preliminary determination that granting the requested exemptions would have no bearing on 
the merits of the application and recommend that the Board accept the application as “complete.” 
 
Departmental Comments: 

 Code Enforcement Comments: Please be aware that a building permit application will need 
to be submitted for the addition of a second dwelling unit to ensure that all work has been 
completed in accordance with the current state building code requirements. Upon reviewing 
the file for the building permit application referenced in the narrative (permit #XB13-2008-
0496), it is evident that this permit was not issued for the addition of another dwelling unit or 
an Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU), but rather for the construction of a workshop and studio. 
There are no issues concerning the Floodplain. 

 
 Fire Department Comments: Please be aware that as part of the building permit review 

process, all construction work will be reviewed for compliance with NH RSA 153:10-a 
regarding smoke and carbon monoxide detection as well as egress requirements. 

 
APPLICATION ANALYSIS: The following is a review of the Cottage Court CUP standards outlined 

under Section 17 of the City’s Land Development Code (LDC). 
 
Section 17.5.1 – Development Types Allowed: 

The proposal is for the creation of a second unit in a building currently used as a single-family 
home on a single lot. This standard appears to be met. 
 
Section 17.5.2 – Dimensional Standards:  

Table 1 shows the required dimensional 
standards for a cottage court development 
located in the Residential Preservation 
District as well as the dimensional standards 
proposed as part of this application. The 
existing single-family home shown in Figure 2 
was constructed around 1900 and has 
~1,865-sf of gross floor area (GFA). The 
project narrative states that the building 
layout shown on the submitted plan is 
existing and that there are no changes 
proposed to the building exterior or site as 
part of this application.  
 
The property owner is seeking to allow for the 
existing workshop/studio space at the 
northeastern corner of the building to be converted into a second unit that can be rented out. It 
should be noted that although this space is already laid out as an apartment complete with 
bathrooms, bedrooms, and a kitchen, it was never properly permitted with the City of Keene and 
is considered an illegal unit. As was mentioned in the staff comments from both Code 

55 of 176



STAFF REPORT 
 

Enforcement & the Fire Department Staff, the property owner will need to go through the 
necessary building permit review process and inspections before this is considered a legal 
second unit that can be occupied by a new tenant.   
 
While the existing structure does not comply with the required building setbacks and does not 
have the required lot width at the building line, these are existing nonconformities and no changes 
are proposed to the building or site that would increase these nonconformities. In addition, the 
building’s setback from the road matches the established building line along the road, which is 
allowed within the Cottage Court Overlay. The structure blends in with the established 
development patterns in this neighborhood and will continue to do so after its conversion to two 
units. This standard appears to be met. 
 

Table 9-1: Required vs. proposed dimensional standards. 
 Required Proposed 
Minimum 
tract size 

None 0.10-ac (~4,356-sf) 

Minimum 
tract frontage 

30’ ~57’ 

Perimeter 
setback from 
road 

Setbacks from existing roads external to the 
development may be less than the underlying 
zoning district in order to match an established 
building line along the road. 

~13.5’ 

Perimeter 
setback from 
other tract 
boundaries 

Rear: 20’ 
Side: 10’ 

Rear: ~7’ (existing) 
Side: ~8’ (existing) 

Density None 2 units per 0.10-ac (20 units per 
acre) 

Height 2.5 stories or 35’ max 1.75 stories  
 
Section 17.5.3 – Conditional Use Permit Standards: 

A. Dwelling Unit Size: This standard states that all new units within a development shall have a 
maximum average size of 1,250-sf of gross floor area (gfa) and a maximum building footprint 
of 900-sf per unit (excluding porches and garages). The proposed unit will have a gross floor 
area of 920-sf. This standard appears to be met. 

 
B. Parking: This standard states that a minimum of one parking space per unit is required and a 

maximum of one parking space per bedroom is allowed. The submitted plan shows two 
parking spaces. This standard appears to be met. 

 
C. Building Separation: This proposal does not involve the construction of multiple buildings. 

This standard is not applicable. However, it should be noted that while the floorplan shown 
on the submitted plan reflects the existing building layout; this construction was never 
approved/permitted with the City. The appropriate permits will need to be obtained from the 
Community Development & Fire Departments to ensure that all work complies with the 
applicable building code & life-safety requirements before the second unit is occupied by a 
tenant. 

 

56 of 176



STAFF REPORT 
 

D. Driveways: This standard outlines the driveway width requirements for projects involving 
three or more units. The existing driveway shown on the plan is ~14’-4”-wide and the narrative 
states that it is not proposed to be altered as part of this application. Given that this proposal 
only involves two units, this standard is not applicable. 

 
E. Internal Roads: There are no internal roads proposed as part of this application. This standard 

is not applicable. 
 
F. Screening: This standard states that a 6’-tall semi-opaque or opaque fence shall be required 

if the proposed building type (not density) is more intense than the adjacent building type. The 
narrative includes photos of adjacent homes that share the same 1.75-story gable end design 
and similar architectural characteristics as the existing building. This standard is not 
applicable.  

 
G. Architectural Guidelines: The narrative states that there are no changes proposed to the 

building exterior or site and includes pictures showing other buildings in the neighborhood 
with similar architectural characteristics. This standard is not applicable. 

 
Recommended Motion:  
 
If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following motion is recommended:  
 

“Approve PB-2025-02 as shown on the plan identified as “Cottage Court Application, 36 
Elliot St, Keene, NH 03431” prepared by Sampson Architects at varying scales on January 
15, 2025 and last revised on February 12, 2025 with the following conditions prior to final 
approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair: 

1. Owner’s signature appears on the plan. 

2. Submittal of five full-sized paper copies of the final plan.” 

57 of 176



58 of 176



Page 1 of 7  

Planning Board Descriptive Narrative 
36 Elliot Street 

2.10.25 
 

Descriptive Narrative 

 
Ownership: 
Owner of Record: Richard R Scott Revocable Trust of 2023 
Contact:  Richard Scott 
Address:  26 Kelleher Street,   Keene, NH 03431 
Phone Number: (603) 520-4150 
Email:   Rickee09@gmail.com 
 
Existing / Proposed Uses: 
The proposed project is located at 36 Elliot Street.  The rear unit was permitted in 2009 as a 
studio with a full bathroom located on the second floor.  This proposal is to have the city 
recognize this as a residential use that anybody will be allowed to occupy.  The proposal 
requires no exterior renovation or expansion to the existing footprint. 
The rear unit was permitted by the city in early 2009 with the condition that it is not a rentable 
dwelling unit.  Construction was completed that same year and has been in use ever since. 

 
Description of Size / Intensity of Use: 
The lot is approximately .10 acres.  The lot is located in the residential preservation district.  
Two dwelling units are currently existing.  There is no work being proposed or required to have 
the two units meet the newly adopted Cottage Court overlay standards.  All existing setback, 
lot coverage, frontage requirements are to remain unchanged. 

 
Description of Proposed Development: 
This application proposes get the second unit to the rear of the property recognized by the city 
of Keene as a legal dwelling unit..  Two units are existing at the property currently, but only one 
is occupiable by someone other than the property owner. 
 
Management: 
There is a property manager that currently maintains the property.  Once recognized as a 
mutli-family building this will not change. 

 
Parking: 
Although not striped, there ae currently four parking spaces available.  This proposal would 
maintain the four existing available spots. 

 
Description of Parking Demand / Impact: 
All required parking for the new dwelling units will be on site and exist currently 

 
Location of access points: 
Access to both existing units will be from a single driveway cut in the existing location. 

 

59 of 176

mailto:Rickee09@gmail.com


Page 2 of 7  

Other Descriptive Information: 
This proposal is limited in scope and is consistent with the neighborhood.  The proposal will 
change how one of the two units is recognized by the city. 

 
Drainage & Stormwater Management: 
There are no changes being proposed to the lot.  The intent is to maintain current drainage 
patterns. 
Sedimentation Control: 
There will be no need for sedimentation control.  No work is being proposed.. 

 
Snow Storage and Removal: 
There will be room to store snow on site behind the existing parking areas as is currently being 
done. 

 
Landscaping: 
There are no proposed changes to the existing landscaping.   

 
Screening: 
There are no proposed changes to the existing screening 

 
Lighting: 
There are no proposed changes to the existing exterior lighting.. 

 
Water & Sewer: 
The existing building is currently connected to city water and sewer. 

 
Traffic & Access Management: 
There will be no change to existing traffic counts , flow or access. 

 
Filling & Excavation: 
There is no proposed filling or excavating 

 
Surface Waters & Wetland: 
There will be no changes to existing drainage.  There are no wetlands on the site. 

 
Hazardous & Toxic Materials: 
There are no hazardous or toxic materials involved with this proposal. 

 
Noise: 
Noise impact from the proposed project will be unchanged and consistent with adjacent 
residential uses.  

 
Architectural & Visual Appearance: 
There are no proposed changes in the architecture or visual appearance of the existing 
building.  The following photos depict the subject property as well as the adjacent properties. 

60 of 176



Page 3 of 7  

 

 
36 Elliot Street – Subject Property 
 
 

61 of 176



Page 4 of 7  

 
32 Elliot Street 
 

62 of 176



Page 5 of 7  

 
35 Elliot Street 

63 of 176



Page 6 of 7  

 
41 Elliot St 

64 of 176



Page 7 of 7  

 
 
42 Elliot St 
 

65 of 176



ELLIOT STREET

W
al

kw
ay

Driveway

Existing
Dwelling

15
'-0

"

10'-0"

15
'-0

"

10' Side
setback

10' Side
setback

15' Front
setback

Privacy
FencePrivacy

Fence

Deck

15' Rear Setback

FO
RT

E 
D

O
N

N
A

59
0-

08
1-0

00
-0

00
-0

00

FO
RT

E 
D

O
N

N
A

59
0-

07
9-

00
0-

00
0-

00
0

Cheshire Properties LLC
590-106-000-000-000

3'
Paving
Setback

8'-0" 8'-0"

18
'-0

"

8'x18'
Parking

8'x18'
Parking

Edge of Elliot St

Edge of sidewalk

Edge of hardpack

Edge of pavement

14'-4"

N

21'-0"

DN

C/O

Roof below

Existing
Kitchen

Existing
Bath

Existing
Living

Existing
Bedroom

Existing
Bedroom

Existing
Bedroom

Existing
Closet

Existing
Den

Existing
Bedroom

Existing
Closet

Existing
Closet

Unit Separation

Existing
Bedroom

Existing
Kitchen

Existing
Pantry

Existing
Den

DN C/O

C/O

Up

Existing
Foyer

Existing
Secure
Storage

Existing
Storage

Existing
Laundry

Existing
Bath

Up

Existing
Deck

Existing
Living

Existing
Foyer

Unit Separation

New steel door

36 Elliot Street
Front Unit

First Floor 875 SF
Second Floor 875 SF

Total 1,750SF
Rear Unit

First Floor 590 SF
Second Floor 430 SF

Total 920 SF

Revisions:Date:

 DATE 

 SHEET NUMBER 

 SCALE 

 TITLE 

Prepared For

 PROJECT 

Architect:

Cottage Court
Application
36 Elliot St
Keene, NH 03431

Richard R Scott
26 Kelleher St
Keene, NH 03431

Planning Board1.15.25
Planning Board Revisions2.12.25

--

Sampson Architects
Timothy Sampson
NCARB, LEED AP
11 King Court
Suite 1E
Keene, NH
603 769 7736

.

.

.

.

.

Engineer:

These drawings are LIMITED SCOPE
and are intended only to describe
general design intent, scale, overall
spatial relationships and material
where indicated.
These drawings shall be considered
preliminary for purposes of design
review, comment, or budget pricing
only, unless expressly released for
other purposes as indicated in the
issue log.
The architect assumes responsibility
for errors in the information
provided, and not for omissions.

Timothy P. Sampson

2024                          WO# 24-058
S A M P S O N    A R C H I T E C T SC

Floor Plans
Zoning

2.12.25

A1

Site Plan

as noted

Site Plan
1/8"=1"-0"Scale:

Zoning Data:
Parcel ID: 590-080-000-000-000
Owner: Scott Richard R Revoc Trust of 2023
Zoning: Residential Preservation
Lot Area: 4,356 sf (.1 acres)

Max. Building Height: 2 Stories / 35 feet
Min. Lot Area: 8,000 SF
Min. Lot area per Dwelling unit: .
Min lot width at building line: 60 feet
Min. Front Setback: 15 feet
Min. Rear Setback: 20 feet
Min. Side Setback: 10 feet
Max. Percentage of Lot
Occupied by Structures: 35%
Max. Percentage Impermeable
Materials: 45%
Min. Percentage of green space 55%

2 Stories / 28 feet
4,356 SF
2,178 SF
57 feet
13 feet
7 feet
8 ft

31%

45%
55%

Required Existing Structure
2 Stories / 28 feet
4,356 SF
2,178 SF
57 feet
13 feet
7 feet
8 ft

31%

45%
55%

Proposed Structure

Approval
City of Keene

Planning Board

Date

Chairman

Owner Certification
I certify that my assigns or successors will seek approval by the
planning board prior to making any changes to this site plan and
approved drawings.

Owner/
Authorized agent

Date

Second Floor Plan
1/4" = 1'-0"Scale:

First Floor Plan
1/4" = 1'-0"Scale:

Location Map
Not to ScaleScale:

66 of 176



STAFF REPORT 
 

PB-2025-03 – SITE PLAN REVIEW– DOUGLAS CUDDLE TOY WAREHOUSE & OFFICE – 0 
BLACK BROOK RD 

 
Request: 
Applicant Fieldstone Land Consultants PLLC, on behalf of owner Douglas Company Inc., proposes the 
construction of a ~98,323-sf office and warehouse building on two parcels at 0 Black Brook Rd 
(TMP#s 221-023-000 & 221-024-00). Waivers are requested from Section 21.14.1, Section 21.14.2, 
Section 21.14.3.D, and Section 23.5.4.9 of the LDC related to architectural and visual appearance, 
parking in front of the building, and driveway width. The parcel is ~5.33-ac in size and is located in the 
Corporate Park District. 
 
Background: 
The subject properties 
located at 0 Black 
Brook Rd are two 
existing undeveloped 
parcels located to the 
east of the Black Brook 
Rd cul-de-sac, directly 
north of Black Brook. 
The parcels are 5.3 ac 
and 7.24 ac in size. The 
properties have street 
access from Black 
Brook Rd and are 
surrounded by parcels 
in the Corporate Park 
zoning district. The two 
parcels will be merged 
to accommodate the 
development.  
 
The purpose of this application is to construct an approximately 98,000 SF warehouse and 
distribution facility with associated office space and site improvements to accommodate the 
relocation of Douglas Cuddle Toys from their current location on Krif Rd. Site features will include 
parking areas, drive aisles and stormwater management systems. The proposed development 
will be constructed in two phases. Phase 1 consists of the middle portion of the building, which 
is approximately 57,000 SF and the associated site improvements. Phase 2 will consist of the 
larger office space and warehouse, approximately 41,000 SF of building area. A tentative phasing 
schedule anticipates phase 1 beginning in 2025 and phase 2 beginning roughly 4-5 years after 
the completion of phase 1, depending on the market conditions. A condition of approval related 
to active and substantial development of the phased project is suggested in the recommended 
motion.  
 
The proposed development will require a Floodplain Development Permit and flood 
compensation as well as an Alteration of Terrain Permit from NHDES for disturbance greater than 
100,000 SF. 
 

Fig 1. Subject parcels outlined in yellow. 

67 of 176



STAFF REPORT 
 

The applicant has requested waivers from section 21.14.1.B, 21.14.2.A, and 21.14.3.D of the Land 
Development Code related to architectural and visual appearance and parking in front of the building. 
A fourth waiver related to driveway width was also submitted; however, per Section 23.5.4.A.9, the 
Planning Board can approve the request without a waiver if a geometric analysis of the driveway 
entrance is reviewed and approved by the City Engineer. 
   
Determination of Regional Impact: 
After reviewing the application, staff have made a preliminary evaluation that the proposed Site 
Plan does not appear to have the potential for “regional impact” as defined in RSA 36:55. The 
Board will need to make a final determination as to whether the proposal, if approved, could have 
the potential for regional impact. 
 
Completeness: 
The applicant has requested exemptions from submitting a historic evaluation and traffic 
analysis. After reviewing each request, staff have made the determination that the requested 
exemptions would have no bearing on the merits of the application and recommend that the 
Board accept the application as “complete.” 
 
Application Analysis: The following is a review of the Planning Board development standards 
relevant to this application. 
 
21.2 Drainage: The plan proposes a combination closed drainage system in the form of two 

underground chamber systems and 11 catch basins as well as an open drainage culvert 
that will drain to a treatment grass swale along the northern portion of the building area. 
Overflow outlets for the chamber system are proposed to drain into the flood 
compensation area and are proposed to be installed above 100-year flood plain elevation. 
A soil berm will sperate the drainage system and the flood compensation system. The 
applicant states in their narrative that the system has been designed to meet 
requirements of the NHDES Alternation of Terrain Permit and City of Keene Regulations. 
The submitted stormwater report states that the proposed system will reduce pre-
condition flow rate and volume of stormwater on the property. It appears that this 
standard has been met. 

21.3 Sediment & Erosion Control: The plan proposes the installation of temporary erosion 
control measures such as silt fence around most of the site to protect Black Brook and 
the wetland system located to the west of the development area from siltation during site 
development. The applicant states in their narrative that a stabilized construction 
entrance will be utilized in addition to stone check dams, erosion matting, and rip-rap 
stone aprons as needed. It appears that this standard has been met. 

21.4 Snow Storage & Removal: The Site Plan proposes snow storage areas around the 
perimeter of the parking areas. These areas do not appear to conflict with proposed 
drainage structures. It appears that this standard has been met. 

21.5 Landscaping: The proposed landscaping includes the installation of 12 trees, 57 shrubs, 
and a mix of perennial flowers in the parking area landscape islands. These flowers 
include daylilys, hostas, and coneflower. The proposed shrubs include rhododendrons, 
dogwood, and winterberry. The plan proposes to install red maple and hawthorn trees 

68 of 176



STAFF REPORT 
 

around the parking areas. The plan also proposes to install weeping willows trees within 
the flood compensation area. Over 3,476 SF of parking area landscaping is proposed 
where 217 SF of landscaping is required. 

 The applicant requests the approval of an alternative landscape plan, as allowed per 
section 9.4.5.B.5 of the Land Development Code. The applicant states that the proposed 
design of the parking areas are in keeping with the industrial nature of the use. This 
includes the omission of planting islands at midway points for parking rows and 8’ deep 
planting areas in some locations. The Planning Board will need to determine if the 
proposed alternative landscaping design generally meets the intent of section 9.4.5 of the 
Land Development Code. 

21.6 Screening: The applicant states in their narrative that the proposed dumpster area will be 
contained in a dumpster enclosure and that it will not be visible from the public right-of-
way. The HVAC system for the project has not been designed but will be set at least 10’ 
from the roof edge and comply with all screening standards. It appears that this standard 
has been met. 

21.7 Lighting: The plan proposes the installation of 26 light fixtures including 4 pole mounted 
parking area lights and 22 wall mounted sconce light fixtures. The pole lights will be 
installed 20’ from grade. The applicant states in their narrative that all proposed light 
fixtures will be full cut-off LEDs with motion sensor activated security lighting after hours. 
All proposed lighting will be 3000K color temperature and have a color rendering index 
greater than 70. It appears that this standard has been met. 

21.8 Sewer & Water: The applicant states in their narrative that the project will connect to City 
water and sewer service located at Black Brook Rd. The proposed building will be fully 
sprinkled with a separate fire service line from the water main. A NHDES Sewer 
Connection Permit will be required. It appears that this standard has been met. 

21.9 Traffic & Access Management: The applicant states in their narrative that all site access 
will come from Black Brook Rd. This includes the creation of a new street access point for 
this site and the utilization of an existing access point on the adjacent property to the 
north where there is an existing shared driveway easement.  

 A 25’ wide, two-way drive aisle is proposed to circumnavigate the site and connect the 
parking areas, loading docks, and Black Brook Rd. Truck turning exhibits have been 
submitted to demonstrate that tractor trailers and emergency vehicles can navigate the 
site. A pavement width of 31’ at the property line is proposed where 25’ of pavement is 
the normally allowed maximum. The truck turning exhibit serves as a geometric analysis 
of the proposed pavement width and staff believe that it is appropriate. 

 The proposal includes pedestrian pathways around the building for both phases of the 
project. Temporary pedestrian connections from the parking areas to the phase 1 
warehouse will be removed during construction of phase 2. A bike rack is proposed to be 
installed near the entrance of the office building addition that is part of phase 2. A mix of 
cape cod and granite curbing is proposed to protect pedestrians, landscaping, and the 
building from vehicles encroaching past the end of parking spaces. 

69 of 176



STAFF REPORT 
 

 The proposed warehouse and office use requires 57 parking spaces. The plan proposes 
to provide 74 parking spaces, including 3 accessible spaces and 2 van spaces. Parking 
areas are located on the western side and eastern side of the property.  

 The applicant has requested an exemption from submitting a traffic analysis and has 
provided ITE trip generation estimates to support the request. The manual estimates 77.7 
trips per weekday with approximately 42 trips per each peak hour. The applicant states in 
their narrative that the Black Brook Corporate Park was designed to accommodate traffic 
associated with larger-scale business uses. The Douglas Company is currently seeing 5 
trucks per day and around 25 trucks per week at their current location on Krif Rd. It appears 
that this standard has been met. 

21.10 Filling & Excavation: Earthwork associated with site development will utilize existing fill on 
site as the flood compensation area is created. Any leftover fill will be hauled off site. 
Black Brook Rd is located adjacent to NH RT 12 which provides a clear path for 
construction vehicles with limited impact to the surrounding neighborhood. It appears that 
this standard has been met. 

21.11 Surface Waters & Wetlands: The site is adjacent to Black Brook along its southern 
boundary. There is a small, narrow wetland that runs along the western portion of the 
property near Black Brook Rd. The proposed site development does not include impact to 
any surface water or wetland system. The only proposed development within the wetland 
buffer is related to the construction of required flood compensation and is a permitted 
use within the buffer. It appears that this standard has been met. 

21.12 Hazardous & Toxic Materials: The applicant states in their narrative that the proposed use 
does not utilize hazardous or toxic materials. It appears that this standard has been met. 

21.13  Noise: The applicant states in their narrative that the noise generated by the use will be 
similar to surrounding businesses. The site is located in an area suitable for the intended 
use and will not conflict with other properties. It appears that this standard has been met. 

21.14 Architecture & Visual Appearance: The applicant states in their narrative that the proposed 
building will be a gray and cream metal panel structure with split concrete blocks along 
the bottom four feet. The applicant submitted a video that shows the proposed colors; a 
still frame from the video that shows the office portion of the building that would face 
east is shown in Figure 2, along with the west building elevation. The building façade is 
broken up with modules of vertical stacks of windows that are located approximately 12 
ft apart. Each window module is spaced approximately 40 ft apart. 

 
The applicant has submitted three waiver requests related to this standard. The first is a 
waiver from section 21.14.1.B for the massing and scale of the building. This standard 
states, “For buildings of 150-ft in length of more, facades shall be divided into multiple 
“modules,” expressed through significant architectural changes such as a change in 
materials, a change in pattern elements (e.g. fenestration, columns, pilasters, etc.), or a 
change in building setback through recesses or projections. Such modules shall be no wider 
than 50-ft.” 
 

70 of 176



STAFF REPORT 
 

 
 

 

The second waiver request pertains to Section 21.14.2.A of the LDC, which requires the 
architectural identity of the building to avoid a uniform appearance of the building. The 
standard states, “Front facades and exterior walls shall be articulated to express an 
architectural identity to avoid a uniform appearance, and architectural details shall give the 
impression of being integral to and compatible with the overall design.” 

 

The third waiver is from section 21.14.3.D for parking to be located in the front of the 
building. The standard states, “All required off-street parking shall be to the side or rear of 

Fig. 2.  Color rendering of the east façade of the building (top) and the west building elevation of Phase 1 
(bottom). 

Fig. 3 South east building elevation of Phase 1. 

71 of 176



STAFF REPORT 
 

buildings on the proposed 
site…” Figure 4 shows the 
location of the proposed 
parking in front of the building. 

The Board should use the 
Planning Board waiver criteria 
listed in Section 26.12.14 of 
the LDC, listed below, to 
evaluate each of the waiver 
requests: 

“1. Strict conformity would 
pose an unnecessary hardship 
to the applicant and the waiver 
would not be contrary to the 
spirit and intent of the 
regulations; or, 

2. Specific circumstances 
relative to the site plan, or 
conditions of the land in such 
site plan, indicate that the 
waiver will properly carry out 
the spirit and intent of the 
regulations. 

3. In granting a waiver the Planning Board may require any mitigation that is reasonable and 
necessary to ensure that the spirit and intent of the standard being waived will be preserved, 
and to ensure that no increase in adverse impacts associated with granting the waiver will 
occur.” 

 
 
Recommended Motions:  
If the Board is inclined to grant the requested waivers and approve this request, the following 
language is recommended for the motions:  

Waiver Request #1:  

“Grant a waiver from Section 21.14.1.B “Massing and Scale” of the Land Development Code to 
allow a building of 150-ft in length or more to have facades that are not divided into multiple 
“modules.” 

Waiver Request #2:  

“Grant a waiver from Section 21.14.2.A “Visual Interest” of the Land Development Code to allow 
for a uniform appearance of the building.”  

Fig. 4. Parking area in front of building. 

72 of 176



STAFF REPORT 
 

Waiver Request #3:  

“Grant a waiver from Section 21.14.3.D “Site Design and Relationship to Surrounding Community” 
of the Land Development Code to allow for off street parking to be located in front of the building 
where parking is normally required to be located on the sides and rear of buildings.” 

Overall Request 

“Approve PB-2025-03 as shown on the plan identified as “Douglas Company, Inc. Warehouse 
Facility” prepared by Fieldstone Land Consultants at a scale of 1 in. = 50 ft. dated January 17, 
2025 and last revised February 10, 2025 and the architectural elevations prepared by BTH 
Architects at a scale of 1/16 in. = 1 ft. dated January 15, 2025 with the following conditions: 

1. Prior to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following 
conditions precedent shall be met: 

A. The owner’s signature shall appear on the plan. 

B. Submittal of security for landscaping, sedimentation and erosion control and 
“as built” plans in a form and amount acceptable to the City Engineer. 

C. The Alteration of Terrain Permit number shall appear on the plan set. 

D. Submittal of five full-size paper copies and one digital copy of the final plan. 

2. Subsequent to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following 
conditions shall be met: 

A. Prior to the commencement of site work, the Community Development 
Department shall be notified when all erosion control measures are installed 
and the Community Development Director, or their designee, shall inspect the 
erosion control measures to ensure compliance with this site plan and all City 
of Keene regulations.”  

B. The timeline to achieve Active and Substantial Development for Phase 2 shall 
be five years and shall commence on the date of issuance of a Certificate of 
Occupancy for Phase 1. 

 

73 of 176



74 of 176



75 of 176



76 of 176



77 of 176



78 of 176



79 of 176



80 of 176



81 of 176



82 of 176



83 of 176



84 of 176



85 of 176



86 of 176



87 of 176



88 of 176



89 of 176



90 of 176



91 of 176



92 of 176



93 of 176



94 of 176



95 of 176



96 of 176



97 of 176



MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:   Planning Board   
 
FROM:   Megan Fortson, Planner 
 
DATE:   February 14, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: PB-2024-20 – Earth Excavation Permit Major Amendment & Hillside 

Protection Conditional Use Permit – 21 & 57 Route 9 – Applicant Granite 
Engineering LLC, on behalf of owner G2 Holdings LLC, proposes to expand the 
existing gravel pit located at 21 & 57 Route 9 (TMP#s 215-007-000 & 215-008-
000). A Hillside Protection CUP is requested for impacts to steep slopes. 
Waivers are requested from Section 25.3.1.D & Section 25.3.13 of the LDC 
related to the required 250’ surface water resource setback and the 5-ac 
excavation area maximum. The parcels are a combined ~109.1-ac in size and 
are located in the Rural District. 

 

Recommendation: 

That the Planning Board vote to accept the Earth Excavation Major Amendment application, PB-
2024-20, as “complete” and set a date for the public hearing on this project for the next Planning 
Board meeting on Monday, March 24, 2025 at 6:30 pm in the Council Chambers on the 2nd Floor of 
City Hall. 

Background: 

At the December 16, 2024 Planning Board meeting, the Board voted to make a determination that 
the Earth Excavation Permit Major Amendment Application, PB-2024-20, for the expansion of the 
existing gravel pit on the properties at 21 & 57 Route 9 be noticed as a development of regional 
impact (DRI). Following this meeting, the adjacent Town of Sullivan and Southwest Region Planning 
Commission were granted abutter status and provided with a copy of the meeting minutes in 
accordance with NH RSA 36:55. 
 
The excavation of earthen material for commercial sale (“gravel pits”) is regulated by RSA 155- E at 
the state level. Enacted in 1979, RSA 155-E grants municipalities the authority to regulate earth 
excavation operations within their communities. The statute also enables municipalities to enact 
more stringent standards than those in RSA 155-E itself. The City of Keene regulates Earth 
Excavation activities under Articles 25 and Article 26, Section 26.19 of the Land Development Code. 

 
Section 25 of the Land Development Code defines its purpose to “Provide reasonable opportunities 
for the excavation of earth materials from land situated within the City; Minimize safety hazards 
created by excavation activities; Safeguard the public health and welfare; Preserve and protect natural 
resources and the aesthetic quality of areas located near excavation sites; Prevent land, air, and water 
pollution; and, Promote soil stabilization.” The Section identifies areas of the City in which a Gravel 
Pit is permitted in Figure 25-1 (see next page). 

 
The City’s regulations specify that “Upon receipt of a completed Earth Excavation Permit application, 
the Planning Board shall retain a consultant, at the expense of the applicant, for the purpose of 
reviewing the application for completeness and compliance with NH RSA 155-E and the Earth 
Excavation Regulations in Article 25 of this LDC. This consultant shall review all aspects of the 
submittal.” 
 

98 of 176



 

 

In accordance with the section above, staff retained the services of Fieldstone Land Consultants, 
PLLC on behalf of the Board to review the submitted application materials for completeness and 
compliance with all applicable standards. After receiving comments from the consultant, the 
Applicant met with staff and the consultant to discuss revisions to the application. Revised 
application materials were submitted on Monday, February 3, 2025. On Friday, February 14, 2025, Chad 
Branon, P.E. of Fieldstone Land Consultants sent Planning Staff the attached memo stating that he believes 
the applicant, Granite Engineering, has provided sufficient materials for the application to be accepted as 
“complete.”  
 

 
 
Once the Board accepts the application as complete, per Section 25.19.7.F of the LDC, “the 
application and any associated materials shall be forwarded to the City of Keene Conservation 
Commission for review and comment. The Conservation Commission may provide written comment 
to the Planning Board prior to the closing of the public hearing on the application.” 
 
In addition, within 30 days of a determination of completeness, the Planning Board shall hold a 
public hearing in accordance with RSA 155-E-7. Within 20 days following the closing of the public 
hearing, the Planning Board must render a decision on the application (approve, approve with 
conditions, or deny). 

 

99 of 176



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
February 14, 2025 
 
 
City of Keene – Planning Board 
Community Development Department 
3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH 03431 
Attn:  Megan Fortson, Planner 
 Evan Clements, Planner 

Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 
 
 
RE:   G2 Holdings LLC - Excavation Permit Package Review  

Tax Map 215 Lots 7 & 8 – 57 Route 9 – Keene, NH  
 
Dear Board Members, 
 
As requested, Fieldstone Land Consultants, PLLC (Fieldstone) has performed a review of the 
documents submitted for the above referenced project for completeness to the applicable City of 
Keene Land Development Code.  The following documents were submitted for our review: 

• Transmittal Letter prepared by Granite Engineering LLC, dated December 19, 2024. 
• Earth Excavation Permit Application, dated December 12, 2024 
• Community Development Department Certified Notice List, dated December 12, 

2024 
• Owner Affidavit 
• Project Narrative 
• Natural Heritage Bureau Environmental Review, dated February 6, 2024 
• Hydrogeologic Investigation Report, dated December 18, 2024 
• Acid Mine Drainage Report, dated December 18, 2024 
• Request for waivers to Article 25.3.1.D and Article 25.3.13 with exhibits 
• Gravel and Earth Removal Plan Set, dated December 20, 2024  
• Hillside Protection Conditional Use Permit Application with Exhibits 
• Copy of Alteration of Terrain Permit and Stormwater Management Application, 

dated December 20, 2024 

100 of 176



 
 
G2 Holdings LLC - Excavation Permit Package Review  
Tax Map 215 Lots 7 & 8 – 57 Route 9 – Keene, NH     Page 2 

• City Response Letter, dated February 3, 2025 
• Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan, Dated January 30, 2025 
• Stormwater Management Report, dated January 22, 2025 
• Revised Plan Set, last revised February 3, 2024 

 
Fieldstone has completed a review of the materials provided against Section 26.19.4 of the Earth 
Excavation Submittal Requirements.  Section 26.19 of the City Land Development Code addresses 
the requirements for the submission of and Earth Excavation Permit.  We believe the material 
provided satisfies the threshold for the application to be deemed complete.  The technical 
elements of the materials submitted will need to be reviewed against the applicable regulations 
and standards.  Fieldstone will commence with the technical review as requested. 
 
This concludes our completeness review for the above referenced project.  Please feel free to 
contact us should you have any questions or require additional information. 
 
Sincerely, 
FIELDSTONE LAND CONSULTANTS, PLLC 
 
 
 
 
Chad E. Branon, P.E. 
Civil Engineer/Principal  

101 of 176



102 of 176



103 of 176



 
 
 
 
 

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

 

GRANITE ENGINEERING, LLC 
civil engineering ● land planning ● municipal services 

Narrative 
 
As part of the application for the City of Keene Earth Excavation Permit, the following are 
narrative descriptions detailing how each development standard outlined in Article 
25.19.4.B, of the Land Development Code has been addressed: 
 

1. The location, boundaries, and zoning district 
The applicant and the property owner, G2 Holdings LLC, propose expansion at the 
existing Route 9 gravel pit located on Tax Map 215, lot 7. The expansion is proposed 
on Map 215; Lots 7 & 8 in the City of Keene and extends into the town of Sullivan on 
Map 5, lots 46 and 46-1. The lots within the City of Keene are situated in the Rural ‘R’ 
zoning district.  Access to the existing operation is off NH Route 9.  The proposed 
expansion will utilize the same access roadway.   

 
2. Types of materials to be excavated and means  

Bedrock will be the primary material excavated from the site. Eight overburden wells 
were drilled within the perimeter of the proposed excavation and determined that 
bedrock was shallow, less than 5’ in most cases. 6 bedrock wells were then drilled 
within the perimeter to measure groundwater. Processing of the excavated materials 
(crushing, screening, sorting, and stockpiling) to create marketable construction 
materials will occur onsite. The construction material and equipment storage area 
will be relocated depending on the progress of the gravel operation.  Said area will 
start at the upper limits of current excavation and systematically relocate as 
excavation progresses.  Excavation activities are proposed between the hours of 7:00 
am and 5:00 pm, Monday through Friday. The sale and loading of stockpiled materials 
are anticipated to occur from 8:00 am to 1:00 pm on Saturdays; however, no other 
excavation activities are expected on this day. No excavation activities, including the 
sale of stockpiled materials, are proposed on Sundays, or legal holidays, except 
when prior written consent to temporarily operate during other hours is provided by 
the community development department due to a local or regional emergency. 

 
3. Project duration and phasing 

Based on discussion with the City on March 4, 2024, the project is proposed to be 
permitted in its entirety. The project will be broken out into eight (8) permit periods. 
Six months prior to a period being completed, the applicant will submit to the 
Planning Board for an amendment for the next phase. 
 
Each period is based on a maximum “open area” of 5 acres. The breakout is a 
recommendation to the contractor and does not necessarily reflect the order in 
which the project will be completed. Phase 1 consisted of the original gravel pit that 
was previously permitted 2022, exceeded the 5-acre maximum, and received a 
waiver approval by the City of Keene Planning Board on August 22, 2022.  Each period 

104 of 176



Page 22 of 88 
 

 
150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 

(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 
 

as part of Phase 2 will expand upon that area and be reclaimed as it’s exhausted.  The 
estimated project timeline will exceed five years and is estimated at 13 years. The 
applicant must submit to the Department of Environmental Services and the city of 
Keene a written update of the project and revised plans documenting the project 
status every five years from the date of the Alteration of Terrain permit. Below is an 
anticipated breakout for each: 

 
 Permit Period 1 – 4.99 AC, Volume – 358,800 CY January 2025 – May 2027 
 Permit Period 2 –  4.10 AC, Volume – 271,000 CY June 2027 – March 2029 
 Permit Period 3 –  2.14 AC, Volume – 16,450 CY April 2029 – May 2029 
 Permit Period 4 – 0.39 AC, Volume – 939 CY  June 2029 – July 2029 

(Sullivan) 
 Permit Period 5 – 4.08 AC, Volume – 366,530 CY August 2029 – January 2031  
 Permit Period 6 –  3.82 AC, Volume – 262,692 CY          Feb. 2031 – November 2032  
 Permit Period 7 –  4.06 AC, Volume – 306,210 CY Dec. 2032 – December 2034 

(Sullivan) 
 Permit Period 8 –  7.62 AC, Volume – 496,500 CY January 2035 – April 2038  

 
Phasing notes: 

A. Sheet Existing Conditions plan reflects the current conditions of the earth 
excavation materials and processing area. The area will be used for 
material stockpiling, storage, rock crushing, cleaning, and processing for 
the project’s entirety. There is a large sedimentation area in the western 
portion of the site that stormwater drains to and infiltrates. This area is also 
used to provide water for material processing and dust control devices. It 
will also provide infiltration from associated excavation areas during the 
excavation process. 

B. Period 1, located directly north of this area is where excavation will begin. 
Access will be off the existing gravel haul road located in the lower eastern 
portion of the site. As excavation begins, the contractor will excavate a 
sediment area in the southern portion of the pit area. This sediment area 
will be used to hold any stormwater runoff associated with the current pit 
phase. As the excavation footprint increases, so will the size and depth of 
the sediment retention area. The floor of the pit will slope to the south to 
the sediment pond located within the pit’s floor. The sediment basin will 
be required to be dredged after accumulative sediment has reduced its 
ability to adequately infiltrate any stormwater it captures. In the event the 
pond does not have the ability to infiltrate, it will act as a sediment 
retention pond, and an outlet structure will be located within the floor of 
the pond. The stormwater will be held and released at a slow rate, and 
directed to the existing sediment retention pond to the south. Once Period 
1 has been excavated to final grade, all limits of disturbance within the pit 

105 of 176



Page 33 of 88 
 

 
150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 

(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 
 

will be reclaimed by being loamed and seeded. Sediment shall be 
removed from the retention pond prior to loaming and seeding. 

C. The proposed haul road and associated culverts will be constructed 
connecting phase 1 and 2 along with erosion control measures including 
stone lined ditches, check dams, silt fence, and erosion control blankets. 

D. Period 2 construction will commence like the procedures outlined for 
Period 1. A sediment retention pond will be constructed in the southern 
portion of the pit. As the pit is excavated, the floor will be sloped to capture 
runoff and detain it in the pond. If it becomes apparent that this pond is not 
able to infiltrate stormwater, then an outlet device will be installed and 
directed to the now completed and reclaimed sediment area in the 
previous phase. 

E. Once period 2 has been completed to finish grade, the area is to be 
reclaimed. Sediment shall be removed from the retention pond prior to 
loaming and seeding. The haul road that runs east to west and connects 
period 2 to the proposed haul road running north to south) will also be 
reclaimed. The 15” and 24” culverts, along with the ditch that was 
constructed along the west side of the existing haul road up to the start of 
period 3 must remain. 

F. Period 3 and 4 include the construction of the haul road that accesses the 
northern portion of the site that extends into the town of Sullivan, periods 
5,6, and 7. Erosion control devices and culverts are to be installed. 

G. Period 5 involves construction of a sediment retention pond in the 
southern portion of the pit. As the pit is excavated, the floor will be sloped 
to capture runoff and detain it in the pond. If it becomes apparent that this 
pond is not able to infiltrate stormwater, then an outlet device will be 
installed and directed to the now completed and reclaimed sediment area 
in period 2. Once period 5 has been completed to finish grade, the area is 
to be reclaimed. An access through period 5 to access period 6 will remain 
open for truck movements to the haul road constructed in periods 3 and 4. 

H. Period 6 will be a continuation of Period 5. The pit floor will be sloped to 
the south, and temporary sediment basins will be used to control and 
minimize sediment transport from the excavation site to the reclaimed 
area of Period 5. Once Period 6 has been completed to finish grade, the 
area is to be reclaimed. An access through period 6 to access period 7 will 
remain open for truck movements to the haul road constructed in periods 
3 and 4. 

I. Period 7 will be a continuation of Period 6. The pit floor will be sloped to 
the south, and temporary sediment basins will be used to control and 
minimize sediment transport from the excavation site to the reclaimed 
area of Period 6. Once Period 7 has been completed to finish grade, the 
entire excavation area is to be reclaimed.  

J. The haul road will be reclaimed. Associated ditches and culverts are to 
remain, however the gravel portion of the road will be loamed and seeded. 

106 of 176



Page 44 of 88 
 

 
150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 

(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 
 

K. Period 8 is the final phase of the project. As the pit floor is excavated, the 
existing sediment area will remain and be used for control of stormwater. 
As the pit floor approaches the proposed final grade, the infiltration pond 
will be constructed, loamed and seeded. Stormwater directed to this pond 
will be captured in sediment traps and slowly released to this area while 
construction continues. Once final grades have been completed, all areas 
are to be reclaimed. The infiltration area will remain in place. The access 
road will be loamed and seeded. 

 
4. The number of Acres impacted 

The work area in the City of Keene is 26.75 Acres 
 
5. Volume of earth material to be removed 

Total volume removed is approximately 1,771,972 cubic yards at a rate of 102,000 
cubic yards of material per year. 

 
6. Description of maximum breadth, depth, and slope 

 Permit Period 1 – Average Breadth = 250’    Depth = 66’ +/-   Slope = 1:2 
 Permit Period 2 – Average Breadth = 180’    Depth = 70’ +/-   Slope = 1:2 
 Permit Period 5 – Average Breadth = 350’    Depth = 60’ +/-   Slope = 1:2 
 Permit Period 6 – Average Breadth = 435’    Depth = 80’ +/-   Slope = 1:2 
 Permit Period 7 – Average Breadth = 290’    Depth = 80’ +/-   Slope = 1:2 (Sullivan) 
 Permit Period 8 – Average Breadth = 375’    Depth = 32’ +/-   Slope = 2:1 

 
7. Location and Access and perimeter visual barriers 

Access to the existing operation is off NH Route 9.  The proposed expansion will 
utilize the same access roadway and maintain the same visual barriers that were 
permitted during the previous phase of development.  A NHDOT driveway permit was 
approved for this location and access has already been constructed. No glare or odor 
impacts are expected from the proposed gravel pit use. The project is remotely 
located, separated primarily from abutters with woodlands. The gravel pit observes 
the appropriate setbacks from property lines. The nearest property lines of parcels 
not owned by the applicant are as follows: 

 North: 830 feet 
 South: 300 feet 
 East: 2,260 feet 
 West: 455 feet 

 
8. Elevation of estimated highest annual average groundwater table. 

Eight overburden wells were performed within the excavation area and the water 
table was not found in these locations. Six bedrock monitoring wells were drilled 
within the proposed footprint of the excavation a minimum of 50’ below the proposed 
pit bottom, and water was not found in those wells. Four test pits were dug within the 

107 of 176



Page 55 of 88 
 

 
150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 

(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 
 

perimeter of the excavation area and the estimated seasonal high water table was 
found in two of the pits, at 20” and 32”, with ledge directly below within five to six feet. 
The ESHWT observed in the test pits is interpreted to be the result of a very low 
residence time groundwater. The overburden is relatively thin across most of the site. 
As rain falls or snow melts, the water infiltrates into the ground. Due to the relatively 
high hydraulic conductivity of the sand and gravel overburden the groundwater 
doesn't stick around long. It moves downgradient to a discharge point, i.e. seep, 
creek, Otter Brook, and generally presents itself as surface water discharge. 
Additionally, some of this water is taken up through evapotranspiration. 

 
9. Proposed methods of disposal of boulders, stumps, vegetation, and other debris 

Except for the exposed rock ledge face, all areas that have been affected by the 
excavation or otherwise stripped of vegetation shall be spread with topsoil or 
stripping, if any, but in any case, covered by soil capable of sustaining vegetation, 
and shall be planted with seedlings or grass suitable to prevent erosion. Areas visible 
from a public way, from which trees have been removed, shall be replanted with tree 
seedlings, set out in accordance with acceptable horticultural practices. Earth and 
vegetative debris resulting from the excavation shall be removed or otherwise 
lawfully disposed of. All slopes, except for exposed ledge, shall be graded to natural 
repose for the type of soil of which they are composed to control erosion or at a ratio 
of horizontal to vertical proposed by the owner and approved by the regulator. 
Changes of slope shall not be abrupt but shall blend with the surrounding terrain. 
Stumps, vegetation, and leaf debris will be stored, ground, and processed into mulch 
for use in perimeter erosion control measures as needed, or surface composted on 
site for use in enriching loam for site reclamation.  
 

10. Proposed methods for controlling stormwater, drainage, erosion, and 
sedimentation 
 The elimination of any standing bodies of water created in the excavation project that 
may constitute a hazard to health and safety; and the topography of the land shall be 
left so that water draining from the site leaves the property at the original, natural 
drainage points and in the natural proportions of flow.  For excavation projects that 
require a permit from the Department of Environmental Services pursuant to RSA 
485-a:17, the provisions of that statute, and rules adopted under it, shall supersede 
this paragraph as to areas of excavation sites covered thereby. The excavator shall 
file a copy of permits issued under RSA 485-a:17 with the regulator. During 
construction, grading of pit floors will slope to the pit face, and stormwater will be 
directed to within the pit footprint, collected, retained, and infiltrated on-site.  The 
surface water is collected, settled, and allowed for use in material processing, dust 
control, and rock cleaning.  The proposed operation will be self-contained to retain 
all stormwater and prevent any potential erosion on site, within the limits of 
disturbance.  Drainage shall be maintained so as to prevent the accumulation of free-
standing water for prolonged periods.  Excavation practices that result in continued 
siltation of surface waters or any degradation of water quality of any public or private 

108 of 176



Page 66 of 88 
 

 
150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 

(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 
 

water supplies are prohibited.  Construction shall proceed such that there is no 
runoff from the excavation area leaving the site at any time. 
 
Large sediment retention areas have been designed within the floor of each pit area. 
The intent of these is to capture runoff, and sediment, associated with the excavation 
and contain it within the pit floor. As the pit expands, so too will the sediment 
retention areas. These retention areas hold back the stormwater and allow it to exit 
thru a small culvert, and slowly discharge to an existing infiltration area within the 
current material storage, processing, and equipment area at the southerly end of the 
project. This area will be enlarged during the initial phase to eventually capture and 
infiltrate construction periods 1-7. During the final phase of the project, period 8, a 
large infiltration area will be excavated. The floor of this pond will be set above the 
estimated seasonal high water table. Stormwater will collect in this pond and 
eventually infiltrate into the ground. The sediment areas and infiltration areas have 
been sized to capture, contain, and infiltrate the 50-year, 24 hour rain event. 
 
A stormwater analysis has been provided to include these calculations, along with 
culvert and stone rip rap calculations. 

 
11. Means to avoid and/or mitigate adverse impacts caused by dust, noise, and 

traffic 
The site shall operate in a manner that prevents fugitive dust emissions pursuant to 
New Hampshire Code of Administrative rules env-a 1002, fugitive dust. Dust control 
practices are outlined in the stormwater pollution prevention plans (SWPPP). Dust 
control activities and devices shall be incorporated into the excavation operation, on 
the site, and on the access driveway, in a manner that minimizes the generation of 
airborne dust or transportation of dust or mud off the site onto the adjacent 
roadways.  Visual monitoring of airborne dust shall be done on an ongoing basis. Dust 
control measures such as applying water to access driveways and other areas within 
the excavation perimeter, washing dirt from truck tires, or other measures as may be 
deemed necessary, shall be employed to minimize the generation of airborne dust, 
and/or the transportation of dirt/mud off the site onto adjacent roadways. Dust 
control will be accomplished using a truck-mounted water tank and spray system as 
needed. Inspection of access driveway stabilized construction entrances and other 
erosion control measures, designed to eliminate the deposit of dust or mud onto 
public streets, shall be conducted on a weekly basis to ensure proper functioning.  
The maintenance of these entrances shall be performed as necessary and any dirt or 
mud deposited on public streets shall be removed. The applicant shall maintain a log 
documenting dust control activities, inspection and maintenance of dust and dirt 
control structures and devices and cleanup of dirt deposited on roadways leading 
from the site. The construction SWPPP shall be used for instructions of how to 
inspect and maintain erosion and sediment control practices. 
 

109 of 176



Page 77 of 88 
 

 
150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 

(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 
 

Traffic: This project, while expanding on the previously permitted gravel pit, does not 
anticipate an increase in trucks operating at the site. An onsite speed limit of 15 mph 
has been established via signage. A stop sign has been added at the exit from the site, 
onto Route 9. As noted in the previous permit application by TFMoran, Inc. we note 
the following: As established in the TFMoran Traffic Memorandum submitted to the 
City of Keene on 2/18/2022, the proposed excavation is located on a State Highway, 
operations are not expected to negatively impact traffic conditions – 40 trucks per day 
represents less than a 1% increase compared to the 2019 AADT of 9,707 vehicles. 
 

12. Precautions to be taken by the applicant to protect the safety and welfare of the 
persons on site 
The access is gated to secure the site during after business hours. Signage is posted 
to include speed limit reductions, hard hat requirements, and personal safety 
equipment requirements for specified areas. All equipment is inspected daily and 
forms completed regarding backup alarms, brakes, tires, mirrors, etc. The crushing 
equipment has safety cables and buttons for emergency stopping procedures, 
guards on all pulleys, belts, etc. The shed contains an emergency first aid kit, fire 
extinguishers, body board, eye wash station, and MSDS sheets.  
Stock pile areas have berms for safety. Proposed ledge face will be inspected daily, 
material will be used to create berms at the bottom, this will deter people from 
entering or getting within close proximity to the pit face. The property boundary will 
have signage stating private property, active blasting, do not enter. All stumps and 
brush will be put on the boundary of each phase to keep people outside of work 
areas. Once the pit area has been completely excavated and reclaimed, fencing will 
be installed along the top of all slopes greater than 2:1.  
The work will be conducted by trained personnel, in accordance with OSHA and 
MSHA worksite safety standards. All staff is MSHA and first-aid certified. MSHA 
inspects the site annually for compliance.  

 
13. The proposed methods for handling, transporting, and disposing of fuel and/or 

chemicals on site 
No fuels, lubricants, or other toxic or polluting materials shall be stored on-site 
unless in compliance with state laws or rules pertaining to such materials.  Spill 
protection equipment will be stored on site for immediate response to any potential 
spills.  Any spillage shall be immediately rectified and disposed of in accordance with 
all local, state, and federal standards.  All spills of greater than five (5) gallons will be 
reported to the Keene Fire Department and to NHDES. 

 
14. The means by which earth materials are proposed to be transported from the 

excavation site, and the proposed load limits and number of vehicle trips per day 
Trucks utilized for transport of material will consist of tri-axles, 10-wheelers, and 
tractor-trailer dump trucks. The anticipated maximum number of vehicle trips per 
day based on the current pit operations is 40-60 trips per day. 

 

110 of 176



Page 88 of 88 
 

 
150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 

(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 
 

15. Extent of blasting and the name and classification of any explosives 
Based on the data from the 6 bedrock monitoring wells, blasting will be used for most 
of the excavation on the site. Blasting operations will be conducted by a well-versed 
contractor. The applicant shall identify drinking water wells located within 1/2 mile 
of the proposed blasting activities. Develop a groundwater quality sampling program 
to monitor for nitrate either in the drinking water supply wells or in other wells that 
are representative of the drinking water supply wells in the area. The plan must 
include pre and post-blast water quality monitoring and be approved by The City of 
Keene and NHDES prior to initiating blasting. The groundwater sample program must 
be implemented once approved by The City of Keene and NHDES. All activities 
related to blasting shall follow best management practices (bmps) to prevent 
contamination of groundwater including preparing, reviewing and following an 
approved blasting plan; proper drilling, explosive handling, and loading procedures; 
observing the entire blasting procedures; evaluating blasting performance; and 
handling and storage of blasted rock. 

111 of 176



 
 
 
 
 

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

 

GRANITE ENGINEERING, LLC 
civil engineering ● land planning ● municipal services 

Waivers 
 
The applicant requests the following waivers in accordance with Article 26.19.13: 
 

1. Which Requirement: 
Article 25.3.1.D – Surface Water Resource Setback – The excavation perimeter shall 
be set back at least 250 feet, and the access driveway shall be set back at least 150 
feet from any surface water resource.  
 
Please refer to the attached exhibit entitled “Surface Water Resources Setback Plan” 
for a graphic of this encroachment. 
 
Why the waiver is needed: 
There is an existing wetland 75’ to the west of the excavation perimeter. To the east, 
there is another forested wetland 150’ feet away. These two wetlands at their closest 
proximity area approximately 800’ apart. The 250’ setbacks from the two wetlands 
prohibits a significant amount of excavation material directly to the north of the gravel 
pit. The City of Keene Planning Board previously approved reduction in the surface 
water setback to 75’ on August 22, 2022 in this area. The applicant is requesting 
further excavation to the north of the site, while maintaining the previously approved 
75’ setback. The surface water resource impacted would be around the small, 
isolated wetland to the west of the gravel operation. The existing wooded vegetation 
around the wetland will remain. This wetland is not connected to another surface 
water as it’s an isolated wetland roughly 0.35 acres in size. This is considered a low 
value water resource due to its size and lack of connectivity to adjacent surface 
waters. This wetland forms a natural channel with steep slopes on both sides, 
captures runoff from adjacent areas and eventually dissipates.  The  runoff infiltrates 
into the soils, thus the wetland terminates prior to entering any drainage along NH 
Route 9. Due to the excess slopes and the entire eastern edge of this wetland 
currently being excavated as part of the permitted pit activity, this resource setback 
has limited, if any use, as a wildlife corridor. Please refer to the attached Wetland 
Functional Assessment report that was performed by EcoSystems Land Planning, 
which documents this wetland ranked low on most wetland functions and values 
criteria.  
 
Alternative Standard: 
The alternative to the proposed would result in significantly less excavation to the 
north. There is an naturally wooded earthen berm approximately 8 to 16 feet high 
between the wetland and the pit excavation. After the project has been reclaimed, 
this berm height would increase to over 35 feet high on its exaction height. 
 
Not in Violation: 

112 of 176



Page 22 of 44 
 

 
150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 

(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 
 

The granting of this waiver will not be in violation with NH RSA 155:E because the state 
regulation does not establish buffers for forested wetlands under 5 acres in size. This 
wetland is 0.35 acres. Granting of this waiver/exemption shall not cause violations to 
the intent of the City of Keene’s Article 25. This waiver was previously approved by 
the Planning Board during the previous project phase. 
 
Adverse Impacts: 
Reduction in the setback will not have adverse impacts because both wetlands have 
natural wooded buffers and forested berms between them and the gravel excavation. 
Most of the wetland associated with the setback reduction is higher in elevation than 
the pit excavation.  
 
Purpose and Intent: 
The purpose of this regulation is to protect the buffers associated with wetlands.  The 
250’ buffer for this wetland has been altered in a previous approval by the Board.   The 
berm associated with the wetland remains and acts as its true buffer.  The further 
explanation of the 250’ wetland buffer but not closer than 75’ is consistent with the 
purpose and intent of Article 25.  The waiver was previously approved in this location 
by the Planning Board.  The buffer will be reclaimed upon the conclusion of the gravel 
operation.   
 
Not Unduly Injurious: 
Granting this waiver will not be unduly injurious to public or environmental welfare 
because 75-foot wooded buffers will remain along the excavation perimeter. 
Wetlands will be further protected as the earth excavation is happening below the 
existing grade eliminating surface runoff of the gravel excavation into the wetland. 
 
Unique Site Characteristics : 
This area is unique in having only 800 feet between existing wetlands located east 
and west of the excavation area. The remaining wetlands on the site are separated by 
enough distance that the 250 setback can be maintained. This is the only area on the 
property seeking a waiver from the setback.  

 
2. Which Requirement: 

Article 25.3.13 – (Maximum Excavation Area) – The total of any unclaimed, inactive 
and active excavation areas shall not exceed 5-acres at any time. 
 
Why the waiver is needed: 
For a gravel pit to function properly, a significant amount of area is needed for 
material storage processing, equipment, vehicle movement, temporary stockpiles of 
rock for processing, etc. The applicant was not able to fully excavate all the material 
that was proposed in the previous approval without having an additional material and 
processing area somewhere else off-site. The area that is currently open to allow for 
material storage and processing is 6.8 acres. A waiver was previously approved by 

113 of 176



Page 33 of 44 
 

 
150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 

(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 
 

the Planning Board for this project for an area of 7 acres. The applicant is requesting 
that this 6.8-acre area remain open, while material is being excavated from each 
period moving forward. Once the material has been removed from each phase, those 
areas will be reclaimed before moving on to the next phase. Given the 8 periods 
proposed, with period 2 being 4.99 acres, this would require a maximum area open 
during a given period of 12 acres. 

 
Alternative Standard: 
The alternative to the proposal would prohibit any additional earth excavation on-
site. It would require hauling material to another site that can store and process this 
material. Trucking costs to haul the material to be stored and processed would 
increase truck traffic on state roads. Hauling materials would drive the cost of the 
product up and would result in a net increase in cost to the consumer. 
 
Not in Violation: 
The granting of this waiver will not be in violation of NH RSA 155:E. Temporary erosion 
control measures are to be maintained on-site during the time this area is active. 
Stormwater has been detained within this area via a sediment retention area. Most of 
this area is gravel surface, including the pit access road of NH Route 9, as well as the 
material handling and processing area. New Hampshire Department of Environment 
Service (NHDES) defines stable areas to include compacted graveled areas. During 
the construction of each phase, temporary erosion control measures will be in place, 
and during pit excavation, stormwater flows will be contained within the pit area. 
 
Adverse Impacts: 
Approving this 12-acre open area would not have adverse impacts. The BMP’s onsite 
are designed to handle the flows and the sediment retention areas will ensure 
stormwater remains on-site.  The 7-acre landing area is considered “stabile” by 
NHDES definition which has minimal erosion potential.   
 
Purpose and Intent: 
This proposal is consistent with the intent of Article 25 as it relates to stormwater and 
erosion control best management practices. 
 
Not Unduly Injurious: 
Granting this variance will not be unduly injurious to the public or environmental 
welfare. A majority of this area is considered stable by the state of NH, and the 
necessary erosion control measures and grading practices have been used to ensure 
stormwater management is maintained. 
 
Unique Site Characteristics : 
As previously mentioned, the area that was permitted during the previous planning 
board approval did not take into account an area on-site to store and process the 
material associated with the pit excavation. Given there are eight periods and over 31 

114 of 176



Page 44 of 44 
 

 
150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 

(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 
 

acres of disturbance within the City of Keene and Town of Sullivan combined, the 
overall scale of this project makes it unique. 

 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Justin Daigneault 
Project Manager 

 

115 of 176



150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

GRANITE ENGINEERING, LLC 
civil engineering ● land planning ● municipal services 

 

 
 
 
 

Photo #1 
 

 
 

Existing Site Entrance from NH Route 9, Looking East 
December 12, 2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

116 of 176



Page 22 of 99 

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

 
 
 
 

 
Photo #2 

 

 
 
 

Existing Access Road from NH Route 9, Looking North 
December 12, 2024 

 

117 of 176



Page 33 of 99 

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

 
 
 
 

Photo #3 
 

 
 

Existing Woodland Buffer from NH Route 9, Looking West 
December 12, 2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 

118 of 176



Page 44 of 99 

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Photo #4 
 

 
 

Existing Material and Processing Area, Looking North  
December 12, 2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

119 of 176



Page 55 of 99 

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Photo #5 
 

 
Existing Material and Processing Area, Looking West 

December 12, 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

120 of 176



Page 66 of 99 

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

Photo #6 
 
 

 
 

 
Looking at Current Gravel Operation 

August 3, 2024 
 

 
 

 

121 of 176



Page 77 of 99 

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

Photo #7 
 

 
 

 
 

Looking Uphill at Period 1 from Current Landing Area Previously Permitted 
August 3, 2024 

 
 
 
 

122 of 176



Page 88 of 99 

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

Photo #8 

 
 
 

Current Landing Area – 2023 (Area Since Stabilized) 
August 3, 2024 

 
 
 
 
 

 

123 of 176



Page 99 of 99 

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

Photo #9 
 

 
 
 

Looking at Existing Logging Road 
August 3, 2024 

 
 

124 of 176



TABLE OF CONTENTS GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

SHEET NO.

N

N

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

GRAVEL AND EARTH REMOVAL PLAN

G2 HOLDINGS, LLC
KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 &  8

SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1
57 ROUTE 9

KEENE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
CHESHIRE COUNTY CIVIL ENGINEER:

SURVEYOR:

WETLAND SCIENTIST:

OWNER & APPLICANT:

SOIL SCIENTIST:

HYDROGEOLOGIST:

REVISIONS

No. DATE COMMENTS BY

STAMP:

P
:
\
3
\
2
3
0
2
0
1
1
\
d
w
g
\
P
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 
P
la
n
s
\
2
3
0
2
0
1
1
-
D
E
T
A
IL
S
.d
w
g
, 
C
O
V
E
R
, 
1
/
2
9
/
2
0
2
5
 
4
:
4
0
:
1
0
 
P
M
, 
ju
s
ti
n
d
, 
D
W
G
 
T
o
 
P
D
F
.p
c
3
, 
A
N
S
I 
fu
ll
 
b
le
e
d
 
D
 
(2
2
.0
0
 
x
 
3
4
.0
0
 
In
c
h
e
s
),
 
1
:
1

125 of 176



SULLIVAN
KEENE

ROXBURY
KEENE

PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
A

TE
C

O
M

M
EN

TS
B

Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
ER

/A
PP

LI
C

A
N

T:

OVERVIEW PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
SI

TE
.d

w
g,

 1
/3

0/
20

25
 3

:3
2:

55
 P

M
, D

W
G 

To
 P

DF
.p

c3
,

1:
1

126 of 176



HHH

H
H

HHH

H

GR
ID

0' 200' 400' 600'

127 of 176



H

H

H

GR
ID

0' 50' 100' 150'

128 of 176



PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
A

TE
C

O
M

M
EN

TS
B

Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
ER

/A
PP

LI
C

A
N

T:

CONTEXT PLAN

P
:
\
3
\
2
3
0
2
0
1
1
\
d
w
g
\
P
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 
P
la
n
s
\
2
3
0
2
0
1
1
-
C
O
N
T
E
X
T
 
P
L
A
N
.d
w
g
, 
C
O
N
T
E
X
T
 
P
L
A
N
, 
1
/
2
9
/
2
0
2
5
 
4
:
5
2
:
2
5
 
P
M
, 
ju
s
ti
n
d
, 
D
W
G
 
T
o
 
P
D
F
.p
c
3
, 
A
N
S
I 
fu
ll
 
b
le
e
d
 
D
 
(3
4
.0
0
 
x
 
2
2
.0
0
 
In
c
h
e
s
),
 
1
:
1

129 of 176



PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
A

TE
C

O
M

M
EN

TS
B

Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
ER

/A
PP

LI
C

A
N

T:

EXCAVATION,
DRAINAGE & EROSION

CONTROL PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
SI

TE
.d

w
g,

 1
/3

1/
20

25
 1

0:
43

:2
7 

AM
, D

W
G 

To
 P

DF
.p

c3
,

1:
1

130 of 176



PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
A

TE
C

O
M

M
EN

TS
B

Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
ER

/A
PP

LI
C

A
N

T:

EXCAVATION,
DRAINAGE & EROSION

CONTROL PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
SI

TE
.d

w
g,

 1
/3

1/
20

25
 1

0:
44

:0
3 

AM
, D

W
G 

To
 P

DF
.p

c3
,

1:
1

131 of 176



SULLIVAN
KEENE

PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
A

TE
C

O
M

M
EN

TS
B

Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
ER

/A
PP

LI
C

A
N

T:

EXCAVATION,
DRAINAGE & EROSION

CONTROL PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
SI

TE
.d

w
g,

 1
/3

1/
20

25
 1

0:
47

:3
1 

AM
, D

W
G 

To
 P

DF
.p

c3
,

1:
1

132 of 176



SULLIVAN
KEENE

PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
A

TE
C

O
M

M
EN

TS
B

Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
ER

/A
PP

LI
C

A
N

T:

EXCAVATION,
DRAINAGE & EROSION

CONTROL PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
SI

TE
.d

w
g,

 1
/3

1/
20

25
 1

0:
48

:0
3 

AM
, D

W
G 

To
 P

DF
.p

c3
,

1:
1

133 of 176



SULLIVAN
KEENE

PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
A

TE
C

O
M

M
EN

TS
B

Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
ER

/A
PP

LI
C

A
N

T:

EXCAVATION,
DRAINAGE & EROSION

CONTROL PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
SI

TE
.d

w
g,

 1
/3

1/
20

25
 1

0:
49

:1
2 

AM
, D

W
G 

To
 P

DF
.p

c3
,

1:
1

134 of 176



PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
A

TE
C

O
M

M
EN

TS
B

Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
ER

/A
PP

LI
C

A
N

T:

EXCAVATION,
DRAINAGE & EROSION

CONTROL PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
SI

TE
.d

w
g,

 1
/3

1/
20

25
 1

0:
49

:4
8 

AM
, D

W
G 

To
 P

DF
.p

c3
,

1:
1

135 of 176



PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
A

TE
C

O
M

M
EN

TS
B

Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
ER

/A
PP

LI
C

A
N

T:

IMPACT CONTROL &
MONITORING PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
IC

&
M

 P
LA

N
.d

w
g,

 IC
&

M
 P

LA
N

 1
0,

 2
/3

/2
02

5 
8:

23
:2

2 
AM

, j
us

tin
d,

 D
W

G 
To

 P
DF

.p
c3

, A
N

SI
 fu

ll 
bl

ee
d 

D 
(3

4.
00

 x
 2

2.
00

 In
ch

es
), 

1:
1

136 of 176



PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
A

TE
C

O
M

M
EN

TS
B

Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
ER

/A
PP

LI
C

A
N

T:

IMPACT CONTROL &
MONITORING PLAN

“ ”

“ ”

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
IC

&
M

 P
LA

N
.d

w
g,

 1
/3

1/
20

25
 1

0:
21

:0
9 

AM
, D

W
G 

To
 P

DF
.p

c3
,

1:
1

137 of 176



SULLIVAN
KEENE

PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
A

TE
C

O
M

M
EN

TS
B

Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
ER

/A
PP

LI
C

A
N

T:

IMPACT CONTROL &
MONITORING PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
IC

&
M

 P
LA

N
.d

w
g,

 IC
&

M
 P

LA
N

 1
2,

 2
/3

/2
02

5 
8:

25
:1

7 
AM

, j
us

tin
d,

 D
W

G 
To

 P
DF

.p
c3

, A
N

SI
 fu

ll 
bl

ee
d 

D 
(3

4.
00

 x
 2

2.
00

 In
ch

es
), 

1:
1

138 of 176



SULLIVAN
KEENE

PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
A

TE
C

O
M

M
EN

TS
B

Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
ER

/A
PP

LI
C

A
N

T:

IMPACT CONTROL &
MONITORING PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
IC

&
M

 P
LA

N
.d

w
g,

 IC
&

M
 P

LA
N

 1
3,

 2
/3

/2
02

5 
8:

27
:3

7 
AM

, j
us

tin
d,

 D
W

G 
To

 P
DF

.p
c3

, A
N

SI
 fu

ll 
bl

ee
d 

D 
(3

4.
00

 x
 2

2.
00

 In
ch

es
), 

1:
1

139 of 176



SULLIVAN
KEENE

PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
A

TE
C

O
M

M
EN

TS
B

Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
ER

/A
PP

LI
C

A
N

T:

IMPACT CONTROL &
MONITORING PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
IC

&
M

 P
LA

N
.d

w
g,

 IC
&

M
 P

LA
N

 1
4,

 2
/3

/2
02

5 
8:

29
:4

4 
AM

, j
us

tin
d,

 D
W

G 
To

 P
DF

.p
c3

, A
N

SI
 fu

ll 
bl

ee
d 

D 
(3

4.
00

 x
 2

2.
00

 In
ch

es
), 

1:
1

140 of 176



PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
A

TE
C

O
M

M
EN

TS
B

Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
ER

/A
PP

LI
C

A
N

T:

IMPACT CONTROL &
MONITORING PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
IC

&
M

 P
LA

N
.d

w
g,

 IC
&

M
 P

LA
N

 1
5,

 2
/3

/2
02

5 
8:

10
:5

6 
AM

, j
us

tin
d,

 D
W

G 
To

 P
DF

.p
c3

, A
N

SI
 fu

ll 
bl

ee
d 

D 
(3

4.
00

 x
 2

2.
00

 In
ch

es
), 

1:
1

141 of 176



PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
A

TE
C

O
M

M
EN

TS
B

Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
ER

/A
PP

LI
C

A
N

T:

RECLAMATION PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
RE

CL
AM

AT
IO

N
 P

LA
N

.d
w

g,
 R

EC
LA

M
AT

IO
N

 P
LA

N
, 1

/3
0/

20
25

 5
:4

6:
23

 P
M

, j
us

tin
d,

 D
W

G 
To

 P
DF

.p
c3

, A
N

SI
 fu

ll 
bl

ee
d 

D 
(3

4.
00

 x
 2

2.
00

 In
ch

es
), 

1:
1

142 of 176



SULLIVAN
KEENE

PROJECT No.

SHEET:

DATE:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
A

TE
C

O
M

M
EN

TS
B

Y

G
R
A
N
IT
E

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G

SCALE:

civ
il e

ng
in

ee
rin

g
la

nd
 p

la
nn

in
g

m
un

ici
pa

l s
er

vic
es

TITLE:

PROJECT:

GRANITE
ENGINEERING

www.GraniteEng.com

civil engineering ● land planning ●
municipal services

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421
Manchester,

New Hampshire 03101

603.518.8030

LOCATION:

STAMP:

GORDON SERVICES
KEENE

KEENE TAX MAP 215 LOTS 7 & 8
SULLIVAN TAX MAP 5 LOTS 46 & 46-1

57 ROUTE 9
KEENE & SULLIVAN, NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE COUNTY

O
W

N
ER

/A
PP

LI
C

A
N

T:

RECLAMATION PLAN

P:
\3

\2
30

20
11

\d
w

g\
Pr

od
uc

tio
n 

Pl
an

s\
23

02
01

1-
RE

CL
AM

AT
IO

N
 P

LA
N

.d
w

g,
 R

EC
LA

M
AT

IO
N

 P
LA

N
 (2

), 
1/

30
/2

02
5 

5:
44

:2
5 

PM
, j

us
tin

d,
 D

W
G 

To
 P

DF
.p

c3
, A

N
SI

 fu
ll 

bl
ee

d 
D 

(3
4.

00
 x

 2
2.

00
 In

ch
es

), 
1:

1

143 of 176



NHB DataCheck Results Letter  
NH Natural Heritage Bureau 
Please note: maps and NHB record pages are confidential and shall be redacted from public documents. 

NH Dept. of Natural & Cultural Resources 1 of 7 

Natural Heritage Bureau - Division of Forests and Lands 
nhbreview@dncr.nh.gov (603) 271- 2834  

To: Jeffrey Merritt, Granite Engineering, LLC 

150 Dow Street Suite 421 

Manchester, NH  03101 

jmerritt@graniteeng.com 

From: NHB Review 

NH Natural Heritage Bureau 

Main Contact: Ashley Litwinenko - nhbreview@dncr.nh.gov 

cc: NHFG Review 

Date: 02/06/2024 (valid until 02/06/2025) 

Re: DataCheck Review by NH Natural Heritage Bureau and NH Fish & Game 

Permits: MUNICIPAL POR - Keene, Sullivan, NHDES - Alteration of Terrain Permit, NHDES - Wetland Standard 

Dredge & Fill - Minor, USEPA - Stormwater Pollution Prevention 

NHB ID: NHB24-0314 
Town: Keene and Sullivan 

Location: Route 9 

Project Description: This project proposes the expansion of the existing gravel operations taking place on Keene 

Tax Map 215 Lot 7 along Route 9. The gravel operations will expand into Sullivan Tax Map 5 Lot 46 and consist of 8 

phases. Existing stream crossings along the access road that connects Keene lots 7 and 8, and Sullivan lots 46 and 46-

1 will be repaired and permitted. Stream crossing work will only take place on the northern portion of Keene Map 

215 Lot 8.  

This project is associated with 2 previously submitted NHBs, NHB#23-2849 and NHB#22-3432. 

Next Steps for Applicant: 
NHB’s database has been searched for records of rare species and exemplary natural communities. Please carefully 

read the comments and consultation requirements below. 

NHB Comments: No comments at this time. 

NHFG Comments: Please refer to NHFG consultation requirements below. 

NHB Consultation 

If this NHB DataCheck letter includes records of rare plants and/or natural communities/systems, please contact NHB 

and provide any requested supplementary materials by emailing nhbreview@dncr.nh.gov. 

144 of 176

mailto:nhbreview@dncr.nh.gov
mailto:nhbreview@dncr.nh.gov
mailto:nhbreview@dncr.nh.gov


NHB DataCheck Results Letter  
NH Natural Heritage Bureau 
Please note: maps and NHB record pages are confidential and shall be redacted from public documents. 
 

 

NH Dept. of Natural & Cultural Resources  2 of 7 

Natural Heritage Bureau - Division of Forests and Lands  
nhbreview@dncr.nh.gov (603) 271- 2834    

If this NHB DataCheck letter DOES NOT include any records of rare plants and/or natural communities/systems, no 

further consultation with NHB is required. 

 

NH Fish and Game Department Consultation 

If this NHB DataCheck letter DOES NOT include ANY wildlife species records, then, based on the information 

submitted, no further consultation with the NH Fish and Game Department pursuant to Fis 1004 is required. 

 

If this NHB DataCheck letter includes a record for a threatened (T) or endangered (E) wildlife species, consultation 

with the New Hampshire Fish and Game Department under Fis 1004 may be required. To review the Fis 1000 rules 

(effective February 3, 2022), please go to https://www.wildlife.nh.gov/wildlife-and-habitat/nongame-and-

endangered-species/environmental-review. All requests for consultation and submittals should be sent via email to 

NHFGreview@wildlife.nh.gov or can be sent by mail, and must include the NHB DataCheck results letter number 

and “Fis 1004 consultation request” in the subject line. 

 

If the NHB DataCheck response letter does not include a threatened or endangered wildlife species but includes other 

wildlife species (e.g., Species of Special Concern), consultation under Fis 1004 is not required; however, some species 

are protected under other state laws or rules, so coordination with NH Fish & Game is highly recommended or may 

be required for certain permits. While some permitting processes are exempt from required consultation under Fis 

1004 (e.g., statutory permit by notification, permit by rule, permit by notification, routine roadway registration, 

docking structure registration, or conditional authorization by rule), coordination with NH Fish & Game may still be 

required under the rules governing those specific permitting processes, and it is recommended you contact the 

applicable permitting agency. For projects not requiring consultation under Fis 1004, but where additional 

coordination with NH Fish and Game is requested, please email NHFGreview@wildlife.nh.gov, and include the NHB 

DataCheck results letter number and “review request” in the email subject line. 

Contact NH Fish & Game at (603) 271-0467 with questions. 

 

  

145 of 176

mailto:nhbreview@dncr.nh.gov
https://www.wildlife.nh.gov/wildlife-and-habitat/nongame-and-endangered-species/environmental-review
https://www.wildlife.nh.gov/wildlife-and-habitat/nongame-and-endangered-species/environmental-review
mailto:NHFGreview@wildlife.nh.gov
mailto:NHFGreview@wildlife.nh.gov


NHB DataCheck Results Letter  
NH Natural Heritage Bureau 
Please note: maps and NHB record pages are confidential and shall be redacted from public documents. 
 

 

NH Dept. of Natural & Cultural Resources  3 of 7 

Natural Heritage Bureau - Division of Forests and Lands  
nhbreview@dncr.nh.gov (603) 271- 2834    

 

NHB Database Records: 

The following record(s) have been documented in the vicinity of the proposed project. 

Please see the map and detailed information about the record(s) on the following pages. 

 

Vertebrate species State1 Federal Notes 

Wood Turtle (Glyptemys 

insculpta) 

SC -- Contact the NH Fish & Game Dept (see below). 

1Codes: "E" = Endangered, "T" = Threatened, “SC” = Special Concern, "--" = an exemplary natural community, or a rare species tracked by 
NH Natural Heritage that has not yet been added to the official state list. 

An asterisk (*) indicates that the most recent report for that occurrence was 20 or more years ago. 

 

For all animal reviews, refer to ‘IMPORTANT: NHFG Consultation’ section above.  
 

Disclaimer: NHB’s database can only tell you of known occurrences that have been reported to NHFG/NHB. Known occurrences 
are based on information gathered by qualified biologists or members of the public, reported to our offices, and verified by 
NHB/NHFG.  

However, many areas have never been surveyed, or have only been surveyed for certain species.  

NHB recommends surveys to determine what species/natural communities are present onsite. 

 

146 of 176

mailto:nhbreview@dncr.nh.gov


147 of 176



148 of 176



149 of 176



150 of 176



151 of 176



152 of 176



153 of 176



154 of 176



155 of 176



156 of 176



157 of 176



158 of 176



159 of 176



160 of 176



161 of 176



162 of 176



163 of 176



164 of 176



STORMWATER 
MANAGEMENT REPORT 

 

GRANITE ENGINEERING 

civil engineering ● land planning ● municipal services 

GORDON SERVICES - KEENE 

Keene: Map 215; Lots 7 & 8 

Sullivan: Map 5; Lots 46 & 46-1 

57 Route 9 

Keene & Sullivan, New Hampshire 

January 22, 2025 

 
PREPARED FOR: 

G2 HOLDINGS, LLC 
250 NORTH STREET 
JAFFREY, NH 03452 

 
PREPARED BY: 

GRANITE ENGINEERING, LLC 
150 DOW STREET, TOWER 2, SUITE 421 

MANCHESTER, NH 03101 
603.518.8030 

GE Project No. 23-0201-1 

165 of 176

justind
Image



 

  

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

I. INTRODUCTION 

A. Project Description 

The subject properties propose the expansion of an existing gravel and 
earth removal operation for G2 Holdings, LLC. The properties are located 
at 57 Route 9 in Keene and Sullivan, New Hampshire. The majority of the 
site is located within the Keene R (Rural) Zoning District. A proposed gravel 
road will be constructed to access various points on the site. Stormwater 
runoff will be managed through a series of sediment basins that connect to 
an existing infiltration pond.  

B. Existing Site Conditions 

Keene Tax Map 215 Lot 7 is approximately 78.4 acres in area. Keene Tax 
Map 215 Lot 8 is approximately 23.1 acres in area. Sullivan Tax Map 5 Lot 
46 is approximately 169.0 acres in area. Tax map 5 Lot 46-1 is 
approximately 28.1 acres in area. The total area of all four subject properties 
is therefore 298.6 acres in area. The property is currently developed with a 
gravel removal operation. There are wetlands on the properties to the north 
and east. There is an existing, previously permitted, stormwater basin 
located to the south of the property, closest to Route 9.  

According to the Site Specific Soil Survey, the predominant onsite soil types 
are Sunapee, Tunbridge Lyman Rock Outcrop, and Lyman.  

Please refer to sections three (3) and eight (8) of this stormwater report for 
project specific NRCS soils and SSSS report information. 

II. STORM DRAINAGE ANALYSIS & DESIGN  

A. Methodology 

The purpose of this analysis was to determine if the proposed sediment 
ponds could capture, detail, and release the stormwater flows through small, 
controlled, outlet pipes to both the existing infiltration area located currently 
on-site, as well as the proposed infiltration area to be completed during the 
final phase of the project (Period 8). 

In accordance with generally accepted engineering practice, the 50-year 
frequency storm has been used in the various aspects of analysis and 
design of stormwater management considerations for the subject site. 
Stormwater treatment provisions and all drainage facilities have been 
designed to be fully functional during a 50-year return frequency storm.   

166 of 176



 

  

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

In appreciation of the benefits and limitations related to each of the various 
methods available to design professionals for estimating peak stormwater 
discharge rates for use in analysis and design, the TR-20 computer model 
was used. Values for Time of Concentration used in the analysis were 
estimated using the methodology contained within USDA-S.C.S. publication 
Urban Hydrology for Small Watersheds Technical Release No. 55 (TR 55). 

All proposed stormwater inlet structures were designed to remain under 
inlet control throughout a design storm of the return frequency noted. Outlet 
protection for each discharging culvert was designed in accordance with the 
methodology for the “best management practice”, in accordance with a 
publication entitled New Hampshire Stormwater Manual Volume 2: Post-
Construction Best Management Practices Selection and Design. In addition, 
this publication served as the primary reference for the numerous temporary 
and permanent erosion control methods incorporated into the design of this 
project. 

All design and analysis calculations performed using the referenced 
methodologies are attached to this report. The minimum time of 
concentrations used for the analysis is 6 minutes. These calculations 
document each catchment area, a breakdown of surface type, time of 
concentration, rainfall intensity, peak discharge volume, Manning’s “n” value, 
peak velocity, and other descriptive design data for each watershed and 
pipe segment evaluated. In addition, the “Post Development Drainage Area 
Plans” graphically define and illustrate the extent of each watershed or 
catchment area investigated. 

B. Post-Development Drainage Conditions 

In order to evaluate the impact of the proposed development, one (1) Point 
of Analysis (POA) was analyzed to demonstrate that the peak rates of runoff 
would not increase from the site improvements. 

The primary POA, Link A, is located at the outlet of the existing stormwater 
basin, toward the southern end of the property, closest to Route 9.  

Stormwater from these areas is managed by multiple sediment 
basins/detention ponds around each work area. These detention ponds are 
represented in the HydroCAD model and are denoted as SF 5, SF6, SF7, 
and SF8. The intent of the grading of the pit areas, as well as the haul roads, 
was to keep the stormwater self contained, with no runoff during a 50-year, 
24-hour storm event. The proposed infiltration area was designed to use 
exfiltration though the native soils as its only means of outlet. Infiltration 
rates for the infiltration ponds were calculated by the default method as set 
forth in Env-Wq 1054.14. The practice is located in an area identified in the 

167 of 176



 

  

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

Soil Series Survey as Berkshire, Fine Sandy Loam Soils. Using Ksat values 
for New Hampshire Soils, Soil Scientists of Northern New England, Special 
Publications No. 5, September 2009, the lowest value associated with 
Berkshire soils is 0.6 inches per hour. Using a safety factor of 2, the 
infiltration rate utilized in the drainage analysis is 0.3 inches per hour.  

Test pit data performed by TF Moran was used to determine the floor 
elevation of the pond, keeping it above the estimated seasonal high water 
table.  

The results of the drainage analysis determined that the stormwater was 
infiltrated in its entirety during a 50-year, 24-hour storm event. This was 
done through capturing stormwater in large sediment basins with small, 
controlled outlet devices to release stormwater in a controlled manner and 
by directing stormwater to the infiltration area.  

For a more visual description of the information presented in this section, 
please refer to the attached “Post-Development Drainage Areas Plan” 
attached in the appendix of this report. 

All of these ponds provide adequate storage to offset the peak rates of 
runoff for the design storms. The detailed hydrologic and hydraulic 
relationship of each sub-catchment is described within the HydroCAD 
stormwater modeling, also contained in the appendix of this report. 

The peak stormwater runoff rate for the specific storm frequency is 
presented and analyzed in the subsequent summary section of this report, 
for the point of analysis (Table 1).  

C. Summary: 

TABLE 1: PEAK RUNOFF (ENV-WQ 1507.06) 

 

 

 

Site Post Development (Peak Discharge Rate in cfs) 

Description 50-Year 

24-hr Rainfall 5.86” 

 Post - Interim Post - Final 

A 0.00 0.00 

168 of 176



 

  

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

TABLE 2: PEAK STORMWATER POND ELEVATION 

 

 

III. EROSION & SEDIMENTATION CONTROL PROVISIONS 

A. Temporary Erosion Control Measures 

Temporary erosion and sediment control measures are indicated on the 
design plans, construction details, general notes and within the drainage 
report.   Although not integral with this stormwater report, due to the size of 
the proposed development both temporary and permanent erosion control 
measures will also be specified within the project’s Stormwater Pollution 
Prevention Plan (SWPPP).  All erosion control measures specified are 
designed to reduce or eliminate potential soil migration and water quality 
degradation, both during and after the construction period. 

The following temporary erosion control measures will be implemented; 

• Silt Fence and/or Silt Logs 

• Erosion Control Blankets on slopes 3:1 and steeper 

• Riprap Aprons & Spillway Stabilization 

• Turf Establishment  - Hydroseeding with mulch and tackifiers 

• Stone Check Dams  

• Temporary Sediment Basins 

These temporary erosion control measures are also discussed in the 
projects. Operation and Maintenance plan contained in the appendices of 
this report. 

In addition to the above-listed erosion control measures, references are 
made throughout the project documents to the New Hampshire Stormwater 
Manual; Volume 3: Erosion and Sediment Temporary Controls During 
Construction for additional measures, as necessary. 

 

Site Post Development (Peak Pond Elevation) 

Description 50-Year 

 Post - Interim Final 

Stormwater Basin Berm Elevation 874.00 854.00 

Peak 50-Year Storm Elevation 873.69 852.63 

169 of 176



 

  

150 Dow Street, Tower 2, Suite 421, Manchester, NH 03101 
(603) 518-8030 ● www.GraniteEng.com 

B. Construction Sequence 

A site-specific construction sequence sensitive to limiting soil loss due to 
erosion and associated water quality degradation was prepared specifically 
for this project and is shown on the project plans.  As pointed out in the 
erosion control notes, it is important for the contractor to recognize that 
proper judgment in the implementation of work will be essential if erosion is 
to be limited and protection of completed work is to be realized. Moreover, 
any specific changes in sequence and/or field conditions affecting the ability 
of specific erosion control measures to adequately serve their intended 
purpose should be reported to this office by the contractor. Furthermore, the 
contractor is encouraged to supplement specified erosion control measures 
during the construction period where and when in his/ her best judgment, 
additional protection is warranted. 

C. Permanent Erosion Control Measures 

Similar to temporary erosion control measures, all permanent erosion 
control measures are indicated on the design plans, construction details, 
general notes, drainage report, SWPPP and O & M project documents.    

The following permanent erosion control measures will be implemented; 

• Stone-lined ditches 

• Inlet & Outlet Protection - Riprap Stabilization 

• Stormwater Basins with multi-stage outlets 

• Turf Establishment  - Hydroseeding with mulch and tackifiers  

Each of the above-mentioned permanent erosion control measures are 
designed in a project-specific manner within both state and local regulatory 
compliance standards. 

  

170 of 176



 

 
TFMoran, Inc. MSC a division of TFMoran, Inc. 
48 Constitution Drive, Bedford, NH 03110 170 Commerce Way – Suite 102, Portsmouth, NH 03801 
T (603) 472-4488  F (603) 472-9747  www.tfmoran.com T (603) 431-2222  F (603) 431-0910  www.mscengineers.com 
 

 
TRAFFIC MEMORANDUM 

 
Date: February 18, 2022 
 
To: City of Keene 
 3 Washington Street 
 Keene, NH 03431  
 
From: Robert Duval, PE 
 
Re: Proposed Gravel Pit 
 Route 9, Keene, NH 
 TFM Project No. 82549-00 
  
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
TFMoran has prepared this traffic memo on behalf of G2 Holdings, LLC to describe trip 
generation and the existing roadway network associated with a proposed gravel pit in Keene, 
NH.  The site (Map 215 Lot 7) is located within the Rural Zoning District on the north side of 
Franklin Pierce Highway (NH 9).   
 
The parcel currently has a gravel access drive into a small clearing.  G2 Holdings, LLC is 
currently using the clearing as a laydown area for their landscape and sitework business. The 
remaining site consists of woods, steep slopes, and wetlands.  
 
PROPOSAL 
 
G2 Holdings, LLC is proposing to construct and operate a 10 +/- acre gravel pit located on The 
initial phase of the operation will be approximately 5 acres. The gravel driveway will be widened 
and brush trimmed as necessary to accommodate two-way traffic with adequate sight distance 
in both directions to support the operation.  
 
 
DESCRIPTION OF ROADWAYS AND INTERSECTIONS 
 
Franklin Pierce Highway (NH 9) 

 Classification.  Franklin Pierce Highway is a State-maintained principal arterial that provides 
east-west travel across the state from Vermont to Maine.    

 Lane widths and usage. In the project vicinity, the roadway provides one 12’ travel lane in 
each direction, with 7-8’ paved shoulders.   

 Pedestrian facilities. There are no sidewalks in the study area.   
 Signage and markings.  The posted speed limit is 55 mph. Adjacent to the existing driveway 

is an intersection warning sign.  The road has white shoulder markings on both sides. An 

171 of 176

cchiaramonte
Stamp



Traffic Memo re: Proposed Gravel Pit  February 18, 2022 
Franklin Pierce Highway (NH 9), Keene, NH  Page 2 of 3 

eastbound passing zone begins about 300’ to the west and extends about 600’ east of the 
driveway, followed by a two-way passing zone.   

 Lighting. No roadway lighting is provided in the study area. 
 Sight Distance: The existing driveway is located on a straight segment of Franklin Pierce 

Highway with a gentle curve right approximately 250’ west of the site and remains straight 
approximately 2,000’ to the east. The alignment is relatively flat and provides sufficient sight 
distance in both directions.  

 Road conditions. The roadway has moderate grade change, open drainage, and normal 
crown. The pavement is in good condition with minimal to no cracking, little or no ruts, soft 
spots, potholes, or other structural defects evident.  

 There are minimal other developments in the area. Adjacent uses and driveways consist of: 
o Approximately 350’ to the west on the opposite side of the road is the entrance to 

Otter Brook Beach State Park. No other driveways are present until Sullivan Road, 
approximately 4,350’ from the existing site driveway.  

o Approximately 2100’ to the east is a driveway to small commercial home/office 
development.  Another 1500’ east of the office development is the entrance to 
Granite Gorge Ski Area.  

 There are no other intersections in the study area.  
 
TRIP GENERATION 
 

Trip generation was calculated based on the applicant’s anticipated pit operation schedule. Site 
operations will be 7am-5pm Monday through Friday, with Saturday operations 7am-12pm. The 
site will be occupied by 3 employees.  All employees will arrive prior to AM peak hours (7-9am) 
and leave during PM peak hours (4-6pm). 
 
Trucking operations are expected at 40 trucks per day or less, with arrivals on average at fifteen 
minute intervals. While one truck is arriving, the previous will be leaving.  The last load out will 
typically leave around 330pm (1130am on Saturday).  Employees will leave after site cleanup 
and equipment shutdown.  
 

 Employee & Truck Schedule 

Time 
Employee 

In 
Employee 

Out Truck In Truck Out Total Trips
Before 7 AM 3 3
7 AM – 8 AM  4 3 7
8 AM – 9:AM  4 4 8
9 AM – 10 AM  4 4 8

10 AM – 11 AM  4 4 8
11 AM – 12 PM  4 4 8
12 PM – 1 PM  4 4 8
1 PM – 2 PM  4 4 8
2 PM – 3 PM  4 4 8
3 PM – 4 PM  2 3 5
After 4 PM   3 3

Total Peak Hour Trips (Adjacent Street) Trips In Trips Out Total Trips
Weekday AM (7-9am) 4 4 8 
Weekday PM (4-6pm) 0 3 3 

SAT (11am-1pm) 2 3 5 
 

172 of 176



Traffic Memo re: Proposed Gravel Pit  February 18, 2022 
Franklin Pierce Highway (NH 9), Keene, NH  Page 3 of 3 

CONCLUSION 
 
Based on the minimal scale of operations described above, traffic impacts associated with the 
project will be negligible.  The traffic from this development will add 8 trips or less during all 
peak hours.  Total weekday trips are expected to be on the order of 80 to 90 trips per day (40 - 
50 on a Saturday).  Most of these trips occur outside peak travel times.  
 
The AADT of NH 9 in 2019 was 9,707 vehicles.  Thus the percentage increase is less than 1%, 
with typically 15 minutes between successive arrivals and departures.  The roadway alignment 
and wide shoulders will facilitate safe access and egress from the site.   
 
We therefore find the traffic associated with this proposal can be safely accommodated by the 
adjacent roadway without need for improvements.   Please let me know if you have any 
questions in regard to these items.  
 
 
TFMORAN, INC. 

 
Robert Duval, PE 
Chief Engineer 

173 of 176



  

!Ȁ"$Ȁ" "# Ā

Ā
Ā  

!%,'")$Ā
 -)#,&*)"'Ā
Ȁ++%++(%),Ā
WETLAND AREA 1 
G2 HOLDINGS, LLC   
Map 215, Lot 7 
KEENE, NH  

"'%&Ā#( Ā"'%&ȀĀ!$#Ā
%/(.&/('Ā)-/ Ā#/&,+0(Ā",*+,((/+,*ȀĀ$$!Ā

174 of 176



  
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION   

1.1 ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

Ecosystems Land Planning was commissioned by Granite Engineering to provide this 
Functions and Values Assessment of Wetland Area 1, to support a request of a waiver to 
Article 25.3.1.D – Surface Water Resource Setback. Wetland boundaries were originally 
delineated by Chris Danforth, CWS # 077, in August of 2022, and confirmed on-site by 
John St. John CWS #222 in July of 2024. This work is based upon information gathered in 
August of 2024 and in January of 2025. 
 
1.2 TERMS 

Wetland functions and values refer to the roles and importance of a wetland, determined 
by its characteristics and surrounding watershed. Functions are inherent to the wetland 
ecosystem, while values are based on its significance to society.  
 
2.0 ASSESSMENT PROCEDURES 

 
The "The Highway Methodology Workbook Supplement: Wetland Functions and Values - 
A Descriptive Approach" by the US Army Corps of Engineers New England District in 
September 1999, referred to here as "The Highway Method," was used to assess wetland 
functions and values of Wetland Area 1, on the above referenced parcel. This method 
uses qualitative characteristics to determine if a wetland is suitable for specific functions 
and values. A set list of considerations from The Highway Methodology guided the 
evaluation process.  
 
Functions and values are designated as “Suitable” if they exhibit some of the qualifying 
characteristics listed in the method. However, a wetland may be deemed “Not Suitable” 
the if wetland  shows only a few or weak qualifiers of the function or value.  
 
Functions and values are designated as “Principal” if they are crucial to a wetland 
ecosystem or hold special societal value. The decision on principal functions or values 
was made using professional judgment without numerical weightings, rankings, or 
averaging to avoid bias. The Highway Method evaluates 13 of the 14 functions and values 
required to be assessed by New Hampshire State Law RSA 482A:2. The considerations for 
assessing each potential function or value are detailed in an excerpt from the “The 
Highway Methodology Workbook Supplement”. 
 
For determinations regarding “Ecological Integrity”, as required by RSA 482-A:2, XI:, the 
“Method for Inventorying and Evaluating Freshwater Wetlands In New Hampshire” (NH 
Method) was used. See www.nhmethod.org. for additional details.  
 
Please note: the NH Method establishes numerical values only. And, does not ascribe 
terms such as “Suitable” or “Principle” to wetland functions  and values. 
 

175 of 176



  
 

 
2.1 GENERAL SITE DESCRIPTION 

Most of the surrounding area consists of upland soils such as Berkshire and Dixfield 
Fine Sand Loams. These soils are well-drained, with slopes between 0-25%.  

Wetland Area 1 has shallow, poorly drained soils which range from 0-15% slopes. 
Wetland Hydrology is derived from hillslope seepage at the northern end of the valley. 
Soils are generally saturated due to a restrictive layer near the surface. Surface water 
and saturation generally decreases from north to south, infiltrating deep 
underground, causing conditions to revert to upland before reaching the access road 
to the south.  

The primary tree species in the wetland area consist of eastern Hemlock, Red Maple, 
and Beech. The shrub/sapling layer includes Red Maple, Eastern Hemlock, and Beech. 
The dominant herbaceous vegetation consists of Sensitive Fern in most areas, with a 
small patch of Cattail in the northernmost area. 

2.2 FUNCTIONS AND VALUES ASSESSMENT 

Overall, this wetland got low scores in most of the wetland functions and values criteria. As 
a small, isolated hill side seepage wetland, that is located at the bottom of a steep ravine, 
that is partially surrounded by a berm, that is to be expected. The surrounding land use 
and altered topology further reduces the value of this wetland to wildlife as habitat and 
restricts human access.  
 
The highest scores for this wetland were associated with Groundwater Recharge and 
Ecological Integrity. These scores are due primarily due to the lack of encroachment and 
despoliation within the wetland boundary.  
 
This wetland also exhibits weak characteristics normally attributed for the function of 
“Sediment Trapping”. However, the existing contours of the land greatly (intentionally) 
restricts surface water flow into this wetland. And the high permeability of surrounding 
area all but eliminates the possibility this wetland would receive sediment laden surface 
water necessary for this function to occur. 
 
Detailed characteristics and analysis of this wetland relative to the 14 functions and values 
listed in RSA 482:A are detailed in the Functions and Values Assessment Form, below.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

176 of 176


	2025_02_24_pb_agenda_UPDATED
	2025_01_27_PB_Minutes_ED Edits
	February_Final Approval Recommendations Memo
	Cedarcrest Solar_Advice & Comment Request
	Cedarcrest Solar Plan_REDUCED
	Bank of America_Packet with Staff Report
	SPR-593, Mod. 2_Staff Report
	Application_Received 10-31-2024
	Project Narrative_REVISED_Rec. 02-10-25
	Exterior Lighting Plans_REVISED_Rec. 02-10-25_REDUCED
	THE EDGE Lighting cut sheet_Received 10-31-24
	WDGE2 LED Lighting cut sheet_Received 10-31-24
	ZR Series cut sheet_Received 10-31-24

	238-260 Main St_Packet with Staff Report
	PB-2025-01_Staff Report
	238-260 Main St_Packet WITHOUT Staff Report
	Application_Received 1-10-25
	Project Narrative_REVISED_Rec. 02-06-25
	Subdivision Plans_REVISED_REDUCED_Rec. 02-12-25


	36 Elliot St_Packet with Staff Report
	PB-2025-02_Staff Report
	Application_Received 1-17-25
	Narrative_REVISED_Rec. 02-11-25
	Proposed Conditions Plan_REVISED_Rec. 02-12-25_REDUCED

	0 Black Brook Road_Packet with Staff Report
	0 Black Brook Road_Packet with Staff Report
	PB-2025-03_Staff Report
	0 Black Brook Road_Packet WITHOUT Staff Report
	Application_Rec. 01-17-25
	Narrative_Received 1-17-25
	Stormwater Report_REVISED_Received 2-10-25
	Waiver Requests_Received 1-17-25



	PB-2024-20_Completeness Memo
	Gravel Pit_Consultant Completeness Memo
	57 & 21 Route 9 Packet_LONG VERSION
	Earth Excavation Application_REVISED_Rec. 02-03-25
	Hillside Protection CUP Application_Received 12-19-24
	Narrative & Waiver Requests_REVISED_Rec. 02-03-25
	Existing Conditions Photos_Received 12-19-24
	Plan Set_REVISED_REDUCED_Rec. 02-03-25
	NHB Report_Received 12-19-24
	Pages from Acid Mine Drainage Potential Report_Rec. 12-19-24
	Pages from Hydrogeologic Investigation Report_Received 12-19-24
	Pages from Stormwater Management Report_Rec. 02-03-25
	Traffic Memo_Received 03-18-22 (taken from EXP-01-22)
	Wetland Functional Assessment_Rec. 02-03-25


	LED Count 4: 
	Voltage 4: 
	Color Options 4: 
	Drive Current 4: 
	Options : 
	Optic 3: 
	Notes: 
	Optic 4: 
	LED Count 5: 
	Text Field 1: 
	Text Field 2: 
	Text Field 11: 
	Text Field 12: 
	Text Field 13: 
	Text Field 14: 
	Text Field 15: 
	Text Field 17: 
	Text Field 23: 
	Text Field 24: 
	Text Field 5: 
	Text Field 4: 
	Text Field 3: 
	Text Field 7: 
	Text Field 9: 
	Text Field 16: 
	Text Field 18: 
	Text Field 19: 


